# UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

# FORM 10-K

(Ma		

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024 TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 For the transition period from Commission File Number: 001-35988 Vislink Technologies, Inc. (Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter) 20-5856795 Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of (I.R.S. Employer incorporation or organization) Identification No.) 350 Clark Drive, Suite 125, Mt. Olive, NJ 07828 (Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code) (Registrant's telephone number, including area code): (908) 852-3700 Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: None Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act <sup>1</sup> Title of each class: Trading Symbol(s) Name of each exchange on which registered OTCOB Venture Market Common Stock, \$0.00001 par value per share Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Act. Yes D No 🗵 Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes  $\square$  No  $\boxtimes$ Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter periods that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes 🗵 No 🗆 Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically on its corporate Website, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for a such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes 🗵 No 🗆 Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of the registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.  $\square$ Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large, accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company," and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect the correction of an error to previously issued financial statements.  $\square$ Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by any of the registrant's executive officers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to §240.10D-1(b).  $\Box$ Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer □ Non-accelerated filer ⊠ Smaller reporting company ⊠ Emerging growth company □ If an emerging growth company, indicate by a check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period to comply with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act). Yes  $\square$  No  $\boxtimes$ 

As of June 30, 2024, the last business day of the registrant's most recently completed second fiscal quarter, the aggregate market value of the common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant was approximately \$10.7 million based on the closing price of \$4.35 for the registrant's common stock as quoted on the Nasdaq Capital Market on that date. Shares of common stock held by each director, each officer, and each person who owns 10% or more of the outstanding common stock have been excluded from this calculation in that such persons may be

The registrant had 2,467,618 shares of its common stock outstanding as of April 30, 2025.

deemed affiliates. The determination of affiliate status is not necessarily conclusive.

Documents Incorporated by Reference


# VISLINK TECHNOLOGIES, INC. FORM 10-K ANNUAL REPORT

# For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2024

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page_
PART I		
Item 1.	Business	4
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	15
Item 1B.	Unresolved Staff Comments	27
Item 1C.	Cybersecurity	27
Item 2.	Properties	29
Item 3.	<u>Legal Proceedings</u>	29
Item 4.	Mine Safety Disclosures	29
PART II		
Item 5.	Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities	30
Item 6.	Reserved	30
Item 7.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of Operations	31
Item 7A.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	38
Item 8.	Financial Statements and Supplementary Data	38
Item 9.	Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure	38
Item 9A.	Controls and Procedures	39
Item 9B.	Other Information	39
Item 9C.	Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections	39
PART III		
Item 10.	Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance	40
Item 11.	Executive Compensation	40
Item 12.	Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters	40
Item 13.	Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence	40
Item 14.	Principal Accountant Fees and Services	40
PART IV		
Item 15.	Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules	41
SIGNATURES		43
FINANCIAL STAT	<u>FEMENTS</u>	F-1
	2	

### FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (including the section regarding Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations) (this "Report" or this "Annual Report") contains forward-looking statements regarding the business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects of Vislink Technologies, Inc. Words such as "expects," "anticipates," "intends," "plans," "believes," "seeks," "estimates," and similar words and phrases are intended to identify forward-looking statements. However, this report does not include an all-inclusive list of words or phrases identifying forward-looking statements. Also, all information concerning future matters is forward-looking statements.

Although forward-looking statements in this Report reflect our management's good faith judgment, such information can only be based on facts and circumstances currently known by us. Forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks and uncertainties, and actual results and outcomes may differ materially from those discussed or anticipated by the forward-looking statements. Without limitation, factors that could cause or contribute to such differences in results and outcomes include those discussed elsewhere in this Report.

We undertake no obligation to revise or update any forward-looking statements to reflect any event or circumstance that may arise after the date of this Report. We urge you to carefully review and consider all the disclosures made in this Report.

References to Vislink in this report, unless otherwise stated or the context otherwise requires, reference to "VISL," "Vislink," "the Company," "we," "us," "our," and similar references refer to Vislink Technologies, Inc., a Delaware corporation and its subsidiaries.

### Risk Factor Summary

The following summarizes certain factors that may make our company's investment speculative or risky. You should carefully consider the entire risk factor disclosure outlined in this Annual Report and the other information herein, including the "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" section and our financial statements and related notes.

- We have incurred losses in the past and may be unable to achieve or sustain profitability in the future.
- We may require additional capital to fund our operations, develop, market, and commercialize new products, and expand our operations. If we do not obtain additional financing, our business prospects, financial condition, and results of operations will be adversely affected.
- Our global operations expose us to risks associated with public health crises or pandemic outbreaks. These crises could disrupt our operations and adversely affect our financial condition and operating results.
- Our industry is highly competitive, and we may need to compete more effectively.
- Defects or errors in our products or those of our suppliers could harm our brand and customer relationships, expose us to liability, and result in significant expenses or decreased demand.
- We have identified material weaknesses in our internal controls and procedures over financial reporting. Additional weaknesses may arise, causing us to fail to meet our reporting obligations or result in material misstatements.
- We rely extensively on information technology systems and face cybersecurity risks, including potential data breaches and service disruptions.
- We rely on key executive officers, and their knowledge of our business and technical expertise would be difficult to replace.
- We purchase components, subassemblies, and products from a limited number of suppliers. The loss of these suppliers could disrupt our ability to fulfill orders and negatively affect operations.
- Our intellectual property protections may be insufficient to safeguard our technology, and we may face infringement claims or challenges enforcing our IP rights, especially abroad.
- . The intellectual property rights of others may prevent us from developing new products or entering new markets, potentially harming our competitive position.
- Failure of our technology to perform as planned or our inability to develop and sell new products could adversely affect our business and operating results.
- Demand for our defense-related and emergency response products depends on government spending, which may be volatile.
- Regulation of the telecommunications industry, including changes in standards or laws, may result in unanticipated costs or burdens, negatively affecting our business.
- Rapid technological changes require substantial investments in new products, services, and technologies to remain competitive. Failure to innovate may harm our business.
- At several annual stockholder meetings, we failed to obtain ratification for proposals, raising potential issues with our stockholder-approved actions.
- Our failure to meet Nasdaq's or OTC Markets' continued listing requirements could result in our common stock's delisting, negatively impacting its market price, liquidity, and ability to access capital markets.
- Unstable market and economic conditions may adversely affect our financial condition, operations, and share price.
- Compliance with environmental, health, and safety laws and regulations may increase costs, limit supply chain flexibility, and necessitate product design changes.
- Governmental regulations affecting product imports, exports, or encryption capabilities could reduce revenue and impose compliance challenges.
- We recently moved the trading of our common stock from listing with The Nasdaq Stock Market to quoting with the OTC Markets Group. In the future, we may move the quotation of our common stock to a lower tier of the OTC Markets Group or remove it entirely from the quotation.
- Various cost-cutting measures we have implemented and may implement in the future could unintentionally impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

## Trademarks and Tradenames

The Vislink logo and other trademarks of Vislink appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are the property of Vislink. All other trademarks, service marks and trade names in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are the property of their respective owners. Solely for convenience, trademarks and trade names referred to in this report may appear without the ® or TM symbols.

### PART I

#### Item 1. Business

#### Overview

Vislink Technologies, Inc., is a global technology business that collects, delivers, and manages high-quality, live video and associated data from the action scene to the viewing screen. We provide RF and 5G solutions for collecting live news, sports, entertainment, and news events for the broadcast, surveillance, and defense markets with real-time video intelligence using a range of transmission products. Our team also provides professional and technical services utilizing a staff of technology experts with decades of applied knowledge and real-world experience in terrestrial microwave, fiber optic, surveillance, and wireless communications systems, delivering a broad spectrum of customer solutions.

## Live Broadcast:

We deliver an extensive portfolio of solutions for live news, sports, and entertainment industries. These solutions include video collection, transmission, management, and distribution via RF, cellular, IP (Internet Protocol), MESH, and bonded cellular/5G networks. We also provide solutions utilizing AI (Artificial Intelligence) technologies to provide automated news and sporting events coverage. With over 50 years in operation, we have the expertise and technology portfolio to deliver fully integrated, seamless, end-to-end solutions encompassing hardware components, hosted systems management platforms, related software licenses, and ancillary support services.

Industry-wide contributors acknowledge our live broadcast solutions. Our equipment transmits most outside wireless broadcast video content, with over 200,000 systems installed worldwide. We work closely with the majority of the world's broadcasters. Our wireless cameras and ultra-compact encoders help bring many of the world's most prestigious sporting and entertainment events to life. Examples include globally watched international sporting contests, award shows, racing events, and annual music and cultural events.

#### Military and Government:

We have developed high-quality RF and 5G solutions to meet surveillance and defense markets' operational and industry challenges based on our knowledge of live video delivery. Our solutions are designed explicitly with interagency cooperation, utilizing the internationally recognized IP platform and a web interface for video delivery. We provide comprehensive video, audio, and data communications solutions to law enforcement and the public safety community, including Airborne, Uncrewed Systems, Maritime, and Tactical Mobile Command Posts. These solutions may include:

- integrated suites of airborne downlink transmitters, receivers, and antenna systems
- · data and video connectivity for airborne, marine, and ground assets
- UAV video distribution
- flexible support for RF and bonded cellular/5G Networks
- terrestrial point-to-point
- tactical mobile command
- IP-based, high-end encryption, full-duplex, real-time connectivity at extended operating ranges
- high-throughput air/marine/ground-to-anywhere uplink and downlink systems
- secure live streaming platforms for use in mobile and fixed assets
- personal portable products

Our public safety and surveillance solutions are deployed worldwide, including throughout the U.S., Europe, and the Middle East, at the local, regional, and federal levels of operation for criminal investigation, crisis management, mobile command posts, and field operations. These solutions are designed to meet the demands of ground operations, command centers, and central receiving sites. Short-range and long-range solutions are available in areas including established infrastructure and exceptionally remote regions, making valuable video intelligence available regardless of location.

#### Connected Edge Solutions:

Vislink offers hardware and software solutions to acquire, produce, contribute to, and deliver video across all private and public networks. Connected edge solutions aid the video transport concept of ubiquitous IP networks and cloud-scale computing across 5G, WiFi6, Mesh, and COFDM-enabled networks. These solutions include:

- · live video encoding, stream adaptation, decoding, and production solutions
- remote production workflows
- wireless cameras
- · AI-driven automated production and
- · the ability to contribute video over
  - o bonded cellular (3G, 4G, 5G)
  - o satellite
  - fiber
  - o emerging networks, including Starlink

#### Our Strategy

Our participation in the Live Production and Mil/Gov sectors allows us to offer various end-to-end, high-reliability, high-data-rate, long-range wireless video transmission solutions.

We offer our solutions for applications in growing market segments, including in-game sports, mobile video feeds, real-time capture and display footage from drones and other aerial platforms, and rapid response electronic newsgathering operations.

Vislink provides an industry-leading portfolio of live video acquisition, contribution, and distribution solutions that meet the demanding needs of media, enterprise, defense, and government organizations. Our customers can benefit from the ability to address the most transformative trends in today's live video market, such as:

- live internet video traffic continues to surge, making up 82.5% of global internet traffic in 2023. Nearly 30% of internet users watch live streams weekly, and live video is projected to account for 25% of total traffic in 2025
- the acceleration toward cloud-based remote production
- the increasing demand for enhanced video content formats such as 4K, 8K, and 360-degree video
- the proliferation of new video transport capable networks such as 5G and Starlink

Our offerings serve most of these transformative live video trends and economically bring high-quality live production to previously challenging events, including amateur and semi-pro sports. Vislink continues to seek to take advantage of new technologies such as 5G and other new networks and machine learning, which we believe are revolutionizing how video is generated and transported.

Since our acquisition of the assets of Broadcast Microwave Services, LLC. ("BMS") in September 2023, we have expanded our product offerings in the Airborne Video Downlink Systems (AVDS) market. This has enhanced the reach of product offerings to our customers as follows:

- · provided us with a long-standing customer base in U.S federal sectors, global OEMs, and EMEA markets
- made Vislink the de facto leader in the COFDM/Mesh/5G-Based AVDS
- access to advanced, reliable, and robust video downlink solutions to drive additional software and services recurring revenue via the air-to-anywhere platform
- positioned us in the growing drone command and control market
- provided a one-stop solution for live video communications needs, using proprietary RF, bonded cellular, 5G, and AI-driven technologies for public safety, air-to-ground video distribution, streamlining operational processes, and enhancing efficiency
- provided a more responsive and globally accessible support network, ensuring that customers remain connected with their audiences, teams, and operations
- provided new opportunities for our customers to access a more comprehensive array of cutting-edge solutions

#### Market

Our services and product offerings broadly address Live Production and Mil/Gov.

We also have identified the e-sports live-streaming applications markets within the sports and entertainment market as those where our solutions have applicability. The live production market is focused on applying more agile wireless video systems for live production and broadcasting sports, entertainment, and news events. Drivers in this market include small, lightweight, easy-to-use equipment, low-latency video systems, reliability of the wireless links, and the ability to use licensed and unlicensed bands. Current trends within the market reflect the reduced physical size of these products further and improve the wireless video systems' agility as users demand higher link reliability at longer ranges. There is also an increased desire to provide audiences with new views and camera angles to enhance the viewing experience. We address this need by incorporating 4K, HDR, and other emerging video technologies.

The Live Production market's broadcast news sector looks to improve operational efficiencies in gathering, producing, and transmitting wireless content. Recent trends in the market include a movement towards I.P. connectivity over point-to-point links for infrastructure, high-definition upgrades of remote newsgathering vehicles, and continued pressure to reduce expenses by improving operational efficiencies. We focus on how these customers create and gather content wirelessly. As the wireless communications industry begins transitioning to fifth-generation (5G) networks, the speed increases they are ushering in are expected to augment the availability of on-demand live streaming, where our equipment is already in use.

The Mil/Gov market comprises vital segments, including state and local law enforcement agencies, federal agencies, and military system integrators. The market wants to improve video content's reliability and quality without adding complexity and omitting technical intervention while operating video systems. State and local agencies benefit from the Department of Homeland Security grant programs to improve overall security. Recent trends within these segments include improved interoperability within agencies and demand for fully integrated systems, including robust microwave combined with ubiquitous I.P. networks; as the wireless video systems become more reliable and straightforward to deploy, the wireless systems' option rate increases. Customers within this market include state police forces, sheriff's departments, first responders, the Department of Justice, and Homeland Security.

#### Our Products and Solutions: Overview

We offer a full spectrum of RF and 5G wireless video products built around providing complete solutions. We have traditionally focused on developing core product technologies for the final assembled products that cross-market segments. Such technology focus areas include COFDM, Live Streaming, and microwave component development spanning the frequency range from D.C. to 18GHz, waveform modulation, advanced video encoding (HEVC) and decoding, 4K UHD (Ultra High Definition) camera systems, and digital signal processing. Through these products, we are positioned with significant technological I.P. and an established reputation for rapidly and economically delivering complex, bespoke engineering products and solutions to customers that are expertly managed to tight deadlines. Production of these products can quickly be scaled to respond to changes in market demand.

#### **Live Production Products and Solutions**

Our Live Production Solutions include high-definition communication links that reliably capture, transmit, and manage live event footage. We offer a line of high-margin wireless camera transmitter and receiver products that may be interconnected over I.P. networks, expanding and simplifying their widespread use and significantly reducing deployment costs. HCAM is a 4K Ultra HD-capable on-camera wireless system designed to cover significant events among our transmitter products. CLIQ is a compact COFDM mini camera transmitter engineered for Tier-1 live events, supporting single 4K HDR or dual HD HDR video streams with HEVC encoding. DragonFly V is a miniature HEVC COFDM transmitter that captures high-quality, real-time video from point-of-view cameras, UAVs, and body-worn devices. Our flagship receiver product is the Quantum Receiver. The Quantum is an ultra-low latency, waveform agnostic central receiver representing our premier receiver in all market verticals, including Mil/Gov. Features include HEVC quad signal decode, seamless geographical coverage, an I.P. stream engine with cloud integration possibilities, OTT, and social media platforms. IP Link 3.0 is a studio-transmitter link system that enables broadcasting service platforms to access new monetization opportunities. Other essential receiver products include the ViewBack, CRx6, and CIRAS-X6. ViewBack is a lightweight, low-power, low latency, dual-channel diversity receiver-decoder that enables quicker production, more efficient editing, and more effective collaboration between camera operators and studio teams.

We also offer a portfolio of products that includes our line of mobile encoders and TerraLink rack encoders for live streaming over 4G and 5G, as well as systems developed using AI technologies for the automated coverage of news and sports productions. DragonFly V 5G is a miniature HEVC wireless bonding transmitter designed to deliver real-time, broadcast-quality video from point-of-view cameras, UAVs, and body-worn devices, supporting video resolutions up to 1080p at 50/60 frames per second. Aero5 is a 5G HEVC 4K UHD airborne transmitter that offers an extended, reliable bidirectional link utilizing local cellular infrastructure as the receiving system, supporting video, file transfer, data communication, push-to-talk, and network connectivity. LiveLink is a 5G bonded cellular transmitter that delivers market-leading video quality with ultra-reliable, low-latency transmission, supporting up to four HD or one UHD 4:2:2, 10-bit HEVC HDR video encoding, making it ideal for versatile mobile camera applications.

Vislink's LinkMatrix is a browser-based management platform that enables remote control of all Vislink products from any device, eliminating the need for direct field management.



DragonFly V: RF & 5G transmitter



Cliq: RF transmitter



LiveLink: 5G transmitter



HCAM: RF & 5G transmitter



Quantum: RF & 5G receiver



BaseLink: 5G encoder



TerraLink REMI: 5G encoder



LinkMatrix: RF & 5G management and control



IQ Sports Producer: AI sports video production

#### Mil/Gov Products and Solutions

In the Mil/Gov sector, the Vislink Airborne Video Downlink System (AVDS) is a comprehensive aerial-based video transmission solution that delivers real-time surveillance to enhance law enforcement, emergency, and critical infrastructure operations. It includes an integrated suite of downlink transmitters, receivers, and antennas that capture real-time, reliable, high-definition video from drones, helicopters, and other aircraft for display at command centers, mobile units, and video management systems. AVDS allows an unlimited number of observers to view the video over any network connection, including wired Ethernet, Wi-Fi, I.P. satellite, and I.P. cellular. AeroLink is an aircraft-based transmiter unit that provides bi-directional data transmission and is tightly integrated with other elements of the AVDS, including the Quantum and our other central receivers. In addition to supporting Mil/Gov applications, AeroLink supports broadcast/ENG applications for transmitting air-based feeds from breaking news and sporting events. The AeroS is an airborne downlink transmitter that provides an extended bidirectional link using local cellular infrastructure as the receiving system. The HHT3 and Mobil Commander are handheld receivers/monitors designed for tactical situations.

As a result of our acquisition of BMS's assets in September 2023, we now also offer their wireless microwave equipment designed for use in government surveillance, law enforcement, uncrewed aerial vehicles ("UAV"), and uncrewed ground vehicles ("UGV") markets.



AeroLink: RF transmitter



Aero5: 5G transmitter



Mobil Commander: RF & 5G handheld receiver



# LinkSwitch: RF & 5G control and distribution



LinkMatrix: RF & 5G management and control

#### **Competition and Competitive Positioning**

Our primary competitors are Domo Tactical Communications (formerly a division of Cobham), Silvus Technologies, Persistent Systems, Troll Systems, and several smaller market-specific businesses.

We believe that we are one of the market share leaders in the professional broadcast and media video transmission sector. We have successfully leveraged our history of broadcast industry leadership, reputation for advanced technology, and the ability to provide end-to-end solutions to maintain and increase our customer base and continue delivering highly competitive offerings. Our products solve a growing market need for regular, high-definition, wireless video communications. Our product offerings address applications in growing market segments, including in-game sports video mobile feeds, real-time capture and display footage from drones and other aerial platforms, and rapid-response electronic newsgathering operations.

To our knowledge, Vislink is the only company in the world that currently provides both RF and 5G live video technology solutions, providing seamless, high-quality video transmission for broadcast, sports, and public safety applications.

#### Sales and Marketing

Our sales team comprises sales managers responsible for defined regional areas, inside sales personnel, and business development representatives focused on targeted sectors and regions, supported by solution engineers trained in technical sales with a given market focus. The sales team focuses on helping current customers and nurturing relationships with prospective customers in key domestic and international markets. We employ a combination of sales channels, including direct-to-end customer sales, network group sales, reseller/integrators, and Original Equipment Manufacturer ("OEM") sales channels to use the most efficient means of reaching customers depending on the market segment. Marketing and public relations activities, digital initiatives, the creation of support materials, trade show participation, and other event appearances support our sales efforts.

As of December 31, 2024, our business development, sales, and marketing team comprised 20 full-time employees and four contractors.

#### Customers

We have developed a significant following based on our product offerings' reputation for performance, reliability, and advanced technology use. We have created a diverse customer base among high-profile Live Production and Mil/Gov clients.

### Manufacturing and Suppliers

We utilize a combination of external contract manufacturers and internal resources to manufacture, test, assure the quality of, and ship our products. This allows us to develop supply chains tailored to our needs on a per-product and per-solution basis. As we advance, we anticipate focusing on our core strengths: innovation, technology design, developing, creating, and exploiting our intellectual property.

We may continue to rely upon third-party components and technology to build our products, particularly in the short term, as we procure components, subassemblies, and products necessary to manufacture our products based on our design, development, and production needs. While parts and supplies are generally available from various sources, we currently depend on a single or limited number of suppliers for several components for our products. We rely on purchase orders rather than long-term contracts with our suppliers. A delay in production could result if a supply disruption of critical components required us to re-engineer our products to incorporate alternate features.

### Intellectual Property

We have developed a broad intellectual property portfolio covering wired and wireless communications systems. As of December 31, 2024, we have eight patents granted in the United States, no patent applications pending, no provisional applications pending, and one disclosure. Internationally, we have two patents granted, no patent applications pending, and no Patent Cooperation Treaty (PCT) applications.

Areas of our development activities that have culminated in filings and/or awarded patents include:

- · Self-Organizing Networks;
- · R.F. Modulation;
- Compression (protocols, payload, signaling, etc.);
- Modulators/Demodulators;
- Antennas/Shielding;
- Wired and Wireless Networks;
- · Media Access Control Protocols; and
- Interference Mitigation.

We protect our intellectual property rights using federal, state, and common law rights and contractual restrictions. We control access to our proprietary technology by entering confidentiality and invention assignment agreements with our employees and contractors and confidentiality agreements with third parties. We also actively monitor activities concerning third parties' infringing uses of our intellectual property.

In addition to these contractual arrangements, we rely on a combination of trade secrets, copyrights, trademarks, trade dress, domain names, and patents to protect our products and other intellectual property. We own a substantial portion of the copyright interests in the software code used in connection with our products and the brand or title name trademark under our marketed products. We pursue our domain names, trademarks, and service marks in the United States and locations outside the United States. Our registered trademarks in the United States include "xG," "IMT," "Vislink," "Mobile Viewpoint," and the names of our products, among others.

Circumstances outside our control could pose a threat to our intellectual property rights. For example, adequate intellectual property protection may not be available in the United States or other countries where our products are sold or distributed. Also, our efforts to protect our proprietary rights may need to be revised. Any significant impairment of our intellectual property rights could harm our business or our ability to compete. Also, protecting our intellectual property rights is costly and time-consuming. Any unauthorized disclosure or use of our intellectual property could make it more expensive to do business, harming our operating results.

Mobile wireless communications technology and other industries may own many patents, copyrights, and trademarks. They may frequently request license agreements, threaten litigation, or file a suit against us based on infringement allegations or other violations of intellectual property rights. We may face third-party claims that our competitors and non-practicing entities infringe on their trademarks, copyrights, patents, and other intellectual property rights. As our business grows, we might face more claims of infringement.

#### **Company Information**

Effective February 11, 2019, xG Technology, Inc. changed its name to Vislink Technologies, Inc. Our predecessor company was initially incorporated in Delaware in 2006. Our executive offices are at 350 Clark Dr., Suite 125, Mt. Olive, NJ 07828, and the telephone number is (908) 852-3700. Our website address is www.vislink.com. Our website's information is not part of this report and is provided for informational purposes.

On February 10, 2025, we filed a Form 25 with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") to voluntarily delist our common stock from The Nasdaq Capital Market. Our common stock became quoted for trading with the OTCQB® Venture Market (the "OTCQB") of OTC Markets Group Inc. ("OTC Markets") on February 12, 2025. The decision to move common stock trading from Nasdaq to OTC Markets was made to reduce costs and improve operational efficiencies.

#### **Available Information**

We file reports with the SEC, which are free of charge on our website (www.vislink.com) under "About/Investor Information/SEC Filings." The reports available include our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports, which are available as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such materials or furnish them to the SEC. The SEC also maintains an Internet site (www.sec.gov) containing reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC, including us. The information on the SEC's website is not incorporated by reference into this Form 10-K and should not be considered part of this Report. Within our website's Investors section, we provide corporate governance information, including our corporate governance guidelines, board committee charters, Code of Ethics, and other information. A copy of the Code of Ethics may be provided to anyone without charge upon written request to Vislink Technologies, Inc., Attn: Corporate Secretary, 350 Clark Dr., Suite 125, Mt. Olive, NJ 07828. The content reflected on any website reflected in this Report is not incorporated by reference herein unless expressly noted.

## **Human Capital**

### **Overall**

Our business results depend partly on our ability to successfully manage our human capital resources, including attracting, identifying, and retaining key talent. As of December 31, 2024, we had 105 full-time employees and 11 independent contractors:

As a global industrial technology company, many of our employees are engineers or trained trade or technical workers focusing on advanced manufacturing, and many possess advanced college degrees. As of December 31, 2024, no labor union represented our employees at our worldwide facilities.

We emphasize several measures and objectives in managing its human capital assets, including, among others, employee safety and wellness, talent acquisition and retention, employee engagement, development and training, diversity and inclusion, and compensation. These targeted ideals vary by country/region. They may include annual bonuses, stock-based compensation awards, a 401(k) plan with matching opportunities, healthcare and insurance benefits, health savings and flexible spending accounts, paid time off, family leaves, family care resources, employee assistance programs, and tuition assistance. We also provide our employees access to various innovative, flexible, and convenient health and wellness programs. We designed these programs to support employees' physical and mental health by providing tools and resources to improve or maintain their health status and encourage engagement in healthy behaviors. We generally consider our employee relations to be good.

#### Item 1A. Risk Factors

In addition to the other information in this Form 10-K, readers should consider the following essential factors carefully. These factors, among others, in some cases, have affected, and in the future could affect, our financial condition and results of operations and could cause our future results to differ materially from those expressed or implied in any forward-looking statements that appear in this Form 10-K or that we have made or will make elsewhere.

#### Risks Related to the Company and Our Business

#### We have incurred losses in the past and may be unable to achieve or sustain profitability in the future.

Since inception, we have incurred net losses, including net losses of approximately \$20.5 million and \$9.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively. As a result of ongoing losses, as of December 31, 2024, we had an accumulated deficit of approximately \$329.7 million, \$5.5 million of cash, and \$1.0 million of investments in governmental securities.

In November 2024, we initiated restructuring actions to streamline operations, reduce costs, and focus on key markets. The Company incurred one-time costs related to severance, lease termination, and other restructuring initiatives of approximately \$6.5 million in 2024. Expected annual cost savings related to these initiatives are approximately \$7.8 million. There is no assurance that these objectives will be fully achieved or that the restructuring will result in all of the anticipated cost savings, and actual results, including the anticipated savings of these activities. may differ from these estimates.

Our ability to achieve and sustain profitability will depend on our ability to successfully realize these savings, generate additional revenue streams, and navigate competitive pressures. Failure to do so could adversely affect our financial condition, operations results, and our common stock's value.

We may require additional capital to fund our operations, develop new products, and expand. If we do not obtain additional financing, our business prospects, financial condition, and results of operations will be adversely affected.

As of December 31, 2024, we had \$5.5 million in cash and \$1.0 million in investments in government securities. While we anticipate cost savings from our restructuring actions, there is no assurance that these savings will be fully realized or sufficient to meet our long-term strategic objectives. Even if we recognize all or a portion of these savings, these savings may not fully offset our funding needs.

We may require additional capital in the future to fund our business and operations. We may also consider raising additional capital in the future to expand our business, pursue strategic investments, take advantage of financing opportunities, or for other reasons, including:

- Expanding operations and sales/marketing efforts to increase our market share and address evolving customer needs.
- Developing and commercializing new technologies and products or improving existing products to remain competitive in the market.
- Responding to competitive pressures that may require adjustments in pricing, technology investments, or market strategies.
- Meeting inventory requirements associated with anticipated demand surges or supply chain disruptions.
- Pursuing strategic acquisitions or partnerships that complement our existing business, enhance product offerings, or open new markets.
- · Addressing regulatory compliance costs resulting from evolving domestic and international regulations.

Additional capital may not be available to us at such times or in the amounts needed. Even if capital is available, it might be available only on unfavorable terms. Any issuance of additional equity or equity-linked securities could dilute our existing stockholders, and any new equity securities could have rights, preferences, and privileges superior to those of holders of our common stock. Debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants on our operations or our ability to incur additional debt, pay dividends, repurchase our stock, make investments, and engage in merger, consolidation, or asset sale transactions. If we raise additional funds through collaboration and licensing arrangements with third parties, it may be necessary to relinquish or license some rights to our technologies or products on terms that are not favorable to us. If access to sufficient capital is unavailable as and when needed, our business will be materially impaired. We may be required to cease operations, curtail one or more product development or expansion programs, significantly reduce expenses, sell assets, seek a merger or joint venture partner, file for protection from creditors, or liquidate all our assets.

Furthermore, we may require additional capital to develop new products in the future, and we may not be able to secure adequate additional financing when needed on acceptable terms or at all. To execute our business strategy, we may issue additional equity securities in public or private offerings, potentially at discounts to our common stock's current or future market price. If we cannot secure further funding, we may be forced to forego strategic opportunities or delay, scale back, or eliminate future product development.

Our global operations expose us to risks associated with public health crises or pandemic outbreaks. These crises or outbreaks could disrupt our operations and materially and adversely affect the results of our operations and financial condition.

Our business may be exposed to risks from public health crises, such as pandemics. Events like the COVID-19 pandemic have disrupted supply chains, increased costs, reduced customer demand, and created economic volatility, which could materially affect our operations and financial results. Future public health crises, the emergence of new variants, or other global disruptions could impair our ability to source materials, secure labor, or deliver products to customers, resulting in adverse financial impacts.

### Our industry is highly competitive, and we may need to compete more effectively.

The communications industry is highly competitive and rapidly evolving. Many competitors are larger, with more significant financial, technical, and operational resources. The pace of technological change also introduces the potential for new competitors to use different or more cost-effective technologies. If we cannot compete successfully or differentiate our products, our market share and financial performance may be adversely affected.

Defects or errors in our products and services or products made by our suppliers could harm our brand and relations with our customers and expose us to liability. If we experience product recalls, we may incur significant expenses and experience decreased demand for our products.

Our complex products may contain defects or errors that become apparent only during use, potentially damaging our reputation and customer relationships and exposing us to liability. Defects in components, materials, or software from our suppliers could disrupt customers' operations, reduce demand for our products, and harm our revenues. Additionally, recalls, rework, or repairs stemming from product defects may result in significant expenses not fully covered by warranty reserves, further impacting profitability.

## Future impairment charges could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and the results of operations.

We evaluate finite-lived intangible assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances suggest their carrying value may not be recoverable. Such events could include significant changes in the business climate, sustained declines in market value, legal or regulatory actions, or the sale or disposal of business segments. If the fair value of these assets falls below their book value, we may be required to record significant impairment charges, which could materially affect our financial results in the period incurred.

Although our products may not cause users technical issues, our business and reputation may be harmed if users perceive our solutions to cause a slow or unreliable network connection or a high-profile network failure.

Our products are used in various environments to deliver video transmission, mobile broadband connectivity, and interference mitigation. While external factors unrelated to our products may impact performance, users might incorrectly perceive our technology as the cause of poor network reliability or failures. Similarly, high-profile network failures caused by components we did not supply could still be attributed to our products, damaging our reputation, business, and financial results.

Our ability to sell our products will be highly dependent on the quality of our support and service offerings, and our failure to offer high-quality support and services would adversely affect our sales and operating results.

Our channel partners and end customers rely on our support organization to resolve product-related issues. Effective support is critical for successful marketing, sales, and customer retention. However, we have limited control over the quality of support our channel partners provide, who may also support third-party products, potentially diverting resources from our solutions. Our channel partners may fail to effectively assist customers in deploying our products, resolving post-deployment issues, or providing adequate ongoing support. In each case, our reputation and ability to generate sales may be harmed. Additionally, performance guarantees offered to customers or partners could result in significant resource demands and expenses if unforeseen technical problems arise.

## We are subject to increasing operating costs and inflation risks, which may adversely affect our performance.

We face rising operating costs driven by inflationary pressures, including higher wages, benefits, and other expenses. While we aim to offset these increases through revenue growth and operational efficiencies, there is no assurance these efforts will succeed. If operating expenses rise faster than revenues, our cash flow and margins could be materially impacted.

Inflationary wage increases, whether due to competition for talent or ordinary pay adjustments, may further increase costs across the countries in which we operate. Our profitability may be reduced if we cannot pass these costs on to customers or justify premium pricing.

#### We may need to recruit and retain qualified personnel, which may affect our business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects.

As we expand our operations and sales, development, and administrative functions, we will require additional qualified personnel. However, competition for skilled talent is intense, and failure to attract, retain, and motivate highly skilled individuals could hinder our ability to execute our marketing and development activities. This may adversely impact our business, financial condition, and growth prospects.

#### We rely on key executive officers, and their knowledge of our business and technical expertise would be difficult to replace.

We depend on our executive officers for their technical knowledge, management skills, and experience in the telecommunications industry. Although we have agreements with these officers containing customary confidentiality and non-compete provisions, we do not maintain "key person" life insurance policies. The loss of key personnel could delay product development, reduce customer retention, and divert management resources, adversely affecting our operating results.

# We purchase some components, subassemblies, and products from a limited number of suppliers. The loss of these suppliers may substantially disrupt our ability to obtain orders and fulfill sales as we design and qualify new components.

We rely on third-party components and technology, with some sourced from a single or limited number of suppliers. Our contract manufacturers often depend on purchase orders rather than long-term contracts with these suppliers, increasing the risk of supply shortages. If these suppliers continue providing components or prioritize other customers, our product delivery ability could be improved.

Supply chain disruptions due to global conflicts, such as the Russia-Ukraine war, the conflict in Gaza, or trade sanctions, may further limit our access to essential parts. Even if they are available, we may face challenges securing sufficient components at reasonable prices or of acceptable quality. These supply constraints could delay production, hinder our ability to meet customer demand, and adversely impact our business, operating results, and financial condition.

## The imposition of tariffs could adversely affect our business and financial results.

Many of our raw materials are sourced, directly or indirectly, from outside the U.S. The current U.S. presidential administration has enacted tariffs on raw materials from various countries, and the rapidly evolving international trade environment has created economic and operational uncertainties that could significantly harm our business and results of operations. Any significant changes in tax or trade policy, such as the imposition of additional tariffs or duties on imported products, between the U.S. and countries from which we source raw materials could require us to take specific actions, including but not limited to raising prices on products we sell and seeking alternative sources of supply from vendors in other countries with whom we have less familiarity, which could adversely affect our reputation, sales, and our results of operations.

Additionally, tariffs and duties are often based on the classifications of the goods imported, which are routinely subject to review by customs authorities. We cannot predict whether those authorities will change the determination of the classifications of any of our imports. Any such changes could result in increased tariffs or duties, or other restrictions on our importation of goods. The imposition of and our response to new or enhanced trade restrictions on imports or exports, or any selective or inconsistent application relating to trade restrictions, could result in a substantial adverse effect on our business, competitive position, results of operations, and financial condition.

# We do not have long-term contracts with our existing contract manufacturers. The loss of any of our current contract manufacturers could adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial condition.

We do not have long-term contracts with our existing contract manufacturers. If any of them become unable or unwilling to manufacture our products, we may face delays or increased costs in securing alternative manufacturers. Such disruptions could adversely impact our ability to fulfill customer demand, harming our business, operating results, and financial condition

## Our intellectual property protections may be insufficient to safeguard our technology adequately.

Our ability to compete effectively depends on the proprietary technology we develop internally. As of December 31, 2024, we have eight U.S. patents granted, two international patents granted, and no pending patent applications. However, there is no assurance that future patents will be issued or that we will have the resources to enforce any issued patents against infringement.

We also rely on copyright, trademark, trade secret laws, and contractual agreements to protect our technology. Despite these measures, third parties can copy, misappropriate, or use our proprietary information without authorization. Policing unauthorized use is challenging, particularly in jurisdictions with limited IP protections. Additionally, some critical technology cannot be patented, increasing reliance on other safeguards. Litigation may be necessary to enforce our rights, which could be costly and uncertain.

# We may be subject to claims of intellectual property infringement or invalidity. Expenses incurred for monitoring, protecting, and defending our intellectual property rights could adversely affect our business.

We may be subject to claims alleging intellectual property infringement or invalidity, resulting in costly litigation, damage, or the need to purchase licenses. If we are found to infringe on others' rights, we may be required to discontinue certain products or systems. Monitoring and protecting our intellectual property are challenging and expensive, and undetected infringements or misappropriations could weaken our competitive position.

Litigation to protect or defend intellectual property can be resource-intensive, reducing funds available for product initiatives and distracting management from daily operations. These expenses and disruptions could adversely affect our cash flow, results of operations, and overall business performance.

## Enforcement of our intellectual property rights abroad, particularly in China, is limited, and it is often difficult to protect and enforce such rights.

Intellectual property protection outside the United States is generally less comprehensive and enforceable. In particular, China's intellectual property regime presents challenges due to limited legal protections, inconsistent enforcement, and prolonged timelines for resolving claims. These issues make it challenging to prevent the misappropriation or unauthorized copying of our technology and products.

Infringement cases in China, such as unauthorized manufacturing or sales involving patented inventions, may be difficult to sustain due to unclear rules of evidence and regulatory inconsistencies. These challenges could allow competitors to harm our business by reducing product pricing, diluting our brand reputation, or impacting sales in the Chinese and other export markets.

### The intellectual property rights of others may prevent us from developing new products or entering new markets.

The telecommunications industry evolves rapidly, requiring us to introduce new products and continuously expand into emerging markets. However, if key technologies are protected by the intellectual property rights of others, including competitors, we may be unable to incorporate them into our products or enter the markets they create. Such restrictions could limit our innovation, reduce competitiveness, and harm our financial condition, operating results, or growth prospects.

### We may be subject to infringement claims in the future.

We may unknowingly infringe on filed patent applications or issued patents covering our products. Infringement claims could result in injunctions or other equitable relief that block us from selling or supplying our products or licensing our technology. Defending such claims could require substantial resources, divert management's attention, and lead to time-consuming and costly litigation, regardless of the merits.

Infringement claims could also result in:

- Stopping the sale of allegedly infringing products or the use of related technology.
- Redesigning products to avoid infringement.
- · Paying substantial damages or licensing fees.
- · Loss of customers or barriers to acquiring new ones.
- · Damage to our brand and goodwill.
- Declines in stock price and liquidity affect our ability to meet obligations.
- · In extreme cases, bankruptcy or liquidation.

These outcomes could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and prospects.

# We rely on the availability of third-party licenses. If these licenses are available only on less favorable terms or not in the future, our business and operating results will be harmed.

Our products incorporate third-party licensed technology, and we may need to renew existing licenses or acquire new ones for current or future products. There is no assurance that these licenses will be available on favorable terms or at all. Failure to obtain required licenses or engaging in litigation over licensing rights could delay product releases and adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial condition.

Additionally, reliance on nonexclusive third-party licenses may limit our ability to protect our proprietary rights and reduce our competitive advantage.

# We expect to base our inventory purchasing decisions on our forecasts of customers' demand, and if our projections are inaccurate, our operating results could be materially harmed.

We base inventory purchasing decisions on customer demand forecasts, which involve multiple assumptions and may not be accurate. If we underestimate demand, we may succeed in meeting customer needs, resulting in lost revenue opportunities, damaged customer relationships, and potential market share losses. Conversely, overestimating demand could lead to excess or obsolete inventory, stock rotation returns from distributors, and reduced inventory value, increasing costs and lowering liquidity.

Failure to align inventory with customer demand could materially impact our revenue, costs, and operating results.

# If our technology did not work as planned or if we were unsuccessful in developing and selling new products or penetrating new markets, our business and operating results would suffer.

Our success depends on our ability to design, develop, and market new products and enhancements that meet evolving customer needs. Our technology must perform as intended and achieve market acceptance to maintain our competitive position, revenue, and customer relationships.

Rapid technological changes and potential obsolescence characterize the markets we target. Failure to anticipate shifts, develop new technologies, or adapt to market changes could result in product obsolescence and revenue loss. Developing new products requires significant investment, prolonged development cycles, and rigorous testing, and there needs to be assurance that these efforts will yield meaningful revenue or competitive differentiation.

Delays in product development or technical flaws in releases could diminish market impact, harm our reputation, and reduce customer adoption. If we fail to introduce successful products or expand into new markets, our business, competitive position, and operating results will suffer.

### We rely extensively on information technology systems and could face cybersecurity risks.

Our business depends heavily on secure information technology systems to manage operations, develop new opportunities, and support digital products and services. Cybersecurity threats, including hacking, phishing, ransomware, and data breaches, are increasingly sophisticated and pose significant risks to our operations and reputation. We have been subject to cyberattacks in the past, some of which successfully disrupted our systems. Although we believe the impact and consequences of such attacks have not been material, we cannot guarantee that our defensive measures will prevent future attacks or mitigate their consequences.

Successful cyberattacks or security incidents could lead to unauthorized access, corruption, or loss of sensitive data, intellectual property, or trade secrets, as well as service disruptions and reputational harm. These incidents may expose us to legal liability, regulatory fines, and financial losses. Additionally, social media misuse by employees or third parties could further risk exposing sensitive information.

Effective cybersecurity requires substantial investment, ongoing monitoring, and frequent updates to address evolving threats. Failures in cybersecurity or IT infrastructure performance could reduce customer confidence, harm our ability to attract and retain clients, and negatively impact our business and operating results.

### Our industry is subject to rapid technological change, and to compete successfully, we must make substantial investments in new products, services, and technologies.

Rapid technological advancements and evolving customer expectations characterize our industry. To remain competitive, we must invest significantly in developing new products, technologies, and enhancements. However, these efforts may fail, and our latest technologies may fail to generate meaningful revenues.

Our success depends on our ability to anticipate technological developments, protect intellectual property, meet customer requirements, and price our offerings competitively. Introducing new technologies or industry standards could render our existing products or those under development obsolete or unmarketable. If we respond to technological advances or experience delays in developing and introducing new products, demand for our offerings and those of our customers could increase, damaging our competitive position and financial performance.

Regulatory changes may further increase costs, reduce demand, or delay product shipments, adversely affecting our ability to generate revenue and operate efficiently.

At several of our annual stockholder meetings, including our 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, we failed to obtain ratification by our stockholders of specific proposals submitted for approval of our stockholders at prior annual meetings, which could be deemed defective corporate acts.

At our 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, we submitted proposals to approve our 2015 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and 2015 Incentive Compensation Plan. At subsequent annual meetings in 2016 and 2017, additional proposals were submitted for new and amended employee stock purchase and incentive compensation plans. While these proposals were certified as approved under our bylaws and disclosed in applicable Current Reports on Form 8-K, questions were later raised about whether the votes were tabulated correctly and whether the requisite approvals were obtained.

To address these concerns and comply with Nasdaq's Listing Rules due to the listing of our common stock on Nasdaq at that time, we resubmitted all these proposals for ratification under Section 204 of the Delaware General Corporation Law at our 2019 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. However, stockholders did not ratify the proposals. We intend to re-submit them for ratification at a future meeting of stockholders, but there is no assurance that they will be approved.

If these proposals are not ratified, or if the ratifications are deemed inadequate, it may be determined that shares issued under these plans were not duly authorized or validly issued. This could create accounting issues, impact our liquidity and capital structure, and expose us to claims from stock award recipients. Any of these outcomes could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

#### Demand for our defense-related products and products for emergency response services depends on government spending.

A portion of our business relies on military and government markets, which are subject to governmental appropriations and budget constraints. While some contracts are authorized multi-year, funding is typically appropriated annually, and programs may only be partially funded, with continuation dependent on future appropriations.

We cannot guarantee that military and government spending will be allocated to programs benefiting our business. A decrease in government spending, termination of contracts, or failure to fully fund ongoing programs could materially and adversely affect our financial position and operating results. Additionally, we must be assured that new government-related communication and broadcasting programs we participate in will proceed to full-scale production as expected.

Our potential customers for our communication and surveillance products and solutions include the U.S. Government or Government-related entities subject to congressional appropriations. Reduced funding for military and government procurement and research and development programs would likely adversely impact our ability to generate revenues.

A portion of our revenue depends on communication, surveillance, and satellite products and solutions sold to U.S. Government entities, including the Department of Defense. Government programs we seek to participate in must compete for funding during congressional budget and appropriations hearings, influenced by political changes, economic conditions, and other factors beyond our control.

The current U.S. presidential administration has recently undertaken significant efforts to cut federal government spending. Government shutdowns, delays in federal appropriations, or reliance on continuing resolutions may terminate or postpone funding opportunities critical to our business. Reductions, extensions, or terminations of government programs or shifts in defense, military, and intelligence priorities could adversely affect our ability to generate revenue and profits.

Changes to laws or regulations governing government contracting, shifting political support for defense and security programs, and uncertainties arising from global geopolitical events, delays in approval of government contracts due to reductions in the federal workforce, may also affect our participation in U.S. government programs. Reductions in government spending on such programs could negatively impact our business and financial performance.

#### Contracting with government entities can be complex, expensive, and time-consuming.

The procurement process for government entities is more challenging than that for private sector contracts. It requires compliance with complex laws and regulations related to contract formation, administration, performance, and pricing at the federal, state, and local levels.

Government contracts often include specialized terms, preferential pricing requirements, or "most favored nation" clauses, which may increase compliance costs and complexity. Meeting these requirements can be time-consuming and expensive, and even if successful, the increased costs associated with serving government customers may negatively impact our margins and profitability.

#### Unstable market and economic conditions may seriously affect our business, financial condition, and share price.

Global economic volatility and disruptions, including reduced credit availability, inflation, unemployment, tariffs, and geopolitical conflicts, pose significant risks to our business. Events such as the COVID-19 pandemic, the Russia-Ukraine war, and conflicts in the Red Sea, Persian Gulf, and Gaza Strip may exacerbate capital market instability, disrupt supply chains, and impact energy markets.

Economic instability could hinder our ability to secure necessary financing on favorable terms, potentially increasing costs or diluting equity. Rising inflation and higher interest rates could further increase personnel and operating costs, negatively affecting our financial condition and results of operations.

### Our failure to comply with complex U.S. and foreign laws and regulations could adversely affect our operations.

We are subject to numerous laws and regulations, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the "FCPA") and other anti-corruption, anti-bribery, and anti-money laundering laws, which prohibit improper payments to government officials to obtain business advantages. These laws also hold us accountable for the actions of third-party business partners, representatives, and agents. Despite policies to ensure compliance, violations could occur, particularly as we expand internationally. Such violations have and, in the future, may result in investigations, whistleblower complaints, legal fees, reputational damage, and financial penalties.

Our international operations expose us to additional risks, including complex and inconsistent foreign regulations, tariffs, trade restrictions, and export controls. Compliance failures could result in fines, penalties, or export restrictions, making it challenging to serve foreign markets. Furthermore, changes in international tax laws, trade policies, or regulatory requirements could increase costs, reduce revenue, and adversely affect our operations and financial condition. On February 10, 2025, President Trump signed an executive order directing the Attorney General, or a period of 180 days (1) effectively halt the initiation of new FCPA investigations and enforcement actions and (2) undertake a detailed review of any such existing matters with an eye toward restoring proper bounds on enforcement. However, there can be no assurance that potential violations during this temporary pause in enforcement will minimize or eliminate the potential damages identified above.

## Various cost-cutting measures we have implemented and may implement in the future could unintentionally impact our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We have, and continue to engage in, various measures to decrease costs and improve our operating structure. We may not realize the anticipated benefits from these efforts on the whole or in part due to unforeseen difficulties, delays, or unexpected costs. If we cannot achieve the expected operational efficiencies and cost savings from these efforts, our operating results, financial condition, and cash flows would be adversely affected. We may also discover that these efforts make pursuing new opportunities and initiatives difficult, which may require us to incur additional and unanticipated costs and expenses. Our failure to accomplish any of the above activities and goals may have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

## Risks Related to Our Industry and its Regulatory Context

#### Regulation of the telecommunications industry could harm our operating results and prospects.

The telecommunications industry is highly regulated, and changes to laws governing internet communications, intellectual property networks, and commerce could negatively impact our business. Potential regulations may include sales taxes, tariffs, and provider access charges. In jurisdictions where we market equipment and services, regulations affecting service or content providers' business models could reduce demand for our products.

U.S. Federal Communications Commission (the "FCC") regulations and cybersecurity, privacy, and data protection laws in various jurisdictions may increase compliance costs and impact equipment requirements. Additionally, environmental regulations, such as the EU's electronic waste and hazardous substance directives, could increase manufacturing and operational costs.

Some governments prohibit purchasing security products that fail to meet indigenous certification criteria, which may conflict with international standards and limit our ability to compete. These regulations could decrease demand, raise costs, restrict market access, and delay revenue recognition, materially affecting our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

New regulations or standards or changes in existing laws or standards in the United States or internationally related to our products may result in unanticipated costs or liabilities, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and future sales, and could place additional burdens on our business operations.

Our products are subject to government regulations and industry standards in the United States and internationally. For example, U.S. regulations from agencies like the FCC and Occupational Safety and Health Administration and similar international rules govern radio emissions, electrical safety, electromagnetic compatibility, and chemical substances. Compliance with these evolving regulations and standards is critical for market acceptance.

As regulations and standards change, we may need to modify our products or develop new versions, which could increase costs and delay product introductions. Failure to comply with these regulations or delays in achieving compliance could harm our business and prevent us from entering specific markets. Additionally, uncertainty around future regulatory policies may reduce demand for our products, and channel partners or end customers may require product alterations to address anticipated regulatory changes.

Our inability to adapt to new or changing regulations could adversely affect our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

Compliance with environmental, health, and safety laws and regulations, including new rules requiring higher standards, may increase costs, limit our ability to utilize supply chains and force product design changes.

Our operations and products are subject to various environmental, health, and safety laws and regulations in our jurisdictions. Manufacturing our products involves substances regulated under these laws, and compliance is essential to maintain product marketability and avoid penalties. Non-compliance, including by any contract manufacturers we employ, could lead to immediate charges, fines, and increased remediation costs, negatively impacting our operations and financial condition.

Compliance with existing and new regulations may require us to modify product designs, adjust supply chains, or incur additional recycling, waste processing, or insurance costs. These costs could adversely affect our competitiveness, revenues, and profitability. We cannot assure that future laws or changes to existing regulations will not further increase costs or impact our ability to operate effectively in certain markets.

### Governmental regulations affecting the import or export of products or affecting products containing encryption capabilities could negatively impact our revenues.

The U.S. and various foreign governments impose controls, export license requirements, and restrictions on importing and exporting certain technologies, particularly encryption technology. Regulations may require certifications, source code reviews, or governmental recovery of private encryption keys. Recent changes in countries like Russia, China, and India have introduced stricter requirements for encryption products and critical technologies.

Failure to obtain the required approvals or comply with these regulations could harm our international and domestic sales, adversely affecting our revenue. Additionally, sanctions and export restrictions, such as those imposed by the U.S. and EU on Russia due to the Ukraine conflict, further complicate compliance and could result in penalties, increased costs, or restrictions on import/export privileges, limiting our ability to pursue particular government or international projects.

### If wireless devices pose safety risks, we may be subject to new regulations, and demand for our products, licensees, and customers may decrease.

Regulatory agencies, including the FCC and international counterparts, have updated guidelines for evaluating radiofrequency emissions from wireless devices. Even if unfounded, concerns about the safety of radiofrequency emissions may reduce consumer demand for wireless devices, impacting our products and those of our licensees and customers.

Interest groups have urged investigations into claims that wireless technologies pose health risks or interfere with medical devices, airbags, and hearing aids. Concerns about distractions caused by wireless devices while driving may also prompt new legislation. Any resulting regulations or restrictions could decrease product demand and negatively affect our business and financial performance.

# The current U.S. presidential administration has undertaken significant efforts to cut federal government spending, which could negatively impact our business and results of operations.

The current U.S. presidential administration has recently undertaken significant efforts to cut federal government spending and reorganize the reporting structure for various federal agencies. Funding for specific federal agencies has been cut entirely. The workforces at various federal agencies have been suspended, furloughed, or fired. Any cuts to defense spending could impact our contracts with government entities or any private entities reliant on government contracts. In addition, there could be significant decreases to the number of personnel employed at any federal agency responsible for approving our government contracts of our third parties. Any of the foregoing could significantly negatively impact our business and results of operations, particularly of our Mil/Gov products and product lines now and in the future.

#### Risks Related to Our Common Stock

We recently transferred the trading of our common stock from The Nasdaq Stock Market to the OTCQB. Because our common stock is quoted on the OTC, your ability to sell your shares in the secondary trading market may be limited.

On February 10, 2025, we filed a Form 25 with the SEC to voluntarily delist our common stock from trading on Nasdaq. Our common stock was quoted for trading with the OTCQB of OTC Markets on February 12, 2025. The decision to move common stock trading from Nasdaq to OTC Markets was made to reduce costs and improve operational efficiencies. As a result of the transfer of our common stock from Nasdaq to the OTCQB, we anticipate that our stockholders may face negative consequences related to our securities, including but not limited to:

- limited availability of market quotations for our securities.
- a determination that our common stock is a "penny stock" which will require brokers trading in our securities to adhere to more stringent rules.
- reduced level of trading activity in the secondary trading market for shares of our common stock.
- a limited amount of analyst coverage; and
- decreased ability to issue additional securities or obtain additional financing in the future.

Because our common stock is quoted on the OTCQB, your ability to sell your shares in the secondary trading market may be limited. Since February 12, 2025, the OTCQB is the only trading market for our common stock. We cannot assure our stockholders that our common stock will continue to trade on this market, whether broker-dealers will continue to provide public quotes of our common stock on this market, whether the trading volume of our common stock will be sufficient to provide for respective efficient trading markets or whether quotes for our common stock will continue on this market in the future, which could result in significantly lower trading volumes and reduced liquidity for investors seeking to buy or sell our common stock. As a result, prices for shares of our common stock may be lower than might otherwise prevail if our common stock was listed on a national securities exchange.

## We are subject to penny stock rules which will make the shares of our common stock more difficult to sell.

We are subject to the SEC's "penny stock" rules since our shares of common stock trade below \$5.00 per share and are not traded on a national securities exchange. Penny stocks generally are equity securities with a per share price of less than \$5.00. The penny stock rules require broker-dealers to deliver a standardized risk disclosure document prepared by the SEC that provides information about penny stocks and the nature and level of risks in the penny stock market. The broker-dealer must also provide the customer with current bid and offer quotations for the penny stock, the compensation of the broker-dealer and its salesperson, and monthly account statements showing the market value of each penny stock held in the customer's account. The bid and offer quotations, as well as the broker-dealer and salesperson compensation information, must be given to the customer orally or in writing before completing the transaction and must be given to the customer in writing before or with the customer's confirmation.

In addition, the penny stock rules require that before a transaction the broker-dealer must make a special written determination that the penny stock is a suitable investment for the purchaser and receive the purchaser's written agreement to the transaction. The penny stock rules are burdensome and may reduce purchases of any offerings and reduce the trading activity for shares of our common stock. As long as our shares of common stock are subject to the penny stock rules, the holders of such shares of common stock may find it more challenging to sell their securities.

#### FINRA sales practice requirements may also limit a stockholder's ability to buy and sell our stock.

The Financial Industry Regulatory Authority ("FINRA") has adopted rules that require that in recommending an investment to a customer, a broker-dealer must have reasonable grounds for believing that the investment is suitable for that customer. Prior to recommending speculative low priced securities to their non-institutional customers, broker-dealers must make reasonable efforts to obtain information about the customer's financial status, tax status, investment objectives and other information. Under interpretations of these rules, FINRA believes that there is a high probability that speculatively low priced securities will not be suitable for at least some customers. The FINRA requirements make it more difficult for broker-dealers to recommend that their customers buy our common stock, which may limit your ability to buy and sell our stock and have an adverse effect on the market for our shares.

### Our charter documents and Delaware law could prevent a takeover that stockholders consider favorable and reduce our common stock's market price.

Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and bylaws include provisions that could delay or prevent a change in Vislink Technologies, Inc. control, even if stockholders might favor such a transaction. These provisions include:

- Authorizing the Board to issue preferred stock with rights senior to common stock without stockholder approval.
- Requiring advance notice for stockholder nominations and proposals.

Additionally, we are governed by Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which may restrict mergers or combinations with significant stockholders (those owning 15% or more of voting stock) without prior Board approval for a specified period.

These provisions may discourage takeover attempts, reduce the appeal of our common stock to investors, and result in a lower market price for our shares than might otherwise occur.

We have identified material weaknesses in our internal controls and procedures over financial reporting and have determined that our disclosure controls were ineffective. These represent material weaknesses previously identified which we have not yet been able to remediate. In the future, we may identify additional material weaknesses that may cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations, including timeliness, or result in material misstatements of our financial statements. If we fail to remediate our material weaknesses or implement adequate controls and procedures for our financial reporting, our ability to accurately and timely report our financial results could be adversely affected, which would likely adversely affect the value of our common stock.

We have identified material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting and determined that our disclosure controls were ineffective as of December 31, 2024. Specifically, we lack sufficient accounting personnel to maintain proper segregation of duties and conduct adequate risk assessments, and we have not fully documented the design and operation of our controls. These weaknesses could result in errors in our financial statements or lead to their restatement. We previously identified these material weaknesses but have not yet been able to remediate them.

To address these issues, we are implementing improvements, including:

- Additional review procedures within the accounting and finance departments will be added.
- · Introducing application controls in our accounting systems.
- Establishing appropriate accounting controls and processes.

Until these measures are fully implemented and operated effectively, there is no assurance that we can prevent future errors or meet our financial reporting obligations under Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. Failure to do so could lead to a loss of investor confidence, adversely affect the trading price of our common stock, and restrict future access to capital markets.

### Our stock price may be volatile, and you may not be able to resell shares of our common stock at or above the price you paid.

The trading price of our common stock may be highly volatile and subject to wide fluctuations due to factors beyond our control, including those discussed in this report's "Risk Factors" section. Additionally, broad market fluctuations, especially in the telecommunications sector, could adversely affect our stock price and liquidity.

Stock price volatility has, in the past, led to securities class action litigation against companies. If stockholders file such lawsuits against us, we could incur significant legal costs and distractions to management, negatively impacting our financial position and operations. Adverse rulings in such litigation could also result in substantial liabilities.

Volatile stock prices may also target us for hostile takeover attempts or activist campaigns, which could lead to significant costs and divert executive management's attention from operating the business, further impacting our financial condition.

# We may face various risks associated with shareholder activism or demands for better performance.

On February 12, 2025, Hale Capital Partners, LP ("Hale Capital") filed a Schedule 13D with the SEC, reporting its acquisition of approximately 12% of our outstanding common stock. Between that date, and the date of this filing, Hale Capital filed amendments to the Schedule 13D and various reports on Form 4 under Section 16 of the Exchange Act, disclosing increases in Hale Capital's holdings of our stock. As of the date of this filing, Hale Capital has publicly disclosed beneficial ownership of 376,594 shares, representing approximately 15.26% of our outstanding common stock. As of the date of this filing, we have not received any communication from Hale Capital regarding potential changes to our governance, management, or strategic direction. We may, now or in the future, be subject to shareholder activism or demands for improved performance, which could interfere with the execution of our strategic plan. Such activities may be costly, time-consuming, and disruptive to our operations, diverting the attention of management and employees from business priorities and potentially harming our financial performance and shareholder value.

If securities analysts do not publish research or reports about our business or if they downgrade our common stock or our sector, our common stock price and its trading volume could decline.

The market for our common stock may be influenced by research and reports published by industry or financial analysts. We cannot control whether analysts will cover our stock; a lack of coverage could adversely affect our market price. Analysts may also have limited expertise with our business model, leading to inaccurate or unfavorable reports.

If analysts downgrade our stock, sector, or competitors or cease coverage entirely, we may lose market visibility, resulting in a decline in our stock price and trading volume.

In the future, we could elect to deregister our securities under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Deregistration would result in less disclosure about us and may negatively affect our securities' liquidity and trading prices.

In the future, if eligible to do so, our board of directors (our "Board") may elect to voluntarily deregister our securities under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act,") and suspend our reporting obligations with the SEC. by filing a Form 15 to voluntarily deregister our securities and suspend our reporting obligations under the Exchange Act, if eligible to do so. If the Board approves such deregistration, we would file a Form 15 and our obligations to file reports pursuant to the Exchange Act, including but not limited to periodic reports, such as annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reports on Form 8-K, would be suspended immediately upon the filing of the Form 15 with the SEC. Following any deregistration, we would not expect to publish periodic financial information or furnish such information to our stockholders except as may be required by applicable laws, or stock exchange, or over-the-counter market rules. As a result, our quotations of our securities may be moved from the OTCQB to a "lower tier" of OTC Markets. As a result of any one or more of the foregoing factors, deregistration may result in less disclosure about us and may negatively affect the liquidity and trading prices of our securities.

### **General Risk Factors**

We may fail to meet publicly announced financial guidance or other expectations about our business, which would cause our common stock to decline in value.

Occasionally, we may provide preliminary financial results or forward-looking guidance based on current expectations and assumptions. These statements involve risks and uncertainties, including changes to underlying assumptions or the occurrence of risks related to our performance and business, as discussed in this report.

Failure to meet financial guidance or market expectations regarding our future performance could harm our reputation, reduce investor confidence, and cause our stock price to decline.

### The requirements of being a U.S. public company may strain our resources and divert management's attention.

As a U.S. public company, we must comply with the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Dodd-Frank Act, the rules and requirements of the OTCQB, and other securities regulations. These obligations increase our legal and financial compliance costs, demand additional resources, and make certain activities more time-consuming and costly.

Increased disclosure of our business and financial condition may expose us to litigation threats or claims from competitors and third parties. Even if resolved in our favor, such claims could divert management's attention and resources, negatively impacting our business and operating results.

If securities or industry analysts do not publish or cease publishing research or reports about us, our business, or our market, or if they adversely change their recommendations regarding our common stock, our share price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock is influenced by research and reports published by industry and securities analysts about us, our business, our market, or our competitors. Adverse changes in analyst recommendations regarding our stock or more favorable recommendations about our competitors could cause our stock price to decline.

If analysts cease coverage of our company or fail to publish reports regularly, we may lose visibility in the financial markets, reducing stock price and trading volume.

### Any impairment of goodwill, other intangible assets, or long-lived assets could negatively impact our operations.

Goodwill, intangible assets, and long-lived assets are subject to annual impairment tests or evaluations when events indicate potential impairment. If the carrying value of these assets exceeds their fair value, we must write off the excess during the determination period. Additionally, intangible and long-lived assets are amortized or depreciated over their useful lives, which may accelerate based on circumstances.

Future acquisitions or investments may require recording goodwill, and unforeseen issues with these businesses could reduce anticipated returns or asset values, triggering impairment evaluations. Significant write-offs or accelerated amortization of these assets could adversely impact our operations, financial condition, and results.

If our estimates relating to our critical accounting policies are based on assumptions or judgments that change or prove incorrect, our operating results could fall below the expectations of securities analysts and investors, resulting in a decline in our stock price.

Preparing financial statements under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates, assumptions, and judgments about asset values, liabilities, revenues, and expenses. Based on historical experience and reasonable assumptions, these estimates significantly impact our reported financial results.

If assumptions change or actual results differ from our estimates, our operating results could fall below analysts' and investors' expectations, leading to a decline in our stock price. Key areas involving significant estimates include reserves for receivables and inventories, recoverability of long-lived assets, deferred tax asset valuation allowances, and valuations of equity, derivative instruments, and acquired assets and liabilities. Inaccuracies in these estimates could materially impact our financial performance and condition.

Future sales and issuances of our common stock or rights to purchase our common stock, stock incentive plans, and upon the exercise of outstanding securities exercisable for shares of our common stock could result in substantial additional dilution of our stockholders, cause our stock price to fall and adversely affect our ability to raise capital.

To fund our business plan and research and development efforts, we may issue additional equity securities, including shares of common stock, preferred stock, or securities that are convertible into common stock. These transactions may occur at prices below the current market value, resulting in significant dilution to existing stockholders and potentially causing our stock price to decline. Subsequent sales of common stock could further dilute stockholders who purchased shares in earlier transactions.

Issuing common stock under compensation programs, public or private financings, or exercising stock options and warrants will also dilute existing stockholders. It could negatively affect the market price of our stock. Additionally, holders of warrants and options may exercise them when the market price exceeds the exercise price, which could reduce our ability to raise additional capital or increase the cost of future financing.

The issuance or potential issuance of additional shares may harm our stock price, liquidity, and stockholders' equity value.

### **Risks Relating to Acquisitions**

Our business strategy may include acquisitions, which may entail numerous risks, including management diversion and increased costs and expenses, all of which could negatively affect the Company's profitability.

Our business strategy may include pursuing strategic or opportunistic acquisitions, which entail several risks, including:

- Diversion of management's attention from core operations.
- Significant legal, advisory, and financing costs.
- Unanticipated costs or liabilities, such as environmental or regulatory obligations.
- Difficulties integrating acquired businesses, personnel, and financial systems, delaying expected benefits.
- Disruption of relationships with suppliers and customers.
- Loss of key employees from acquired businesses.

Acquisitions may also require additional debt financing, leading to increased interest expenses or contingent liabilities, and could result in equity issuances that dilute existing stockholders. There is no assurance that we can successfully negotiate or complete acquisitions, obtain required approvals, or realize anticipated synergies or benefits.

If acquisitions are unsuccessful or poorly integrated into our operations, they could adversely affect our profitability, business, financial condition, and cash flow.

## Our acquisition strategy involves several risks.

We actively pursue acquisition opportunities, including those involving businesses with differing operational characteristics from ours. However, acquisitions carry several unique risks, including:

- Failure of the acquired business to meet expectations or impairment of acquired assets.
- Diversion of management's attention from core operations.
- Need for additional financing, which could increase leverage, dilute equity, or both.
- Negative effects on financial statements due to increased goodwill and intangible assets.
- Challenges integrating operations, systems, technologies, and personnel of acquired businesses.
- Initial dependence on unfamiliar supply chains or smaller supply partners.
- Loss of key employees, customers, vendors, or partners after acquisition.
- High costs and resources required to identify, negotiate, and complete acquisitions.
- Unanticipated liabilities or events tied to acquisitions.

Additionally, competition for acquisition candidates may limit opportunities and drive higher acquisition prices. Integration challenges could reduce focus on future acquisitions or core operations, impacting earnings and growth. Future acquisitions may also involve paying premiums above fair value or incurring additional debt, potentially adversely affecting our operations and financial condition results.

#### Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None

### Item 1C. Cybersecurity

### Risk Management and Strategy

Managing Material Risks & Integrated Overall Risk Management

We are developing processes to assess, identify, and manage material risks from cybersecurity threats to the IT systems and information we create, use, transmit, receive, and maintain. We also seek to integrate these processes and policies into our overall enterprise risk management system and processes. The processes for assessing, identifying, and managing material risks from cybersecurity threats, including threats associated with our use of third-party service providers, include our efforts to identify the relevant assets that could be affected, determine possible threat sources and threat events, assess threats based on their potential likelihood and impact, and identify controls that are in place or necessary to manage and/or mitigate such risks

### Engage Third Parties in Risk Management

We engage a range of external experts, including consultants and cybersecurity assessors, who assist us in evaluating and testing our cybersecurity systems and processes. These engagements are intended to give us access to specialized knowledge and insights to inform our cybersecurity strategies and processes, including industry-standard control frameworks and applicable regulations, laws, and standards.

### Oversee Third-Party Risk

The Company has implemented stringent security assessments before engagement and ongoing monitoring throughout partnerships to address risks associated with third-party service providers. We've also enhanced our contractual requirements to align third-party security practices with our standards.

### Risks from Cybersecurity Threats

The Company has not experienced any material cybersecurity incidents, and expenses related to minor incidents have remained immaterial. However, as highlighted in "Risk Factors" in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report, cybersecurity threats continue to pose significant risks to our operations and financial condition. These risks are amplified as cyber threats become more sophisticated and coordinated. We have invested in monitoring tools, security infrastructure, and employee training programs to mitigate risks and adapt to this evolving landscape.

#### Governance

### Board of Directors Oversight

Our Board continues to oversee management's identification and management of cybersecurity risks. The Audit Committee of the Board (the "Audit Committee") is responsible for cybersecurity risk oversight and meets at least annually with management to review risk assessments, ongoing initiatives, and key learnings from incidents. In 2024, the Audit Committee adopted enhanced reporting protocols to ensure timely and transparent updates on cybersecurity matters.

### Management's Role in Managing Risk

Our Global IT Manager, with over 34 years of IT-related experience, continues to lead our information security efforts, working closely with third-party experts and consultants, and regularly briefs our CFO on any related matters. Our CFO then ensures the Audit Committee is regularly briefed on cybersecurity matters, including risks, initiatives, and incidents.

Throughout 2024, management has prioritized the following:

- Conducting advanced employee training programs that include phishing simulations and scenario-based threat responses.
- Enhancing security monitoring and incident response plans.
- Updating encryption protocols and performing regular system updates to address potential vulnerabilities.

### Risk Management Personnel

The Global IT Manager oversees all vendor-related cybersecurity work, focusing on process evolution, risk remediation, and employee training. Training efforts now include quarterly updates on emerging threats such as AI-enabled phishing and ransomware attacks. Our ongoing business continuity and disaster recovery plans complement these measures.

#### Monitor Cybersecurity Incidents

Our IT team employs advanced monitoring tools to identify and address vulnerabilities promptly. No material cybersecurity incidents were identified in 2024, and our incident response plan effectively addresses and mitigates risks. These processes include detailed documentation, root cause analysis, and continuous updates to our response strategy.

## Reporting to the Board of Directors

The Global IT Manager promptly escalates significant cybersecurity matters to the CFO and the Audit Committee, ensuring that the Board remains fully informed. Regular updates to the Audit Committee include detailed discussions on system performance, risk exposure, and planned mitigation strategies.

## Item 2. Properties

### Poway, CA Facilities

January 2025 Lease

On January 24, 2025, the Company entered a sublease agreement for 7,155 square feet within the Poway, California facility. This space will primarily be used for equipment testing.

March 2024 Lease

Included in the September 14, 2023, acquisition of assets from BMS was a sublease of approximately 11,715 square feet of general office use facilities previously held under a six-month agreement with BMS, with lease responsibilities conveyed to our subsidiary Vislink Poway, LLC. This space is primarily used for light manufacturing.

# Mount Olive, NJ

On November 1, 2021, the Company entered into a lease agreement with a non-affiliated third party to rent approximately 7,979 square feet of commercial space in Mount Olive, NJ, for general business offices (including our corporate headquarters), light manufacturing, operating a testing laboratory, assembly, and inventory storage.

We believe that our facilities are adequate for our current needs.

## Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The nature of our business and activities are such that we may face frequent claims and litigation, including securities litigation, claims regarding patent and other intellectual property rights, and other liability claims. As a result, we may be involved in various legal proceedings from time to time. We are not currently a party to any material litigation, nor are we aware of any pending or threatened litigation against us that we believe, if adversely determined against us, would materially affect our business, operating results, financial condition, or cash flows.

# Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

## PART II

## Item 5. The market for Registrant's Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Our common stock has been quoted for trading on the OTCQB under the symbol "VISL" since February 12, 2025. Previously, our common stock was traded on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol "VISL".

## Holders

As of April 30, 2025, 2,467,618 shares of common stock were outstanding, held by 20 shareholders of record.

Our transfer agent and registrar are Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company, 17 Battery Place, 8th Floor, New York, New York 10004.

## **Dividend Policy**

We have never declared or paid any cash dividend on our common stock. We intend to retain any future earnings and do not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

## Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

Reference is made to "Item 12." Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management" for the information this item requires.

## **Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities**

None.

# Item 6. [Reserved]

#### Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition to historical financial information, the following discussion contains forward-looking statements based on current plans, expectations, and beliefs that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements due to various factors, including but not limited to factors discussed in the "Risk Factors" section and other parts of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

### **Overview**

Vislink Technologies, Inc., is a global technology business that collects, delivers, and manages high-quality, live video and associated data from the action scene to the viewing screen. We provide RF and 5G solutions for collecting live news, sports, entertainment, and news events for the broadcast, surveillance, and defense markets with real-time video intelligence using a range of transmission products. Our team also provides professional and technical services utilizing a staff of technology experts with decades of applied knowledge and real-world experience in terrestrial microwave, fiber optic, surveillance, and wireless communications systems, delivering a broad spectrum of customer solutions.

On February 10, 2025, we filed a Form 25 with the SEC to voluntarily delist our common stock from The Nasdaq Capital Market. Our common stock became quoted for trading with the OTCQB of OTC Markets on February 12, 2025. The decision to move trading of the common stock from Nasdaq to OTC Markets was made to reduce costs and improve operational efficiencies.

On February 12, 2025, Hale Capital Partners, LP ("Hale Capital") filed a Schedule 13D with the SEC, reporting its acquisition of approximately 12% of the Company's outstanding common stock. Between that date, and the date of this filing, Hale Capital filed amendments to the Schedule 13D and various reports on Form 4 under Section 16 of the Exchange Act, disclosing increases in Hale Capital's holdings of our stock. As of the date of this filing, Hale Capital has publicly disclosed beneficial ownership of 376,594 shares, representing approximately 15.26% of our outstanding common stock. As of the date of this filing, the Company has not received any communication from Hale Capital regarding potential changes to its governance, management, or strategic direction.

#### Live Broadcast:

We deliver an extensive portfolio of solutions for live news, sports, and entertainment industries. These solutions include video collection, transmission, management, and distribution via RF, cellular, IP (Internet Protocol), MESH, and bonded cellular/5G networks. We also provide solutions utilizing AI (Artificial Intelligence) technologies to provide automated news and sporting events coverage. With over 50 years in operation, we have the expertise and technology portfolio to deliver fully integrated, seamless, end-to-end solutions encompassing hardware components, hosted systems management platforms, related software licenses, and ancillary support services.

Industry-wide contributors acknowledge our live broadcast solutions. Our equipment transmits most outside wireless broadcast video content, with over 200,000 systems installed worldwide. We work closely with the majority of the world's broadcasters. Our wireless cameras and ultra-compact encoders help bring many of the world's most prestigious sporting and entertainment events to life. Examples include globally watched international sporting contests, award shows, racing events, and annual music and cultural events.

#### Military and Government:

We have developed high-quality RF and 5G solutions to meet surveillance and defense markets' operational and industry challenges based on our knowledge of live video delivery. Our solutions are designed explicitly with interagency cooperation, utilizing the internationally recognized IP platform and a web interface for video delivery. We provide comprehensive video, audio, and data communications solutions to law enforcement and the public safety community, including Airborne, Uncrewed Systems, Maritime, and Tactical Mobile Command Posts. These solutions may include:

- · integrated suites of airborne downlink transmitters, receivers, and antenna systems
- data and video connectivity for airborne, marine, and ground assets
- UAV video distribution
- flexible support for RF and bonded cellular/5G Networks
- terrestrial point-to-point
- tactical mobile command
- IP-based, high-end encryption, full-duplex, real-time connectivity at extended operating ranges
- high-throughput air/marine/ground-to-anywhere uplink and downlink systems
- · secure live streaming platforms for use in mobile and fixed assets, and
- personal portable products

Our public safety and surveillance solutions are deployed worldwide, including throughout the U.S., Europe, and the Middle East, at the local, regional, and federal levels of operation for criminal investigation, crisis management, mobile command posts, and field operations. These solutions are designed to meet the demands of ground operations, command centers, and central receiving sites. Short-range and long-range solutions are available in areas including established infrastructure and exceptionally remote regions, making valuable video intelligence available regardless of location.

#### Connected Edge Solutions:

Vislink offers hardware and software solutions to acquire, produce, contribute to, and deliver video across all private and public networks. Connected edge solutions aid the video transport concept of ubiquitous IP networks and cloud-scale computing across 5G, WiFi6, Mesh, and COFDM-enabled networks. These solutions include:

- live video encoding, stream adaptation, decoding, and production solutions
- · remote production workflows
- · wireless cameras
- AI-driven automated production and
- · the ability to contribute video over
  - o bonded cellular (3G, 4G, 5G)
  - o satellite
  - o fiber
- emerging networks, including Starlink

### Geopolitical Conflicts and Climate Change

### Geopolitical Risks:

As of December 31, 2024, there were no significant developments in the Ukraine/Russia and Israel/Hamas conflicts that directly impact the Company's business or operations. The Company has no direct operations, revenue streams, or physical presence in these regions. However, we actively monitor potential indirect impacts on our global supply chain and business continuity, such as increased transportation costs or disruptions in our suppliers' operations. Any material changes or updates will be disclosed as necessary.

## Climate Change Initiatives:

The Company is deeply committed to addressing the challenges and opportunities posed by climate change. Although the direct financial impact of climate change on our operations was not material in fiscal 2024, we have taken steps to enhance sustainability and resilience.

These efforts include:

- · Improving energy efficiency across our facilities.
- Actively exploring renewable energy integration.
- Developing innovative solutions to reduce our carbon footprint.

These initiatives reflect our dedication to environmental sustainability and corporate responsibility.

The geopolitical conflicts and climate change initiatives described earlier did not materially affect our financial or operational performance for fiscal 2024. However, we monitor these factors closely to ensure we remain agile in managing potential risks.

## Financial and Operational Impact of the 2024 Restructuring

During the fiscal year ending December 31, 2024, the Company undertook a management-led restructuring initiative, as disclosed in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2024. This initiative included closing our Poway, California manufacturing facility and transferring UK manufacturing operations to Mount Olive, New Jersey. These actions were taken to streamline operations, reduce costs, and enhance long-term profitability.

As a result of these restructuring activities, the Company recognized one-time expenses in the fourth quarter of 2024, including severance and lease termination costs in the amount of \$0.5 million. In addition, the Company recorded impairments totaling \$6.5 million, consisting of:

- \$6.0 million in inventory impairment due to product rationalization and adjustments to align with the Company's revised operational footprint.
- \$0.3 million in intangible asset impairment following a reassessment of certain non-core assets.
- \$0.2 million in right-of-use (ROU) operating asset impairment, primarily related to facility closures and lease modifications.

These financial impacts were non-recurring and necessary to achieve the intended operational efficiencies. The Company does not anticipate material ongoing disruptions to operations or significant additional restructuring-related costs in future periods.

## Outlook

The Company engaged in a robust restructuring initiative which was completed in the fourth quarter of 2024. These changes were made to improve operational efficiencies, streamline production workflows, reduce overhead costs, and enhance overall operational resilience.

## **Income Taxes**

Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), a corporation that undergoes an "ownership change"—generally defined as a greater than 50 percentage point change in equity ownership by certain stockholders or groups of stockholders—is subject to limitations on its ability to use pre-change net operating losses ("NOLs") to offset future taxable income. Similar restrictions may apply under state tax laws.

The Company has experienced ownership changes in the ordinary course of business, limiting our ability to utilize these NOLs in the future. Consequently, it is likely that these NOLs will not be realized and will expire unused. As a result, a total valuation allowance has been recorded against the entire NOL balance.

## **Results of Operations**

The following table sets forth the items in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss of the financial statements included herewith for the fiscal years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023 (in thousands).

		For the Years Ended December 31,		
	202	4	2023	
Revenue, net	\$	27,729 \$	27,482	
Cost of revenue and operating expenses	-		•	
Cost of revenue:				
Cost of components and personnel		13,955	13,380	
Inventory impairments and valuation write-downs		6,828	487	
Total cost of revenue		20,783	13,867	
Operating expenses:				
General and administrative expenses		21,596	19,376	
Research and development		4,561	3,493	
Restructuring costs		489	_	
Impairment of right-of-use operating assets		168	83	
Impairment of intangible assets		330	_	
Depreciation and amortization		1,310	1,261	
Total operating expenses	-	28,454	24,213	
Total cost of revenue and operating expenses		49,237	38,080	
Loss from operations		(21,508)	(10,598)	
Other income (expenses)	·			
Unrealized gain on investments in debt securities held to maturity		(25)	68	
Realized loss of investments in debt securities		(24)	(82)	
Other income		400	332	
Dividend income		211	375	
Interest income (expense), net		300	560	
Total other income		862	1,253	
Net loss before income taxes	\$	(20,646) \$	(9,345)	

## Revenue

For the fiscal year ending December 31, 2024, revenue increased to \$27.8 million from \$27.5 million for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2023. This approximate increase of \$0.3 million is primarily attributable to expanded market reach, improved operational efficiencies, new product development—including AeroLink and DragonFly V—and the benefits of integrating the UK manufacturing operations into our U.S. facilities. Additionally, increased sales to military and government customers contributed to revenue growth, while operational improvements from our new ERP system helped enhance order fulfillment and efficiency.

# Cost of Revenue and Operating Expenses

## Cost of Components and Personnel

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, cost of components and personnel increased to \$14.0 million compared to \$13.4 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023. This \$0.6 million increase primarily reflects expanded market reach, new product development, and increased production demands associated with modest revenue growth.

Strategically, the Company continued optimizing its operations, including the relocation of U.K. manufacturing operations to the United States in 2024, aiming to consolidate production and improve supply chain efficiency. These measures contributed to better operations control and cost management.

#### Inventory Impairments and Valuation Write-Downs

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, inventory impairments and valuation write-downs totaled \$6.8 million, compared to \$0.5 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023. This \$6.3 million increase primarily resulted from the Company's strategic decision to discontinue certain legacy product lines and the relocation of its manufacturing operations, which triggered write-downs of obsolete and slow-moving inventory.

#### General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses were \$21.6 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, compared to \$19.4 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023. The \$2.2 million increase was primarily due to higher salaries and benefits (\$1.1 million), increased bad debt expense (\$0.5 million), and additional bank fees, legal fees, commissions, taxes, licenses, and computer expenses (approximately \$0.3 million each). These increases were partially offset by a \$0.9 million reduction in stock-based compensation expense.

#### Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses increased to \$4.6 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, compared to \$3.5 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023. The \$1.1 million increase was primarily driven by greater investment in new product innovation, including a \$0.4 million rise in miscellaneous expenses, a \$0.3 million increase in salaries and benefits, and \$0.2 million increases each in professional services and general research initiatives.

### Restructuring and Impairment Charges

#### Restructuring Costs:

Restructuring costs of \$0.5 million were recorded for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, compared to none in the prior year. These charges were associated with the Company's broader restructuring initiative launched in November 2024, aimed at streamlining operations, consolidating manufacturing activities, and reducing overhead expenses.

## Impairment of Right-of-Use Operating Assets:

The Company recorded \$0.2 million in impairment charges for right-of-use operating assets for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, compared to \$0.1 million for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023. These impairments were primarily driven by the Company's decision to exit or modify certain leased facilities, reducing the expected recoverable value of these assets.

### Impairment of Intangible Assets:

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, impairment charges for intangible assets were \$0.3 million. No impairment of intangible assets was recorded for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023. The impairment charges reflect reassessments of the expected future cash flows for certain non-core intangible assets.

### Net Loss

Net losses for the years ended December 31, 2014, and 2023 were \$20.5 million and \$9.1 million, respectively, representing an increase of \$11.4 million.

The increase in net loss was primarily driven by a \$6.8 million in inventory impairments and valuation write-downs, \$0.5 million in restructuring costs associated with the Company's November 2024 restructuring initiative, and additional impairments of intangible and right-of-use assets totaling \$0.5 million. Higher research and development expenses of \$1.1 million and a \$2.2 million increase in general and administrative costs also contributed to the increase, partially offset by modest revenue growth of \$0.5 million.

#### Liquidity and Capital Resources

For the fiscal year ending December 31, 2024, we incurred an operational loss of approximately \$21.5 million and utilized \$6.8 million in cash for operating activities. As of December 31, 2024, we had \$5.5 million in cash and an investment in Federal bonds valued at \$1.0 million.

On November 12, 2024, the Board approved a plan to restructure certain business operations. In connection with this plan, the Company has begun implementing actions such as workforce reductions and facility closures. These initiatives are intended to strengthen the Company's financial position by eliminating underperforming product lines, consolidating redundant manufacturing operations, and reducing associated headcount and cash outflows. The Company anticipates that, as a result of these operational changes, it will generate positive cash flow in the near future.

Our ability to fund operations will depend on various factors, including economic conditions, inflation, foreign exchange fluctuations, market competition, strategic initiatives, research and development activities, regulatory developments, and technology advancements. While these factors may cause us to consume available capital at a faster rate than expected, based on our current operating plan, we believe we have sufficient liquidity to fund operations for at least 12 months from the date of filing these financial statements.

Our cash balances were as follows (in thousands):

	For the Years Ended December 31,					
	2024			2023		
Cash and cash equivalanets	\$	5,501	\$	8,482		
		,				
Cash Flows						
		For the Years End	ded Decer	nber 31,		
		2024		2023		
Net cash used in operating activities	\$	(6,842)	\$	(9,748)		
Net cash provided (used) in investment activities		4,482		(6,700)		
Net cash used by financing activities		(454)		(607)		
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash		(167)		(90)		
		(		<u> </u>		
Net decrease in cash	\$	(2,981)	\$	(17,145)		

#### **Operating Activities**

During the fiscal year ending December 31, 2024, the Company reported net cash outflows of approximately \$6.8 million from operating activities. The primary factors influencing operating cash flows included a \$2.0 million decrease in accounts receivable, a \$1.0 million increase in deferred revenue and customer deposits, and a \$0.6 million increase in accrued expenses and interest expense. These were partially offset by a \$0.5 million reduction in operating lease liabilities and a \$0.8 million decrease in accounts payable.

Additionally, the Company recorded \$1.0 million in stock-based compensation, \$6.5 million in impairments (including inventory, intangible assets, and right-of-use operating assets), and \$1.3 million in depreciation and amortization while reporting a net loss of \$20.5 million. These amounts reflect the most significant changes impacting operating activities, while other fluctuations were not material

During the fiscal year ending December 31, 2023, the Company reported net cash outflows from operating activities totaling approximately \$9.7 million. This was primarily due to a \$2.7 million increase in accounts receivable and a \$2.3 million rise in inventory, both of which aimed to enhance our market position and prepare for expected demand. These increases were partially offset by the recognition of \$1.9 million in stock-based compensation, \$1.3 million in depreciation and amortization expenses, and a net loss of \$9.1 million.

## Investing Activities

During the fiscal year ending December 31, 2024, the Company recorded net cash provided by investing activities of approximately \$4.5 million. This primarily resulted from \$6.0 million in proceeds from the redemption of government bond investments, partially offset by \$0.9 million in new government bond purchases and \$0.5 million in capital expenditures for property and equipment.

During the year ending December 31, 2023, the Company recorded approximately \$6.7 million in net cash used for investing activities to strengthen its asset portfolio via investments and acquisitions. These expenditures entailed an allocation of \$15.5 million towards government bond investments, augmented by specific investments in property and equipment valued at \$0.7 million and the strategic BMS asset acquisition for \$0.3 million. These outlays were offset by \$9.7 million from redeeming some government bond investments.

## Financing Activities

During the year ending December 31, 2024, the Company recorded approximately \$0.5 million in net cash for financing activities, mainly due to principal payments on the Company's Directors and Officers (D&O) insurance policy.

During the year ending December 31, 2023, the Company recorded approximately \$0.6 million in net cash for financing activities, mainly due to principal payments on the Company's Directors and Officers (D&O) insurance policy.

## Nasdaq and OTC Markets Compliance

As of December 31, 2024, the Company fully complied with all applicable Nasdaq listing requirements.

On February 10, 2025, we filed a Form 25 with the SEC to voluntarily delist our common stock from The Nasdaq Capital Market. Our common stock became quoted for trading with the OTCQB of OTC Markets on February 12, 2025. The decision to move trading of the common stock from Nasdaq to OTC Markets was made to reduce costs and improve operational efficiencies.

#### **Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements**

We had no off-balance sheet arrangements for December 31, 2024, and 2023.

#### **Critical Accounting Estimates**

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenses. Management has identified the following accounting estimates as critical due to the high degree of judgment and estimation uncertainty involved, particularly in light of conditions that existed during the year ended December 31, 2024. For the year ended December 31, 2024, these estimates materially impacted areas such as impairment of long-lived assets and inventory valuation. Different assumptions could have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations.

#### Revenue Recognition

Revenue recognition may involve critical accounting estimates when contracts include multiple performance obligations or customized deliverables, requiring management to exercise judgment in allocating transaction price and determining the timing of revenue recognition. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company's assessment of performance obligations and transfer of control impacted the timing and amount of revenue recognized in certain customer contracts. Changes in these judgments could materially affect the period in which revenue is reported.

#### Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates long-lived assets for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. This is a critical accounting estimate due to the significant assumptions involved in forecasting future cash flows, including expectations around revenue, operating costs, and asset utilization. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recorded impairment charges related to right-of-use assets for abandoned facilities and recognized an impairment of intangible assets associated with the Poway operation as part of its restructuring initiative. These estimates are sensitive to changes in restructuring outcomes, facility closures, and projected market conditions. Revisions to these assumptions could materially impact future impairment charges and the carrying value of long-lived assets.

#### Inventory Valuation

The valuation of inventory is a critical accounting estimate that involves significant judgment in determining reserves for excess and obsolete inventory and adjustments to net realizable value. These judgments are based on assumptions about current and future product demand, technological changes, and the Company's strategic direction. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company's restructuring activities, including consolidation of manufacturing operations and discontinuation of certain product lines, increased the level of uncertainty around inventory recoverability. Changes in these assumptions could result in material adjustments to the carrying value of inventory.

#### Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under ASC 740 using the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for temporary differences and measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply in future periods. The Company evaluates the realizability of deferred tax assets each reporting period. Given the Company's historical and current operating losses, management determined that a full valuation allowance was appropriate for all deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2024. This assessment requires significant judgment and projection of future taxable income. Changes in operations, tax law, or the economic environment may materially impact these estimates and the associated valuation allowance.

#### Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

There is no requirement to include the disclosures required under Item 7A as a smaller reporting company under SEC rules.

## Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The Company's audited financial statements and notes appear in this report beginning on page F-1.

#### Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

#### Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

#### (a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified by SEC rules and forms. These controls also ensure that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (collectively, the "Certifying Officers"), to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosures.

As of December 31, 2024, our management, including our Certifying Officers, supervised and evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act. Based on this evaluation, our Certifying Officers concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were ineffective at the reasonable assurance level due to the material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting described below.

#### (b) Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act. This internal control system is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and preparing financial statements for external purposes under GAAP.

Our internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures that:

- 1. Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect our transactions and asset dispositions.
- 2. Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of financial statements under GAAP and that our receipts and expenditures are made only under the authorizations of management and directors.
- 3. Provide reasonable assurance regarding preventing or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Due to inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any effectiveness evaluation to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, using the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in "Internal Control-Integrated Framework" (2013). Based on this assessment, management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was ineffective due to the following material weaknesses:

- 1. Insufficient Accounting Personnel: We do not employ an adequate number of accounting personnel to ensure proper segregation of duties and to conduct a tolerable risk assessment
- 2. Inadequate Documentation: We have not adequately documented a complete assessment of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our internal control over financial reporting.
- 3. Insufficient Controls: We do not have appropriate controls around provisioning of access including assigning business users to privileged access and lack of user access reviews.

Despite these material weaknesses, management, including our Certifying Officers, believes that the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report fairly present, in all material respects, our financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows for the periods presented, in conformity with GAAP.

### (c) Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

We are actively engaged in remediation efforts to address the identified material weaknesses. These efforts include enhancing the supervisory review of our accounting procedures and increasing the number of qualified accounting personnel to improve the segregation of duties and risk assessment processes.

During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, we made the following changes to our internal control over financial reporting:

- Implemented enhanced supervisory review procedures within our accounting department.
- Initiated the recruitment of additional qualified accounting personnel to strengthen our internal control framework.

These changes are intended to help us in attempting to remediate the material weaknesses identified above and to enhance the overall effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting.

## (d) Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

As a smaller reporting company, this Annual Report does not include an attestation report of our registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting. Under SEC rules, such companies can only provide management's report on internal control over financial reporting in this Annual Report.

#### Item 9B. Other Information

#### Director and Officer Trading Plans and Arrangements

During the three months ended December 31, 2024, none of our directors or officers adopted, made certain modifications or terminated a "Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement" or "non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement," as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K.

## Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

None.

#### PART III

#### Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance

The information required by Item 10 is incorporated into this Report by reference to the information that will be contained in our proxy statement related to the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or an amendment to this Annual Report, which we intend to file with the SEC within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year.

## Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by Item 10 is incorporated into this Report by reference to the information that will be contained in our proxy statement related to the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or an amendment to this Annual Report, which we intend to file with the SEC within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year.

#### Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

The information required by Item 12 is incorporated into this Report by reference to the information that will be contained in our proxy statement related to the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or an amendment to this Annual Report, which we intend to file with the SEC within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year.

## Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by Item 13 is incorporated into this Report by reference to the information that will be contained in our proxy statement related to the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or an amendment to this Annual Report, which we intend to file with the SEC within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year.

#### Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by Item 14 is incorporated into this Report by reference to the information that will be contained in our proxy statement related to the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders or an amendment to this Annual Report, which we intend to file with the SEC within 120 days of the end of our fiscal year.

#### PART IV

#### Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

- (a) The following documents are filed as part of this Report:
  - (1) Financial Statements:

The audited consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, changes in stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2024, the footnotes to it, and the report of Marcum LLP, independent registered public accountants, are filed herewith.

(2) Financial Schedules:

None

Financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable, or the required information is included in the financial statements or notes.

(3) Exhibits:

The exhibits listed in the accompanying index to exhibits are filed or incorporated by reference as part of this Report.

(b) The following are exhibits to this Report, and, if incorporated by reference, we have indicated the document previously filed with the SEC in which the exhibit was included.

Certain agreements filed as exhibits to this Report contain representations and warranties by the parties to the agreements made solely for the agreement's benefit. These representations and warranties:

- may have been qualified by disclosures that were made to the other parties in connection with the negotiation of the agreements, which disclosures are not necessarily reflected in the contracts:
- may apply standards of materiality that differ from those of a reasonable investor; and
- the agreements were made only as specified dates and subject to subsequent developments and changed circumstances.

Accordingly, these representations and warranties may not describe the actual state of affairs as of the date that these representations and warranties were made or at any other time. Investors should not rely on them as statements of fact.

## EXHIBITS TO BE ADDRESS BY ATTORNEYS

	Description of Exhibit
mended & Restate	Certificate of Incorporation, incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1 No. 333-191867, as filed with the
ommission on Octo	
	cate of Incorporation, incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with Commission on June 13, 2014. cate of Incorporation, incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with Commission on July 20, 2015.
mended and Resta	de Certificate of Designation of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, as no ne February 10, 2016.
	tion of Series C Convertible Preferred Stock, incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with Commission on
	tion of Series D Convertible Preferred Stock, incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with Commission on
ertificate of Design	tion of Series E Convertible Preferred Stock, incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with Commission on
ertificate of Desigon mmission on Nov	ation of the Series A Preferred Stock of the Company, incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with mber 9, 2022.
ertificate of Elimin	tion for Series C Convertible Preferred Stock, incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with Commission on
ertificate of Elimine ecember 7, 2016.	tion for Series B Convertible Preferred Stock, incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with Commission on
	ation for Series D Preferred Stock of the Company, incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with
	ation for Series E Preferred Stock of the Company, incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with
	ation for Series A Preferred Stock of the Company, incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with
	cate of Incorporation, incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with Commission on June 20, 2016.
ertificate of Amer	ment to Certificate of Incorporation of the Company incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with
ommission on Febrertificate of Amen ommission on Aug	ment to the Certificate of Incorporation of the Company, incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with
	nent to the Certificate of Incorporation, incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with Commission on April
	stated Bylaws, incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with Commission on August 20, 2021.
	ck Certificate of the Registrant, incorporated by reference to the Company's Amendment to the Registration Statement on Form S-1 No. 333-187094, mission on May 21, 2013.
	ncluding Form of Common Warrant and Form of Pre-Funded Warrant from July 2019 Offering, incorporated by reference to the Company's Current as filed with Commission on July 16, 2019.
	v Incentive Plan, incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-8 No. 333-274366, as filed with Commission on
mployment Agreer	ent by and between the Company and Carleton M. Miller, incorporated by reference to the Company's Amendment to the Current Report on Form 8- minission on January 25, 2020
otice of Grant of S	ock Option for Time-Vested Options and Stock Option Agreement by and between the Company and Carleton M. Miller, incorporated by reference to dment to the Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with Commission on January 25, 2020
otice of Grant of	ock Option for Performance-Vested Options and Stock Option Agreement by and between the Company and Carleton M. Miller, incorporated by any's Amendment to the Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with Commission on January 25, 2020
	etween the Company and Michael Bond, incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with Commission on
	ard Agreement between the Company and Michael Bond, incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, as filed with
orm of Indemnifica	in Agreement by and between the Company and its officers and directors, incorporated by reference to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K becember 31, 2019, as filed with the Commission on April 1, 2020
on-Employee Dire	or Compensation Policy, incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2020 as sision on November 12, 2020.
orm of Non-Empl	stellow in November 12, 2020.  yee Director Restricted Shares Agreement, incorporated by reference to the Company's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended is filed with the Commission on November 12, 2020.
mployment Agreer	ent by and between Vislink Technologies, Inc. and Michael Bond, dated as of February 24, 2025, incorporated by reference to the Company's Current iled with Commission on February 28, 2025
sider Trading Police	
ist of Subsidiaries	pal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
	pal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
	pal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
	pal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
lawback Policy, inc	rporated by reference to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, filed with Commission April 3, 2024.
line XBRL Instanc	
line XBRL Taxon	•
	e Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document)
ertification of Prin- lawback Policy, inc line XBRL Instand line XBRL Taxond line XBRL Taxond line XBRL Taxond line XBRL Taxond line XBRL Taxond	pal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 proporated by reference to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, filed with Comm Document any Schema pursuant to Section 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, filed with Comm Document any Schema pursuant to Section 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, filed with Comm Document any Schema pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 proportion 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, filed with Comm Document any Schema pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 proportion 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, filed with Comm Document any Schema pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 proportion 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023, filed with Comm Document any Schema pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 proportion 906 proportion 9

42

Filed herewith

## SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirement of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

## VISLINK TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

Date: May 2, 2025

By: /s/ Carleton M. Miller

Carleton M. Miller

Chief Executive Officer

(Duly Authorized Officer and Principal Executive Officer)

Date: May 2, 2025

By: /s/ Michael C. Bond

Michael C. Bond Chief Financial Officer

(Duly Authorized Officer and Principal Financial Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the

Signature	Title	Date
/s/ Carleton M. Miller Carleton M. Miller	Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)	May 2, 2025
/s/ Michael C. Bond Michael C. Bond	Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)	May 2, 2025
/s/ Susan G. Swenson Susan G. Swenson	Chairman of the Board of Directors	May 2, 2025
/s/ Jude T. Panetta Jude T. Panetta	Director	May 2, 2025
/s/ Ralph E. Faison Ralph E. Faison	Director	May 2, 2025
/s/ Brian K. Krolicki Brian K. Krolicki	Director	May 2, 2025
	43	

# VISLINK TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES December 31, 2024, and 2023

	Page
Consolidated Financial Statements	
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID Number 688)	F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets	F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss	F-4
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity	F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows	F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	F-8
F-1	

#### REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of

#### Vislink Technologies, Inc.

#### **Opinion on the Financial Statements**

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Vislink Technologies, Inc. (the "Company") as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, change in stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2024, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

#### **Basis for Opinion**

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our commitment is to express an opinion on the Company's financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

#### **Critical Audit Matters**

Critical audit matters are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. We determined that there are no critical audit matters.

/s/ Marcum LLP

Marcum LLP

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2015

New York, NY May 1, 2025

## VISLINK TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA)

ASSETS  Current assets  Cash and cash equivalents  Accounts receivable, net Inventories, net Inventories, net Investments held to maturity Prepaid expenses and other current assets  Total current assets  Right of use assets, operating leases Property and equipment, net Intangible assets, net  Total assets  LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY  Current liabilities	2024  5,501 5,958 7,563 995 1,302 21,319 297 1,984 2,578 26,178	\$	8,482 8,680 14,029 5,731 1,560 38,482 742 1,902 3,866 44,992
Current assets  Cash and cash equivalents Accounts receivable, net Inventories, net Investments held to maturity Prepaid expenses and other current assets  Total current assets  Right of use assets, operating leases Property and equipment, net Intangible assets, net  Total assets  S  LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY	5,958 7,563 995 1,302 21,319 297 1,984 2,578 26,178		8,680 14,029 5,731 1,560 38,482 742 1,902 3,866
Cash and cash equivalents Accounts receivable, net Inventories, net Investments held to maturity Prepaid expenses and other current assets Total current assets Right of use assets, operating leases Property and equipment, net Intangible assets, net Total assets  LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY	5,958 7,563 995 1,302 21,319 297 1,984 2,578 26,178		8,680 14,029 5,731 1,560 38,482 742 1,902 3,866
Accounts receivable, net Investments held to maturity Prepaid expenses and other current assets Total current assets Right of use assets, operating leases Property and equipment, net Intangible assets, net Total assets  LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY	5,958 7,563 995 1,302 21,319 297 1,984 2,578 26,178		8,680 14,029 5,731 1,560 38,482 742 1,902 3,866
Inventories, net Investments held to maturity Prepaid expenses and other current assets Total current assets Right of use assets, operating leases Property and equipment, net Intangible assets, net Total assets  LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY	7,563 995 1,302 21,319 297 1,984 2,578 26,178	\$	14,029 5,731 1,560 38,482 742 1,902 3,866
Investments held to maturity Prepaid expenses and other current assets Total current assets Right of use assets, operating leases Property and equipment, net Intangible assets, net Total assets  LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY	995 1,302 21,319 297 1,984 2,578 26,178	<u>\$</u>	5,731 1,560 38,482 742 1,902 3,866
Prepaid expenses and other current assets  Total current assets  Right of use assets, operating leases  Property and equipment, net Intangible assets, net  Total assets  \$ LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY	1,302 21,319 297 1,984 2,578 26,178	\$	1,560 38,482 742 1,902 3,866
Total current assets Right of use assets, operating leases Property and equipment, net Intangible assets, net Total assets  LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY	21,319 297 1,984 2,578 26,178	\$	38,482 742 1,902 3,866
Right of use assets, operating leases  Property and equipment, net Intangible assets, net  Total assets  LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY	297 1,984 2,578 26,178	\$	742 1,902 3,866
Property and equipment, net Intangible assets, net Total assets  LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY	1,984 2,578 26,178	\$	1,902 3,866
Intangible assets, net Total assets  LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY	2,578 26,178	\$	3,866
Total assets   LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY	26,178	\$	
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY	<del>,</del>	\$	44,992
	2,422		
	2,422		
V 11 1 V 11 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	2,422		
Accounts payable \$		\$	3,183
Accrued expenses	2,153		1,578
Notes payable	56		
Operating lease obligations, current	459		463
Accrued restructuring costs	421		_
Customer deposits and deferred revenue	2,768		1,490
Total current liabilities	8,279		6,714
Operating lease obligations, net of current portion	291		755
Deferred tax liabilities	401		546
Total liabilities	8,971		8,015
Commitments and contingencies (See Note 20)			
Series A Preferred stock, \$0.00001 par value per share: -0- shares authorized on December 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively; -0- and shares issued and outstanding on December 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively.	_		_
Stockholders' equity			
Preferred stock, \$0.00001 par value per share: 10,000,000 shares authorized on December 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively	_		_
Common stock, \$0.00001 par value per share, 100,000,000 shares authorized on December 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively:			
Common stock, 2,467,618 and 2,439,923 were issued, and 2,467,485 and 2,439,790 were outstanding on December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.	_		_
Additional paid-in capital	348,663		347,507
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(1,452)		(1,027)
Treasury stock, at cost – 133 shares as of December 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively	(277)		(277)
Accumulated deficit	(329,727)		(309,226)
Total stockholders' equity	17,207	_	36,977
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity \$	26,178	S	44,992

## VISLINK TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT NET LOSS PER SHARE DATA)

For the Years Ended December 31, 2023 2024 27,729 27,482 Revenue, net Cost of revenue and operating expenses Cost of revenue: Cost of components and personnel 13,955 13,380 Inventory impairments and valuation write-downs 6,828 487 20,783 Total cost of revenue 13,867 Operating expenses: General and administrative expenses 21,596 19,376 Research and development 4,561 3,493 489 Restructuring costs Impairment of right-of-use operating assets 83 168 Impairment of intangible assets 330 Depreciation and amortization 1,310 1,261 28,454 Total operating expenses 24,213 Total cost of revenue and operating expenses 49,237 38,080 (10,598) Loss from operations (21,508)Other income (expenses) Unrealized gain on investments in debt securities held to maturity (25)68 Realized loss of investments in debt securities (24)(82)Other income 400 332 Dividend income 211 375 Interest income (expense), net 300 560 862 1,253 Total other income Net loss before income taxes (20,646)(9,345)Income taxes Deferred tax benefits 145 218 (20,501)(9,127)Net loss attributable to common shareholders Net loss per share attributable to Common Shareholders: (8.35)(3.83)Basic and diluted loss per share Weighted average number of shares outstanding: 2,381 2,456 Basic and diluted Comprehensive loss: (20,501)(9,127) Net loss Unrealized (loss) gain on currency translation adjustment (425)310 (20,926)(8,817) Comprehensive loss

## VISLINK TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE DATA)

	Seri Preferre		ck	Commoi	ı Stock	(	Additional Paid In	C	mulated Other orehensive	Tre	easury	Aco	cumulated	
	Shares	An	ount	Shares	Am	ount	Capital	Incor	ne (Loss)	S	tock		Deficit	Total
Balance, January 1, 2023	47,419	\$	_	2,367,362	\$	_	\$ 345,365	\$	(1,337)	\$	(277)	\$	(300,099)	\$ 43,652
Net loss	_		_	_		_					_		(9,127)	(9,127)
Unrealized gain on currency translation									210					210
adjustment			_	_		_	_		310		_		_	310
Elimination of Series A Preferred Stock	(47,419)					_								_
Issuance of common stock in connection with:														
Compensation awards for services				40.000			•••							•
previously accrued	_			10,000			200							200
Satisfaction of withholding tax upon conversion of restricted stock units				14.102										
Satisfaction with the conversion of	_		_	14,193		_	_		_		_		_	_
restricted stock units	_			48,368		_	_		_		_		_	_
Stock-based compensation	_		_				1,942		_		_		_	1,942
Balance, December 31, 2023		\$	_	2,439,923	\$	_	\$ 347,507	\$	(1,027)	\$	(277)	\$	(309,226)	\$ 36,977
		<u> </u>			<u> </u>	,	<del>*</del>	<u> </u>		Ť		Ė	(2 22 )	<u> </u>
Net loss	_		_	_		_	_		_		_		(20,501)	(20,501)
Unrealized loss on currency translation														
adjustment	_		_	_		_	_		(425)		_		_	(425)
Issuance of common stock in connection														
with:														
Compensation awards for services				0.000			1.00							1.60
previously accrued Satisfaction with the conversion of	_		_	8,000		_	160		_		_		_	160
restricted stock unit awards				19,695										
Stock-based compensation				19,093		_	000							006
		Ф		2.467.619	Ф.		996	Ф.	(1.452)	Ф	(277)	Ф	(220,727)	996
Balance, December 31, 2024		\$		2,467,618	<u> </u>		\$ 348,663	<u> </u>	(1,452)	\$	(277)	\$	(329,727)	\$ 17,207

## VISLINK TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (IN THOUSANDS)

	Years Ended December 31,				
	·	2024	2023		
Cash flows used in operating activities					
Net loss	\$	(20,501) \$	(9,127)		
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities					
Deferred tax benefits		(145)	(218)		
Unrealized gain on investments in debt securities		25	68		
Realized gain (loss) of investments in debt securities		24	(82)		
Accretion of bond discount		(17)	16		
Stock-based compensation		996	1,942		
Provision for bad debt		610	25		
Recovery of bad debt		_	(10)		
Inventory impairments and valuation write-downs		6,828	487		
Amortization of right-of-use assets, operating assets		275	375		
Depreciation and amortization		1,310	1,261		
Restructuring costs		489			
Impairment of right-of-use operating assets		168	83		
Impairment of intangible assets		330	_		
Changes in assets and liabilities					
Accounts receivable		2,049	(2,666)		
Inventory		(522)	(2,185)		
Prepaid expenses and other current assets		452	200		
Accounts payable		(810)	559		
Accrued expenses and interest expense		597	218		
Accrued directors' compensation		160	(8)		
Operating lease liabilities		(468)	(344)		
Deferred revenue and customer deposits		1,308	(342)		
Net cash used in operating activities		(6,842)	(9,748)		
Cash flows provided (used) in investing activities					
Cash used for investment in securities held to maturity		(949)	(15,473)		
Cash used in asset acquisition		<u> </u>	(269)		
Proceeds for bond redemption		5,950	9,740		
Cash used for property and equipment		(519)	(698)		
Net cash provided (used) in investing activities		4,482	(6,700)		
Cash flows used in financing activities					
Principal payments made on D & O notes payable		(454)	(607)		
Net cash used in financing activities		(454)	(607)		
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash		(167)	(90)		
Net decrease in cash		(2,981)	(17,145)		
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the period		8,482	25,627		
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the period	\$	5,501 \$	8,482		

## VISLINK TECHNOLOGIES, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (continued) (IN THOUSANDS)

		Years Ended December 31				
	20	24		2023		
Supplemental disclosure of cash payments:						
Cash paid during the period for interest	\$	16	\$	12		
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash information:						
Notes payable recognized on D & O Insurance policy (Note 15)	\$	510	\$	523		
Common stock issued in connection with:		<u></u>				
Board compensation awards previously accrued	\$	160	\$	200		
ROU assets and operating lease obligations recognized (Note 16):						
Operating lease assets recognized	\$	_	\$	125		
Less: non-cash changes to operating lease assets amortization						
amortization		(275)		(375)		
impairments		(168)		(83)		
loss on lease impairments		168		83		
	\$	(275)	\$	(375)		
Operating lease liabilities recognized	\$	_	\$	125		
Less: non-cash changes to operating lease liabilities accretion		(468)		(469)		
	\$	(468)	\$	(344)		

#### NOTE 1 — NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Vislink Technologies, Inc., is a global technology business that collects, delivers, and manages high-quality, live video and associated data from the action scene to the viewing screen. We provide RF and 5G solutions for collecting live news, sports, entertainment, and news events for the broadcast, surveillance, and defense markets with real-time video intelligence using a range of transmission products. Our team also provides professional and technical services utilizing a staff of technology experts with decades of applied knowledge and real-world experience in terrestrial microwave, fiber optic, surveillance, and wireless communications systems, delivering a broad spectrum of customer solutions.

On February 10, 2025, we filed a Form 25 with the SEC to voluntarily delist our common stock from The Nasdaq Capital Market. Our common stock became quoted for trading with the OTCQB of OTC Markets on February 12, 2025. The decision to move trading of the common stock from Nasdaq to OTC Markets was made to reduce costs and improve operational efficiencies

#### Live Broadcast:

We deliver an extensive portfolio of solutions for live news, sports, and entertainment industries. These solutions include video collection, transmission, management, and distribution via RF, cellular, IP (Internet Protocol), MESH, and bonded cellular/5G networks. We also provide solutions utilizing AI (Artificial Intelligence) technologies to provide automated news and sporting events coverage. With over 50 years in operation, we have the expertise and technology portfolio to deliver fully integrated, seamless, end-to-end solutions encompassing hardware components, hosted systems management platforms, related software licenses, and ancillary support services.

Industry-wide contributors acknowledge our live broadcast solutions. Our equipment transmits most outside wireless broadcast video content, with over 200,000 systems installed worldwide. We work closely with the majority of the world's broadcasters. Our wireless cameras and ultra-compact encoders help bring many of the world's most prestigious sporting and entertainment events to life. Examples include globally watched international sporting contests, award shows, racing events, and annual music and cultural events.

#### Military and Government:

We have developed high-quality RF and 5G solutions to meet surveillance and defense markets' operational and industry challenges based on our knowledge of live video delivery. Our solutions are designed explicitly with interagency cooperation, utilizing the internationally recognized IP platform and a web interface for video delivery. We provide comprehensive video, audio, and data communications solutions to law enforcement and the public safety community, including Airborne, Uncrewed Systems, Maritime, and Tactical Mobile Command Posts. These solutions may include:

- integrated suites of airborne downlink transmitters, receivers, and antenna systems
- data and video connectivity for airborne, marine, and ground assets
- UAV video distribution
- flexible support for RF and bonded cellular/5G Networks
- terrestrial point-to-point
- tactical mobile command
- IP-based, high-end encryption, full-duplex, real-time connectivity at extended operating ranges
- high-throughput air/marine/ground-to-anywhere uplink and downlink systems
- secure live streaming platforms for use in mobile and fixed assets, and
- personal portable products

Our public safety and surveillance solutions are deployed worldwide, including throughout the U.S., Europe, and the Middle East, at the local, regional, and federal levels of operation for criminal investigation, crisis management, mobile command posts, and field operations. These solutions are designed to meet the demands of ground operations, command centers, and central receiving sites. Short-range and long-range solutions are available in areas including established infrastructure and exceptionally remote regions, making valuable video intelligence available regardless of location.

#### NOTE 1 — NATURE OF OPERATIONS (continued)

#### Connected Edge Solutions:

Vislink offers hardware and software solutions to acquire, produce, contribute to, and deliver video across all private and public networks. Connected edge solutions aid the video transport concept of ubiquitous IP networks and cloud-scale computing across 5G, WiFi6, Mesh, and COFDM-enabled networks. These solutions include:

- · live video encoding, stream adaptation, decoding, and production solutions
- remote production workflows
- wireless cameras
- AI-driven automated production and
- · the ability to contribute video over
  - o bonded cellular (3G, 4G, 5G)
  - o satellite
  - o fiber
  - o emerging networks, including Starlink

#### NOTE 2 — LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL CONDITION

For the fiscal year ending December 31, 2024, we incurred a net loss of approximately \$20.5 million and utilized \$6.8 million in cash for operating activities. As of December 31, 2024, the company maintained a working capital of \$13.3 million and \$5.5 million in cash.

On November 12, 2024, the Board approved a plan to restructure certain business operations. In connection with this plan, the Company has begun implementing actions such as workforce reductions and facility closures. These initiatives are intended to strengthen the Company's financial position by eliminating underperforming product lines, consolidating redundant manufacturing operations, and reducing associated headcount and cash outflows. The Company anticipates that, as a result of these operational changes, it will generate positive cash flow in the near future.

Our ability to fund operations will depend on various factors, including economic conditions, inflation, foreign exchange fluctuations, market competition, strategic initiatives, research and development activities, regulatory developments, and technology advancements. While these factors may cause us to consume available capital at a faster rate than expected, based on our current operating plan, we believe we have sufficient liquidity to fund operations for at least 12 months from the date of filing these financial statements.

#### **Restructuring Initiatives**

On November 12, 2024, the Board approved a plan to restructure certain business operations. The Company has initiated actions, including reducing its workforce and dissolving its U.K. and Poway, California manufacturing operations, transferring these activities to Mount Olive, New Jersey. These initiatives will enhance the Company's financial position by eliminating underperforming product lines, redundant manufacturing facilities, and associated headcount. The inventory impairment reflects the write-down of inventory in connection with the Company's strategic realignment of its product portfolio and resulting discontinuation of certain legacy product lines.

The Company incurred approximately \$6.5 million in one-time costs during 2024 related to severance, lease termination, and other restructuring initiatives.

#### Delisting from The Nasdaq Capital Market

On February 10, 2025, we filed a Form 25 with the SEC to voluntarily delist our common stock from The Nasdaq Capital Market. Our common stock became quoted for trading with the OTCQB of OTC Markets on February 12, 2025. The decision to move trading of the common stock from Nasdaq to OTC Markets was made to reduce costs and improve operational efficiencies.

#### NOTE 3 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

## Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with U.S. GAAP, as codified in the Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") and Accounting Standards Updates ("ASU") of the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB"), and the rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). These financial statements include Vislink Technologies Inc.'s accounts and wholly owned subsidiaries. Intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

#### Segment Reporting

The Company operates as a single reporting segment under the guidance of ASC 280, Segment Reporting. Effective January 1, 2024, the Company adopted ASU 2023-07, which enhances the transparency and utility of segment reporting. The adoption did not result in material changes to the Company's segment disclosures, as prior reporting periods already reflected the single-segment structure.

The Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM), comprising of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluates the Company's performance and allocates resources based on consolidated financial results consistent with the single operating segment structure. Significant operating expenses, such as selling, general, and administrative expenses, are not allocated to any distinct business units but are reviewed on a consolidated basis by the CODM.

#### Use of Estimates

Preparing the consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates, judgments, and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements. Significant accounting estimates reflected in the Company's consolidated financial statements include the useful lives of property, plant, and equipment; the useful lives of right-of-use assets; the useful lives of intangible assets; impairment of long-lived assets; allowance for accounts receivable doubtful accounts; allowance for inventory obsolescence reserve; allowance for deferred tax assets; valuation of warranty reserves; contingent consideration liabilities, and the accrual of potential liabilities

Certain estimates, including asset impairments, termination benefits, and facility closure costs, have been revised due to adopting a restructuring initiative in the fourth quarter of 2024. These restructuring-related estimates are preliminary and may change as more information becomes available. Such changes could materially impact financial results in subsequent periods. Actual results could differ from estimates, and any such differences may be material to our consolidated financial statements.

#### Risks and Uncertainties

The future impacts of global conflicts, such as the Russia-Ukraine war and the Israel-Hamas conflict, and economic conditions, including inflation, currency fluctuations, and global supply chain disruptions, remain uncertain. Additionally, in the fourth quarter of 2024, the Company adopted a restructuring initiative to optimize its operations. This initiative introduces risks related to implementation, workforce reductions, facility closures, and potential operational disruptions.

While the restructuring initiative is expected to improve long-term cost efficiency, it may affect short-term cash flow, financial performance, and the Company's ability to meet customer demand. Management continues to assess these risks and uncertainties and monitors their potential material adverse effects on our business, financial condition, or results of operations. As a result, estimates and assumptions may be revised over time in response to these developments. Interim period results are not necessarily indicative of the expected results for the full fiscal year.

On February 10, 2025, the Company filed a Form 25 with the SEC to voluntarily delist our common stock from The Nasdaq Capital Market. Our common stock became quoted for trading with the OTCQB of OTC Markets on February 12, 2025. The decision to move trading of the common stock from Nasdaq to OTC Markets was made to reduce costs and improve operational efficiencies. While the Company anticipates cost savings and operational efficiencies from delisting, the transition introduces risks, including reduced liquidity, lower trading volume, decreased investor accessibility, and potential challenges in raising capital. Management continues to assess the impact of these factors on the Company's business, financial condition, and results of operations.

#### NOTE 3 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (continued)

#### Restructuring Costs

ASC 420, Exit or Disposal Cost Obligations, recognizes restructuring costs. These costs may include employee termination benefits, facility closure expenses, contract termination fees, and other direct costs associated with restructuring activities.

- Employee Termination Benefits: Recognized when the Company has committed to a plan of termination, identified the employees to be terminated, and communicated the
  termination plan to those employees.
- Other Restructuring Costs: Recognized when the liability is incurred, generally when goods or services associated with the activity are received.
- Asset impairments related to facility closures are accounted for under ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment.

Restructuring costs are measured at their fair value upon recognition. Adjustments to previously recorded restructuring liabilities are made in the period when changes in estimates occur.

#### Business Combinations and Asset Acquisitions

The Company accounts for acquisitions that qualify as business combinations by applying the acquisition method according to Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 805, Business Combinations ("ASC 805"). Transaction costs related to the acquisition of a business are expensed as incurred and excluded from the fair value of consideration transferred. The identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and noncontrolling interests in an acquired entity are recognized and measured at their estimated fair values. The excess of the fair value of consideration transferred over the fair values of identifiable assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and noncontrolling interests in an acquired entity, net of the fair value of any previously held interest in the acquired entity, is recorded as goodwill. Such valuations require management to make significant estimates and assumptions.

The Company evaluates acquisitions of assets and other similar transactions to assess whether the transaction should be accounted for as a business combination or asset acquisition by first applying a screen test to determine whether substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets. If so, the transaction is accounted for as an asset acquisition. If not, further determination is required as to whether the Company has acquired inputs and processes that can create outputs that would meet the definition of a business. When applying the screen test, significant judgment is required to determine whether an acquisition is a business combination or an acquisition of assets. Accounting for asset acquisitions falls under the guidance of Topic 805, Business Combinations, specifically Subtopic 805-50. A cost accumulation model is used to determine an asset acquisition's cost. Assets acquired are based on their cost, generally allocated to them on a relatively fair value basis. Direct acquisition-related costs are included in the cost of the acquired assets.

As part of the Company's restructuring initiative adopted in the fourth quarter of 2024, the intangible assets acquired in the Poway transaction, consisting of customer relationships with a net book value of approximately \$330,000, were impaired as the Company exited operations in Poway, California. Additionally, the restructuring effort will guide the evaluation of future acquisitions, requiring alignment with the restructured business model. These actions may impact the recognition and measurement of acquired intangible assets and liabilities and, consequently, the Company's financial position and results of operations.

#### Revenue Recognition

The Company accounts for its revenue in accordance with ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which it adopted on January 1, 2019. The Company recognizes revenue when it satisfies a performance obligation by transferring control of the promised goods or services to the customer in an amount that reflects the consideration it expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. The Company generates all its revenue from contracts with customers.

Revenue primarily comes from selling broadcast equipment, software licenses, and related services, including installation, support, and extended warranties. Revenue from product and software sales is generally recognized at a point in time when control transfers to the customer, which typically occurs upon shipment or delivery.

Revenue from services, such as installation, integration, support, and warranty obligations, is recognized as those services are rendered or upon completion, depending on the nature of the engagement.

#### NOTE 3 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – (continued)

#### Revenue Recognition (continued)

The Company determines revenue recognition through the following steps:

- 1. identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer.
- 2. identification of the performance obligations in the contract.
- 3. determination of the transaction price.
- 4. allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and
- 5. recognition of revenue when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance obligation.

At contract inception, the Company assesses the goods and services promised in the Company's customer contracts and identifies a performance obligation for each. To determine the performance obligations, the Company considers all the products and services promised in the contract regardless of whether they are explicitly stated or implied by customary business practices. The timing of satisfaction of the performance obligation is not subject to significant judgment. The Company measures revenue as the consideration we expect to receive in exchange for transferring goods and services. The value-added sales taxes and other charges the Company collects concurrently with revenue-producing activities are excluded from income

## Remaining Performance Obligations:

The remaining performance obligations, or backlog, represent the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to the remaining obligations that the Company has not performed under its customer contracts. The Company has elected to use the optional exemption in ASC 606-10-50-14, which exempts an entity from such disclosures if a performance obligation is part of a contract with an original expected duration of one year or less.

### Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents. As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, cash equivalents are unrestricted funds invested in a money market mutual fund.

#### Concentrations

The Company does not possess any off-balance-sheet concentrations of credit risk. Credit risk, defined as the likelihood of a counterparty defaulting on contractual obligations, poses a potential financial loss for the Company. The primary sources of the Company's credit risk are its cash, investments, and accounts receivable. To mitigate the risk of loss exposure, the Company follows a policy of holding its cash in high-credit quality financial institutions. Cash deposits, representing a concentration of credit risk, are the main economic instruments exposing the Company to such risks. The Company has allocated approximately \$1.0 million towards investments in government bonds held to maturity to diversify our credit risk exposure further and enhance our risk mitigation strategies. These bonds, issued by the United States Federal Government, are evaluated for credit risk based on the issuing entity's creditworthiness. This investment strategy is aligned with our overarching objective to minimize potential financial losses by spreading risk across various high-credit quality assets and instruments. The Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") insures up to \$250,000 for accounts held within the United States. In the United Kingdom, the Company maintains cash balance accounts at financial institutions insured by the Financial Services Compensation Scheme, covering up to £85,000 (subject to currency translation rates to the United States dollar). Additionally, in the Netherlands, the Company's cash balance accounts at financial institutions are insured by the "Dutch deposit guarantee scheme," providing coverage up to €100,000 per person per bank.

As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the Company held approximately \$4.7 million and \$7.7 million above insured limits, respectively, remaining unaffected by any losses in its bank accounts during this period.

During the year ending December 31, 2024, no customer sales represented more than 10% of the Company's consolidated sales. During the year ending December 31, 2023, the Company did not report any sales to an individual customer that constituted more than 10% of its total sales.

As of December 31, 2024, one customer owed the Company approximately \$1,180,000, representing more than 10% of its consolidated net receivables. As of December 31, 2023, one customer owed the Company approximately \$1,111,000, representing 13% of its consolidated net receivables.

#### NOTE 3 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – (continued)

#### Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

On January 1, 2023, the Company adopted ASC 326, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses, which introduced the Current Expected Credit Losses (CECL) model. Under this standard, the Company measures credit losses based on expected losses rather than incurred losses, resulting in earlier recognition of allowances for doubtful accounts.

In applying ASC 326, the Company evaluates specific factors, including receivable aging, historical write-offs, current economic conditions, and forward-looking information, such as economic forecasts or indices. These criteria are used to determine the appropriate allowance for credit losses. Receivables are written off when deemed uncollectible in accordance with applicable laws.

#### **Inventories**

Inventories consist of raw materials, work-in-process, and finished goods and are recorded at the lower of cost, on a first-in, first-out basis, or net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated selling prices in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable completion, disposal, and transportation costs. The Company evaluates inventory balances and either writes down obsolete inventory or records a reserve for slow-moving or excess inventory based on net realizable value analysis.

#### Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are presented at cost at the date of acquisition, less depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over estimated useful asset lives, ranging from 3 to 14 years. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property and equipment and repairs and maintenance are recognized in the expenses as incurred.

#### Intangible Assets

Patents and licenses: Patents and licenses, measured initially at purchase cost, are included in intangible assets on the Company's consolidated balance sheet and amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 18.5 to 20 years. Amortization totaled \$-0- each for the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively.

Other intangible assets: the Company's remaining intangible assets include the trade names, technology, and customer lists acquired in its acquisition of IMT, Vislink Technologies, Inc., Mobile Viewpoint Corporate B.V. ("MVP"), and the assets of BMS. An independent third-party appraiser evaluated the acquired assets for these business transactions. We concluded that the methodologies applied provided a reasonable estimate for the values assigned without fair market values from potential buyers or comparable transactions. The Company amortizes intangible asset costs over their useful lives of 3 to 15 years, with its net book value reported on the balance sheet. Amortization totaled approximately \$1.0 million each for the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively.

#### Leases

The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. The Company recognizes lease expense for lease payments on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company includes operating leases as ROU assets, such as "Right of use assets, operating leases," in the consolidated balance sheets. For lease liabilities, operating lease liabilities are included in "Operating lease obligations, current" and "Operating lease liabilities, net of current portion" in the consolidated balance sheets. The Company recognizes operating lease ROU assets and liabilities on the commencement date based on the present value of lease payments for all leases with a term longer than 12 months. The Company's real estate contracts separate no-lease and non-lease components.

There were no capital leases, now titled "finance leases" under ASC 842, in the Company's lease portfolio as of December 31, 2024. The ROU assets and related lease liabilities recorded under ASC 842 are calculated based on the present value of the lease payments using (1) the rate implicit in the lease or (2) the lessee's incremental borrowing rate ("IBR"), defined as the rate of interest that a lessee would have to pay to borrow on a collateralized basis over a similar term an amount equal to the lease payments in a comparable economic environment. As most of the Company's leases do not provide an implicit rate, the Company determines our incremental borrowing rates based on an analysis of prior collateralized borrowings over similar terms of the lease payments at the commencement date to estimate the IBR under ASC 842.

#### NOTE 3 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – (continued)

#### Warranty Reserve

Although the Company tests its products under its quality programs and processes, its warranty obligation is affected by product failure rates and service delivery costs incurred in correcting a product failure. Should actual product failure rates or service costs differ from the Company's estimates, required revisions to the estimated warranty liability will occur where applicable, based on limited historical data. The claims made during the year ended December 31, 2024, and 2023 were ordinary and customary. The warranty reserve is included in accrued expenses on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the cost of components in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

	 Warranty Reserve
December 31, 2022	\$ 112,000
Warranty reserve expense	432,000
Warranty claims settled and true-up of accrual.	 (411,000)
December 31, 2023	\$ 133,000
Warranty reserve expense	420,000
Warranty claims settled, and true-up of accrual	(286,000)
December 31, 2024	\$ 267,000

## Research and Development Expenses

As the Company performs research, design, and development activities, we charge these costs to research and development expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss. These expenses consist primarily of salary and benefit expenses, including stock-based compensation and payroll taxes for employees' and contractors' costs engaged in research, design, development activities, prototypes, facilities, and travel costs.

#### Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are charged to operations as incurred. For the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively, advertising costs amounted to approximately \$0.8 million and \$0.7 million. The Company includes advertising costs in general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations.

#### Shipping and Handling Costs

The Company invoices its shipping and handling charges to the customer, and we net these charges against the respective costs within the general and administrative expenses. For the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023, the shipping and handling costs incurred were \$0.7 million and \$0.4 million, respectively.

#### Sales Tax and Value-Added Taxes

The Company accounts for sales taxes and value-added taxes imposed on its goods and services on a net basis.

### Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock compensation with persons classified as employees for accounting purposes under ASC 718 "Compensation-Stock Compensation," which recognizes awards at fair value on the date of grant and recognition of compensation over the service period for awards expected to vest. The fair value of stock options is determined using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model, and the fair value of common stock issued for services is determined based on the Company's stock price on the issuance date.

The expansion of Topic 718 fell under ASU 2018-07 to include share-based payment transactions for acquiring goods and services from non-employees. The measurement date for equity-classified non-employee share-based payment awards is no longer at the earlier date at which a commitment for performance by the counterparty is reached or the date at which the counterparty's performance is complete. Instead, the grant date is now considered the measurement date. Under today's guidance, the measurement of non-employee share-based payment awards with performance conditions is at the lowest aggregate fair value, often resulting in a zero value. The new ASU aligns the non-employee share-based payment awards with performance conditions and accounting for employee share-based payment awards under Topic 718 by requiring entities to consider the probability of satisfying performance conditions. Current guidance requires entities to use the contractual term to measure the non-employee share-based payment awards. The new ASU allows entities to make an award-by-award election to use the expected duration (consistent with employee share-based payment awards) or the contractual term for non-employee awards.

### NOTE 3 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – (continued)

#### Stock-Option Awards — Time-Based and Performance-Based

Under ASC Topic 718, the compensation cost is measured based on an award's fair value at the grant's date for the time vested option award using the Black Scholes-Merton formula as a valuation technique. The Company used the U.S. Treasury note's rate over the expected option term for the risk-free rate. Employees' expected term represents the period that options granted are expected to be outstanding using the simplified method. The Company's historical share option exercise experience does not provide a reasonable basis for estimating the expected term. For non-employee options, the expected term is the entire option term. Expected volatility is based on the average weekly share price changes over the shorter expected term or the period from the Nasdaq Capital Markets Exchange placement to the grant's date. The Company estimates forfeiture and volatility using historical information. The risk-free interest rate is based on the implied yield on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues over the options' equivalent lives.

The Company has not paid dividends on its common stock, and no assumption of dividend payment(s) is made in the model. For employee equity-classified awards, compensation cost is recognized over the employee's requisite service period with a corresponding credit to additional paid-in capital. The employee's requisite service period begins at the service inception date and ends when the requisite service has been provided.

#### Restricted Stock Unit Awards ("RSUs") — Time-Based

Under ASC 718, the exercise price for RSUs is determined using the fair market value of the Company's common stock on the grant date. For an award with graded vesting subject only to a service condition (e.g., time-based vesting), ASC 718-10-35-8 provides an accounting policy choice between graded vesting attribution or straight-line attribution. The Company elects the graded vesting method, recognizing compensation expense for only the portion of awards expected to vest. Forfeitures of time-based units and awards are recognized as they occur. Stock-based compensation costs are calculated using the closing stock price on the grant date to estimate the fair value of time-based restricted stock units.

## Restricted Stock Unit Awards ("RSUs") — Performance-Based

The accruals of compensation cost for an award with a performance condition are related to that performance condition's probable outcome. Under ASC 718, a "performance condition" is the achievement of a specified target that is defined by referring to the employer's operations or activities, such as an option that vests if the employer's growth rate increases by a certain amount or there are the attainments of regulatory approval for a product. There is an accrual of compensation cost upon the likely achievement of the performance condition, and there is no accrual if the accomplishment of the performance condition is not probable. The exercise price for RSUs is determined using the fair market value of the Company's common stock on the grant date. Stock-based compensation costs are calculated using the closing stock price on the grant date to estimate performance-based restricted stock units' fair value.

#### Impairment, Abandonment and Asset Sales

The Company evaluates its long-lived assets, including property, plant, equipment, and right-of-use ("ROU") assets, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable, in accordance with ASC 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment. Impairment is recognized if the asset's carrying amount exceeds its estimated fair value, which is determined as the greater of its value-in-use or net realizable value.

Abandoned assets are considered impaired and written down to their estimated fair value, which may be zero if no future economic benefit is expected. Gains or losses on asset sales are recognized upon derecognition of the asset, calculated as the difference between net book value and proceeds received, and recorded as other income (loss) in the consolidated statements of operations.

Certain assets, including those associated with the Poway operation, have been impaired or abandoned as part of the restructuring initiative. These impairments will continue to be evaluated as the restructuring progresses.

#### Income Taxes

Under ASC 740, as part of our consolidated financial statements, we must estimate our income tax provision (benefit) in each jurisdiction we operate. The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. The recognition of deferred income tax assets and liabilities for the future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases fall under this method. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years these temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The recognition of the effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates in income is in the period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is provided for those deferred tax assets for which management cannot conclude that it is more likely than not that such deferred tax assets will be realized. The Company will file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state and foreign jurisdictions. The Company recognizes the impact of an uncertain tax position in its financial statements if, in management's judgment, it is more likely than not sustainable upon audit based upon the position's technical merits. It involves identifying potential uncertain tax positions, evaluating applicable tax laws, and assessing whether the liability for uncertain tax positions is necessary. The Company's policy is to classify assessments, if any, for tax-related interest expenses and penalties as general and administrative expenses.

#### NOTE 3 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - (continued)

#### Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Fair Value Measurements

The authoritative guidance for fair value measurements under topic ASC 820, "Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures," defines fair value as the price that would be received upon sale of an asset or paid upon transfer of a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date and in the principal or most advantageous market for that asset or liability. The fair value should be calculated based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability, not assumptions specific to the entity. ASC 820 specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques reflect assumptions other market participants would use based on the market data obtained from independent sources (observable inputs). In accordance with ASC 820, the following summarizes the fair value hierarchy:

- Level 1 is observable inputs, such as quoted prices in active markets,
- Level 2 is defined as inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are either directly or indirectly observable and
- Level 3 is defined as unobservable inputs with little or no market data, requiring an entity to develop its assumptions.

Our financial instruments include cash equivalents, investments, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other assets, accounts payable, accrued expenses, and short-term debt. Fair value estimates of these instruments are made at a specific point in time based on relevant market information. These estimates may be subjective and involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment and, therefore, cannot be determined with precision. The carrying amount of cash equivalents, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other assets, accounts payable, and accrued expenses are generally considered representative of their respective fair values because of the short-term nature of those instruments.

#### Foreign Currency and Other Comprehensive (Gains) Losses

The Company records gains or losses resulting from foreign currency transactions in foreign currency income or loss except for the effect of exchange rates on long-term inter-company transactions that are considered long-term investments that are accumulated and credited or charged to other comprehensive income. The Company has two foreign subsidiaries, one in the United Kingdom and the other in the Netherlands, and their functional currencies are British Pounds and Euros, respectively. The translation from the respective foreign currency to United States Dollars ("US Dollars") is performed for balance sheet accounts using current exchange rates at the balance sheet date and for income statement accounts using an average exchange rate for the years ending December 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively. The Company has included gains or losses from such translation as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income.

Transaction gains and losses are recognized in the Company's operations' results based on the difference between the foreign exchange rates on the transaction date and the reporting date. The foreign currency exchange gains and losses are a component of general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.

#### Loss Per Share

The Company reports loss per share under ASC Topic 260, "Earnings Per Share," which establishes standards for computing and presenting earnings per share. The basic loss per share calculation divides the net loss allocable to common stockholders by the weighted average shares of common stock outstanding during the period without considering common stock equivalents. The diluted loss per share calculation is calculated by adjusting the weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding for the diluteve effect of common stock equivalents, including stock options and warrants, excellent for the period determined using the treasury stock method. Common stock equivalents are excluded from the diluted net loss per share calculation because their effect would be anti-dilutive. Therefore, basic and diluted net loss per share applicable to common stockholders is the same for periods with a net loss.

## Treasury Stock

Treasury stock is recorded at cost upon the repurchasing of common stock, and the cost method is used upon the re-issuance of shares. Under U.S. GAAP, the excess of the acquisition cost over the re-issuance price of the treasury stock, if any, is recorded to additional paid-in capital, limited to the amount previously credited to additional paid-in capital, if any. The Company charges the accumulated deficit for any excess.

#### NOTE 3 — SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES – (continued)

## Investment in Debt Securities

Vislink Technologies, Inc. invests in government bonds with the intent and ability to hold these investments until maturity. In alignment with ASC Topic 320, Investments—Debt and Equity Securities, such investments are classified as "Held-to-Maturity" (HTM) securities and are measured at amortized cost.

- Classification: The Company classifies its investments in government bonds as "Held-to-Maturity" (HTM) securities based on management's intent and ability to hold the
  securities to maturity. These HTM securities are recognized in the Company's financial statements at their amortized cost, adjusted for the amortization of premiums and
  accretion of discounts to maturity.
- Measurement: HTM securities, including transaction costs, are initially recognized at their acquisition cost. Subsequently, they are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. This method considers the amortization of any discount or premium on the acquisition cost until maturity.
- Interest Income: Interest income is accrued using the security's effective yield, reflecting the time value of money.
- Amortization of Discount and Premium: The amortization of the discount (or accretion of the premium) is included as part of the interest income recognized in the income statement, reflecting the adjustment to the investment's yield.
- Impairment: The Company periodically assesses HTM investments for impairment if objective evidence indicates an impairment has been incurred. It recognizes any loss when the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate, is less than the carrying amount.
- Derecognition: A Held-to-Maturity investment is removed from the balance sheet when the right to receive cash flows has expired or the Company has substantially transferred all ownership risks and rewards.

## Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

#### Adopted:

In accordance with the Financial Accounting Standards Board's (FASB) mandate, Vislink Technologies, Inc. adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2023-07, Segment Reporting (Topic 280), effective January 1, 2024. Initially issued by FASB in February 2023, this update revises the reporting requirements for operating segments of public entities to enhance the transparency and utility of segment reporting. We have concluded that we operate as a single reporting segment, and due to this structure, we believe we are only required to report in a single segment by ASU 2023-07. Accordingly, we believe the adoption of ASU 2023-07 has not significantly impacted our financial statements.

#### Not vet adopted:

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures, which requires disaggregated information about a reporting entity's effective tax rate reconciliation and income taxes paid. The standard is intended to provide more transparency into the income tax information reported in financial statements. The ASU is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024, and may be adopted on a prospective or retrospective basis. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this ASU on its income tax disclosures.

On November 4, 2024, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2024-03, Income Statement-Reporting Comprehensive Income-Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40): Disaggregation of Income Statement Expenses. This amendment requires enhanced disclosures on expense disaggregation within the income statement. The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2026, and interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2027. Early adoption is permitted. The Company has not yet assessed the impact of this ASU on its financial statements.

## Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Management has evaluated the recent accounting standards issued by the FASB, including Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2024-01, Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Scope Application of Profits Interest and Similar Awards, and has determined that these standards do not have a material impact on the Company's present or future consolidated financial statements.

## NOTE 4 — LOSS PER SHARE

The following table illustrates the anti-dilutive potential common stock equivalents excluded from the calculation of loss per share (in thousands):

	For the years ended December 31,				
	2024	2023			
Anti-dilutive potential common stock equivalents excluded from the calculation of loss per share:					
Stock options	72	51			
Warrants	379	456			
	451	507			

## NOTE 5 — FOREIGN CURRENCY AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (GAINS) LOSSES

The Company has recognized foreign exchange gains and losses and changes in accumulated comprehensive income approximately as follows:

		For the years ended December 31,				
		2024		2023		
Net foreign exchange transactions:	·					
(Gains) Losses	\$	129,000	\$	49,000		
Accumulated comprehensive income:		,				
Unrealized (gains) losses on currency translation adjustment	\$	425,000	\$	(310,000)		

Amounts were converted from British Pounds to U.S. Dollars and Euros to British Pounds using the following exchange rates:

- As of December 31, 2024 £1.253490 to \$1.00; €1.038640 to \$1.00
- The average exchange rate for the year ended December 31, 2024 − £1.277953 to \$1.00; €1.082039 to \$1.00
- As of December 31, 2023 £1.273840 to \$1.00; €1.105890 to \$1.00
- The average exchange rate for the year ended December 31, 2023 − £1.243463 to \$1.00; €1.081317 to \$1.00

## NOTE 6 — CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash equivalents consist of unrestricted funds invested in a money market mutual fund. The following table illustrates the Company's cash and cash equivalents:

		For the years ended December 31,				
	<u> </u>	2024		2023		
Cash on hand	\$	3,256,000	\$	1,776,000		
Federally insured money market mutual funds		2,245,000		6,706,000		
Total cash and cash equivalents	\$	5,501,000	\$	8,482,000		

#### NOTE 7 — INVESTMENTS

The Company's investments in debt securities are classified as held-to-maturity under the Company's intent and ability to hold these investments to maturity, as defined under ASC Topic 320, "Investments – Debt Securities." Comparative information for the years ended December 31, 2024, and December 31, 2023, is provided below.

#### 2024 Activity:

- On February 28, 2023, the Company purchased a bond, "Federal National Mortgage Association," with a face and par value of \$950,000, maturing February 28, 2024, at an interest rate of 5.07%, totaling \$950,000. The bond was redeemed on February 29, 2024, at face value.
- On October 11, 2023, the Company acquired a \$5,000,000 face value bond issued by HSBC USA INC CP, with a maturity date of October 11, 2024, and an interest rate of 6.262291%, for approximately \$4,711,000. The bond was redeemed at maturity for \$5,000,000, resulting in a redemption loss of approximately \$24,000, reflecting the amortization of the purchase discount and accrued interest adjustments through the redemption date.
- On February 27, 2024, the Company acquired the "HSBC USA INC CP" bond with a face value of \$1,000,000 and a maturity date of February 12, 2025, at an interest rate of 5.48%, for a cash outlay of approximately \$949,400. As of December 31, 2024, the fair value of this bond was \$995,000.

#### 2023 Activity:

- On January 23, 2023, the Company purchased a bond, "HSBC USA INC CP," with a face value of \$5,065,789, a par value of \$5,000,000, maturing October 24, 2023, at a 5.1948% interest rate. The bond was redeemed at a loss of approximately \$82,000.
- On February 1, 2023, the Company purchased a bond, "Federal Home Loan Banks," with a face value of \$4,999,750, maturing December 22, 2023, at an interest rate of 4.750%. The bond was redeemed at face value upon maturity.
- On February 28, 2023, the Company purchased a bond, "Federal National Mortgage Association," with a face and par value of \$950,000, maturing February 28, 2024, at an interest rate of 5.07%. The value on December 31, 2023, was \$949,000.
- On October 11, 2023, the Company purchased a bond, "HSBC USA INC CP," with a face value of \$5,000,000, maturing October 11, 2024, at a 6.262291% interest rate, for a cash payment of approximately \$4,711,000. The value on December 31, 2023, was \$4,714,000.

#### <u>Held-to-Maturity Investments—Federal Bonds:</u>

		December 31,			
		 2024		2023	
Amortized Cost		\$ 952,000	\$	5,663,000	
Unrealized Gains		43,000		68,000	
Unrealized Losses		-0-		-0-	
Fair Value		\$ 995,000	\$	5,731,000	
	F-19				

## NOTE 8 — FAIR VALUE OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As defined under ASC 820, "Fair Value Measurement and Disclosures," the following table presents the Company's assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value as of December 31, 2024, and 2023. The table includes recurring and non-recurring fair value measurements, consistent with the fair value hierarchy provisions.

	Active M Identica Liab	Prices in Iarkets of al Assets/ ilities vel 1)	Obser	ficant Other vable Inputs Level 2)	Unobs	ignificant ervable Inputs (Level 3)	Total
December 31, 2024:				•			
Assets							
Federal Bonds Held to Maturity	\$	_	\$	995,000	\$	_	\$ 995,000
Non-recurring:							
Right of use assets, operating leases						297,000	297,000
Intangible assets						2,578,000	2,578,000
	\$		\$	995,000	\$	2,875,000	\$ 3,870,000
Liabilities	\$		\$		\$	<u> </u>	\$ <u> </u>
December 31, 2023:							
Assets							
Federal Bonds Held to Maturity	\$	_	\$	5,731,000	\$	_	\$ 5,731,000
Non-recurring:							
Right of use assets, operating leases		_		_		742,000	742,000
	\$		\$	5,731,000	\$	742,000	\$ 6,473,000
							 <u> </u>
Liabilities	\$		\$		\$		\$ 

## NOTE 9 — ASSET ACQUISITION

On September 14, 2023, Vislink Poway, LLC ("Poway"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company formed on September 13, 2023, entered into an asset purchase agreement with BMS, acquiring working in process inventory consisting of microwave technology systems involving long-range data transmission and assuming certain liabilities in exchange for \$200,000 in cash consideration paid at together with a commitment to acquire additional inventory for \$230,000 on October 2, 2023, with title to the inventory passing to Poway on October 2, 2023. The transaction was accounted for as an acquisition of assets under U.S. GAAP. Accordingly, the acquisition cost was allocated on a relative fair value basis, and transaction costs were capitalized as a component of the cost of the assets acquired.

The Company recorded the purchase of this agreement under purchase price accounting, recording the fair value of the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed based upon the purchase price, as summarized in the table below:

Assets acquired:	
Work-in-process inventory	\$ 66,042
Intangible assets - customer relationships	495,372
total assets	561,414
Liabilities assumed:	
Deferred revenue	292,014
total liabilities	 292,014
Total cash used for asset acquisition	\$ 269,400
Cash used in acquisition:	
Acquisition price	\$ 200,000
Transaction costs	69,400
Total cash used for asset acquisition	\$ 269,400
F-20	

## NOTE 9 — ASSET ACQUISITION (continued)

#### Restructuring and Impairment

In connection with the Company's restructuring initiative announced in November 2024, operations at the Poway, California facility are being discontinued. The remaining activities will be transitioned to the Company's Mount Olive, New Jersey facility. As part of this initiative, the Company conducted an impairment assessment of the intangible assets acquired as part of the Poway transaction. Based on this assessment, an impairment charge of \$330,000 was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2024.

## NOTE 10 — ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable consist of the following:

	For the ye	ars endec	d
	 Decem	ber 31,	
	2024		2023
Accounts receivable	\$ 6,582,000	\$	9,389,000
Allowance for credit losses	 (624,000)		(709,000)
Net accounts receivable	\$ 5,958,000	\$	8,680,000

During the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023, the Company incurred bad debt expenses of \$610,000 and \$25,000, respectively. Additionally, for the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023, we experienced bad debt recoveries of \$-0- and \$10,000, respectively.

#### NOTE 11 — INVENTORIES

Inventories included in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet are stated at the lower of cost or market as summarized below:

		For the years ended December 31,			
		2024		2023	
Raw materials	\$	10,660,000	\$	12,890,000	
Work-in-process		651,000		1,458,000	
Finished goods		5,967,000		5,599,000	
Sub-total inventories	-	17,278,000		19,947,000	
Less reserve for slow-moving and excess inventory		(9,715,000)		(5,918,000)	
Total inventories, net	\$	7,563,000	\$	14,029,000	

Inventory valuation adjustments consist primarily of write-offs due to obsolescence or reserves for slow-moving or excess inventory. The Company recorded inventory valuation adjustments of \$819,000 and \$487,000 as of December 31, 2024, and 2023. As part of its ongoing restructuring initiative, including the closure of its Poway, CA manufacturing operations and the transfer of UK production to Mount Olive, NJ—management conducted a comprehensive product rationalization review. This eliminated specific product lines, leading to an inventory impairment of \$6,009,000 in 2024 with \$-0- in 2023.

## NOTE 12 — PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consist of the following:		For the years ended			
	Useful Life	December 31,			
	(Years)	 2024 2023		2023	
Cost:		 			
Furniture and fixtures	3 - 10	\$ 174,000	\$	347,000	
Leasehold improvements (a)	3 - 14	470,000		443,000	
Computers, software, and equipment	3 - 11	4,130,000		3,677,000	
		4,774,000		4,467,000	
Accumulated depreciation		(2,790,000)		(2,565,000)	
Property and equipment, net		\$ 1,984,000	\$	1,902,000	

Depreciation of property and equipment amounted to \$352,000 and \$232,000 for the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively. Additionally, the Company removed approximately \$128,000 and \$-0- of property and equipment for the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively.

(a)The shorter economic life or remaining lease term.

## NOTE 13 — INTANGIBLE ASSETS

The Company continuously evaluates operating results, events, and circumstances to determine whether indicators of impairment for intangible assets are present under ASC 360-10-35, Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets. As part of the restructuring initiative to phase out operations in Poway, California, the Company identified impairment indicators related to certain intangible assets associated with these operations. Consequently, an impairment charge of \$330,000 was recognized for the year ended December 31, 2024.

The following table illustrates finite intangible assets as of December 31, 2024, and 2023:

	Proprietar	y Technology	Patents a	nd Licenses	Trade Name	Trade Names & Technology Customer Relationships			
	Cost	Accumulated Amortization	Cost	Accumulated Amortization	Cost	Accumulated Amortization	Cost	Accumulated Amortization	Net
December 31, 2024				·				· <u> </u>	
Balance, January 1, 2024	\$2,132,000	\$ (1,408,000)	\$12,378,000	\$ (12,378,000)	\$2,251,000	\$ (1,327,000)	\$5,591,000	\$ (3,373,000)	\$ 3,866,000
Impairment	_	_	_	_	_	_	_	(330,000)	(330,000)
Amortization	_	(438,000)	_	_	_	(138,000)	_	(382,000)	(958,000)
Balance, December 31, 2024	\$2,132,000	\$ (1,846,000)	\$12,378,000	\$ (12,378,000)	\$2,251,000	\$ (1,465,000)	\$5,591,000	\$ (4,085,000)	\$ 2,578,000
December 31, 2023									
Balance, January 1, 2023	\$2,132,000	\$ (815,000)	\$12,378,000	\$ (12,378,000)	\$2,251,000	\$ (1,189,000)	\$5,095,000	\$ (3,074,000)	\$ 4,400,000
Additions	_		_		_		496,000		496,000
Amortization	_	(593,000)	_	_	_	(138,000)	_	(299,000)	(1,030,000)
Balance, December 31, 2023	\$2,132,000	\$ (1,408,000)	\$12,378,000	\$ (12,378,000)	\$2,251,000	\$ (1,327,000)	\$5,591,000	\$ (3,373,000)	\$ 3,866,000

The Company's groups of intangible assets consist primarily of:

## Proprietary Technology:

Generally, the Company amortizes proprietary technology over 3 to 5 years. Mobile Viewpoint ("MVP") uses wireless multiplex transmitters and artificial intelligence internally to produce and sell products and services to customers.

#### <u>Patents and Licenses:</u>

Patents and licenses filed by the Company are amortized for 18.5 to 20 years. The amortization of the costs associated with provisional patents and pending applications begins after successful review and filing.

## Trade Name, Technology, and Customer Relationships:

Other intangible assets are amortized for 3 to 15 years. Integrated Microwave Technology ("IMT"), Vislink, MVP, and BMS assets acquisitions contributed to developing these intangible assets, including trade names, technology, and customer lists.

The Company has recognized net capitalized intangible costs as follows:

	 For the years ended December 31,				
	2024		2023		
Proprietary Technology	\$ 289,000	\$	726,000		
Trade Names and Technology	784,000		922,000		
Customer Relationships	 1,505,000		2,218,000		
	\$ 2,578,000	\$	3,866,000		
_	 				

## NOTE 13 — INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

The Company has recognized the amortization of intangible assets as follows:

The Company has recognized the unfortization of managere assets as follows.	For the years ended December 31,			
	 2024		2023	
Proprietary Technology	\$ 438,000	\$	593,000	
Trade Names and Technology	138,000		138,000	
Customer Relationships	 712,000		299,000	
	\$ 1,288,000	\$	1,030,000	

The weighted average remaining life of the amortization of the Company's intangible assets is approximately 5.1 years as of December 31, 2024. The following table represents the estimated amortization expense for total intangible assets for the succeeding five years:

Period ending December 31,	
2025	\$ 572,000
2026	414,000
2027	289,000
2028	288,000
2029	288,000
Thereafter	727,000
	\$ 2,578,000

## NOTE 14 — ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

	For the ye		d
	 Decem	ber 31,	
	 2024		2023
Compensation	\$ 235,000	\$	567,000
Commissions	459,000		106,000
Warranty	184,000		135,000
Accrued expenses other	 1,275,000		770,000
	\$ 2,153,000	\$	1,578,000

## NOTE 15 — NOTES PAYABLE

The table below represents the Company's notes payable as of December 31, 2024, and 2023:

		For the years ended December 31,				
		2024			2023	
The Company renewed its Directors and Officers (D & O) insurance policy on April 23, 2024, at a reduced premium of approximately \$788,000, making a down payment of \$278,000 financing the remaining balance of approximately \$510,000. The financing arrangement contains a nine-month term with a 7.5% annual interest rate, resulting in a monthly principal and interest payment of approximately \$58,000. The Company recognized interest expense of \$14,000 and \$-0- for the years ending December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.	<u>\$</u>		56,000 56,000	\$ \$		
F-23						

#### NOTE 16 — LEASES

In addition to leasing office spaces, operational sites, and storage facilities, our company also rents warehouse facilities internationally and within the country. As of December 31, 2024, these operating leases feature a variety of terms and conditions, with lease lengths ranging from one to three years. Certain leases contain clauses for rent increases and concessions, which result in higher rental payments during the final years of the lease term. These agreements are recognized using the straight-line method over the lease's minimum duration.

During those periods, there were no significant adjustments to the straight-line rental expenses. Most costs accounted for in each period were reflected in the cash spent on operating activities, mainly covering payments for the basic rent of offices and warehouses. Additionally, we can renew certain leases at various intervals, though we are not obligated to do so. Expenses associated with short-term leases, taxes, and variable service fees were minimal.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company reported Right-of-Use (ROU) assets totaling approximately \$0.3 million on the balance sheet net of \$2.1 million in accumulated amortization. In addition, the Company recognized operating lease liabilities of approximately \$0.8 million, allocating \$0.5 million as current and \$0.3 million as non-current, as noted on the balance sheet. The weighted average lease term remaining as of December 31, 2024, was 1.8 years, with leases expiring between January 2025 and May 2027, and the weighted average discount rate was 9.4% as of December 31, 2024.

#### Lease activity occurring after December 31, 2024, is as follows:

#### Poway, CA Lease Agreement

On January 24, 2025, the Company entered a sublease agreement for 7,155 square feet within the Poway, California facility. This space will primarily be used for equipment testing. The lease has a term beginning January 24, 2025, and ending January 31, 2026, with a monthly rental payment of \$1,000. This short-term lease qualifies under ASC 842 as it is less than 12 months, and therefore, no Right-of-Use (ROU) asset or lease liability is recorded. The rent expense will be recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

#### The following represents lease activity for the year ending December 31, 2024:

#### Colchester, U.K. Facility Abandonment

As part of the Company's ongoing restructuring initiative, the decision has been made to abandon the manufacturing facility at Colchester, U.K. This decision aligns with the strategic relocation of the Company's U.K. manufacturing operations to the United States. The facility will be vacated in 2025, and an impairment charge of approximately \$168,000 has been recognized per ASC 360-10-35-17, which requires testing for impairment upon triggering events. Additionally, the Company has estimated dilapidation costs of approximately £199,000 British Pounds (equivalent to approximately \$250,000) in accordance with ASC 420-10 and ASC 842-20-30, reflecting the contractual obligation to restore the facility to its pre-lease condition upon vacating the property.

#### Poway, CA Lease Renewal and Classification Correction

On February 12, 2024, Vislink Poway, LLC signed a renewal agreement with CPI Apartment Fund 10 LLC for the premises at 13475 Danielson Street, Suite 100, 130, and 160, Poway, California. The renewal agreement was initially accounted for based on preliminary terms indicating a lease commencement on March 14, 2024, with an end date of January 31, 2026. Consequently, a Right-of-Use (ROU) asset of approximately \$484,000 and a lease liability of approximately \$473,000 were recognized in the first quarter of 2024.

The final signed lease agreement was obtained during the third quarter of 2024. It confirms a one-year lease term beginning on April 1, 2024, and ending on March 31, 2025. Since the finalized lease term is 12 months, it qualifies as a short-term lease under ASC 842, and no ROU asset or lease liability is required to be recorded.

The Company corrected this by removing the previously recognized ROU asset and lease liability. The Poway, California lease is now accurately accounted for as a short-term lease, with monthly payments of \$22,926 expensed on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

#### Dubai Studio City, UAE Renewal

The Company renewed its lease for 646 square feet of administrative office space in Dubai Studio City, UAE, commencing on July 3, 2024, and terminating on July 2, 2025, for approximately \$1,333 monthly.

## NOTE 16 — LEASES (continued)

## The following represents lease activity for the year ending December 31, 2023:

#### Lutton, UK

A one-year lease for 600 square feet of administrative office space in Lutton, UK, was signed on September 1, 2023, and will run through May 31, 2024, at approximately \$2,100 per month. A two-year lease for 600 square feet was executed at another location and will run from February 1, 2023, through January 31, 2025, at approximately \$2,500 per month.

## Dubai, UAE

The Company renewed its lease for 976 square feet of administrative office space in Dubai Studio City, UAE, commencing on July 3, 2023, and terminating on July 2, 2024, for approximately \$1,632 monthly.

#### Poway, CA

Included in the September 14, 2023, acquisition of assets from Broadcast Microwave Services, LLC (BMS) was a sublease of approximately 11,715 square feet of general office use facilities previously held under a six-month agreement with BMS, with lease responsibilities conveyed to Vislink Poway, LLC. The initial lease term commenced with a monthly rent of approximately \$22,300 and concluded on March 13, 2024. On February 12, 2024, Vislink Poway, LLC signed a renewal agreement for the same space. The renewal term is set for one year and ten and a half months, commencing on March 14, 2024, and ending on January 31, 2026. The base rent for the renewal period is established at \$22,926 per month.

#### Colchester, U.K.

Approximately 2,700 square feet of manufacturing space at the Colchester, U.K. facility were abandoned as part of the Company's strategic decision to relocate its U.K. manufacturing division to the United States commencing in September 2023, with approximately 13,200 square feet of remaining space. Impracticable conditions made subletting the unused space unachievable, and the Company considered it abandoned. According to ASC 360, leased space abandonment is an impairment indicator, and we assessed whether the lease "Right of use assets, operating leases" (ROU) assets were impaired. It was determined that approximately \$83,000 of the Company's right-of-use operating assets were impaired.

#### Hemel, United Kingdom

Under the original lease agreement dated April 28, 2017, a "break clause" signifying a "break date" of October 28, 2020, sighted the following: the Company may terminate this lease on the "break date" by giving the landlord such notice within six months of the "break date." At the lease's commencement, it was not reasonably sure if the Company would exercise its right by the break clause's date. These measures upheld the determination of the lease's noncancellable period for adopting ASC 842 on January 1, 2019. The lease term of 22 months as of January 1, 2019, helped calculate the remaining lease payments' net present value assigned to the right-of-use asset and operating lease liability upon the adoption date. The total annual rent under this lease is approximately \$175,000, covering 12,870 square feet of manufacturing and administrative office space. Neither party exercised their unilateral termination rights by the "break date," triggering a lease extension. Both parties' inaction creates new enforceable rights and obligations in the extended period, such that the lease agreement terminates on October 27, 2023.

#### Trivex, Singapore

The Company renewed its lease for 950 square feet of administrative office space commencing on August 1, 2023, and terminating on July 31, 2025, for approximately \$3,100 monthly.

## NOTE 16 — LEASES (continued)

The following tables illustrate the Right-Of-Use operating lease data recorded for the years ended December 31, 2024, and 2023:

		For the years ended December 31,			
	2	2024		2023	
Lease cost:		_			
Operating lease cost	\$	566,000	\$	435,000	
Short-term lease cost		114,000		126,000	
Total lease cost	\$	680,000	\$	561,000	
Cash paid for lease liabilities:					
Cash flows from operating leases	\$	553,000	\$	643,000	
Right of use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities	\$	_	\$	171,000	
Weighted-average remaining lease term—operating leases		1.8 years		2.6 years	
Weighted-average discount rate—operating leases		9.4%		9.4%	
Right-of-use assets:					
Cost	S	2,333,000	\$	2,385,000	
Accumulated amortization	· ·	(2,036,000)	Ť	(1,643,000)	
	\$	297,000	\$	742,000	
Operating lease liability:					
Current portion	\$	459,000	\$	463,000	
Non-current portion	<u></u>	291,000		755,000	
	\$	750,000	\$	1,218,000	

The following table illustrates the maturities of our operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2024:

	Amount
2025	\$ 508,000
2026	249,000
2027	59,000
2028 and thereafter	 _
Total lease payments	 816,000
Less: imputed interest	66,000
Present value of lease liabilities	 750,000
Less: Current lease liabilities	459,000
Non-current lease liabilities	\$ 291,000

The following table outlines the locations and lease termination dates for the Company's Right-of-Use Assets under operating leases for the years 2025 to 2027:

Location	Square Footage	Lease-End Date		Approximate Future Payments	
Colchester, U.K. – Waterside House	13,223	Dec	2025	\$	242,000
Lutton, UK	600	Jan	2025		2,000
Billerica, MA	2,000	Dec	2026		214,000
Mount Olive, NJ	7,979	May	2027		336,000
Trivex, Singapore	950	Aug	2025		21,000
	F-26				

#### NOTE 17 — PREFERRED SHARES

## Preferred Stock

In March 2013, the issuance of up to 10.0 million shares of "Blank Check" preferred stock with a par value of \$0.00001 per share received approval from the stockholders of the Company.

The following shares were designated as authorized:

- Three million shares of Series A Convertible Preferred Stock ("Series A Preferred Stock") on December 31, 2014.
- Three million shares of Series B Convertible Preferred Stock ("Series B Preferred Stock") on February 11, 2015.
- Three million shares of Series C Convertible Preferred Stock ("Series C Preferred Stock") on February 24, 2015.

On February 5, 2016, the Company terminated the Series A Preferred Stock and Series C Preferred Stock and increased the number of designated shares of Series B Preferred Stock to 5,000,000. The following shares were designated as authorized: Five million shares of Series D Convertible Preferred Stock ("Series D Preferred Stock") on April 25, 2016. On December 6, 2016, the Company terminated the Series B Preferred Stock. The following shares were designated as authorized: Five thousand shares of Series E Convertible Preferred Stock ("Series E Preferred Stock") on December 21, 2016. On November 9, 2022, the Company's Board of Directors (i) terminated the Series D Preferred Stock and Series E Preferred Stock and (ii) designated the following shares as authorized: 47,500 shares of new Series A Preferred Stock.

#### Series A Preferred Stock

On November 9, 2022, the Company's Board of Directors (the "Board") declared a dividend of one one-thousandth of a share of Series A Preferred Stock, par value \$0.00001 per share ("Series A Preferred Stock"), for each outstanding share of the Company's common stock, to stockholders of record on November 21, 2022.

Each share of Series A Preferred Stock entitled the holder to 1,000,000 votes per share, and each fraction of a share had a ratable number of votes. Thus, each one-thousandth share of Series A Preferred Stock was entitled to 1,000 votes. The outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock voted together with the outstanding shares of the Company's common stock as a single class exclusively concerning the proposal to adopt an amendment to the Company's Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, to reclassify the outstanding shares of the Company's Common Stock into a smaller number of shares of common stock at a ratio specified in or determined under the terms of such amendment (the "Reverse Stock Split"). The Series A Preferred Stock was not entitled to vote on any other matter except to the extent required under the Delaware General Corporation Law.

The Series A Preferred Stock was not convertible into, or exchangeable for, shares of any other class, series of stock, or other securities of the Company. The Series A Preferred Stock had no stated maturity and is not subject to any sinking fund. The Series A Preferred Stock was not restricted to the Company's redemption or repurchase of shares when there was any arrearage in the payment of dividends or sinking fund installments. The Certificate of Designation was filed with the Delaware Secretary of State and became effective on November 9, 2022. The holders of Series A Preferred Stock were not entitled to receive dividends.

On January 11, 2023, the Company held a special meeting of stockholders (the "Special Meeting") whereby stockholders voted on a proposal to authorize the Board, at its discretion, to affect the Reverse Stock Split. All shares of Series A Preferred Stock that were not present in person or by proxy at the Special Meeting held to vote on the Reverse Stock Split immediately before the opening of the polls at such meeting (the "Initial Redemption Time") were automatically redeemed in whole, but not in part, by the Company at the Initial Redemption Time without further action on the part of the Company or the holder of shares of Series A Preferred Stock (the "Initial Redemption"). Any outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock that were not redeemed according to an Initial Redemption were redeemed in whole but not in part on March 24, 2023 (i) if the Board ordered such redemption in its sole discretion, automatically and effective on such time and date specified by the Board in its sole discretion or (ii) automatically upon the approval by the Company's stockholders of the Reverse Stock Split at the Special Meeting held for voting on such proposal ("the Subsequent Redemption").

Each share of Series A Preferred Stock redeemed in any redemption described above was redeemed in consideration for the right to receive an amount equal to \$0.00001 in cash for each ten (10) whole shares of Series A Preferred Stock that were "beneficially owned" by the "beneficial owner" (as such terms are defined in the certificate of designation concerning the Series A Preferred Stock) thereof as of the applicable redemption time and redeemed under such redemption, payable upon receipt by the Company of a written request submitted by the relevant holder to the corporate secretary of the Company following the applicable redemption time.

#### NOTE 17 — PREFERRED SHARES (continued)

Series A Preferred Stock (continued)

The Company was not solely in control of the redemption of the shares of Series A Preferred Stock since the holders had the option of deciding whether to vote in respect of the above-described Reverse Stock Split, which determined whether a given holder's shares of Series A Preferred Stock were redeemed in the Initial Redemption or the Subsequent Redemption. Since the redemption of the Series A Preferred Stock was not solely in the control of the Company, the shares of Series A Preferred Stock were classified within mezzanine equity in the Company's audited consolidated balance sheet. The shares of Series A Preferred Stock were measured at redemption value. The value of Series A Preferred Stock shares as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, was de minimis. As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, no shares of Series A Preferred Stock were authorized and no shares of Series A Preferred Stock were issued and outstanding. See Certificate of Elimination — Series A Preferred Stock.

#### Certificate of Elimination - Series A Preferred Stock

On April 25, 2016, the Company filed a Certificate of Designation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, designating 5,000,000 shares out of the Company's authorized but unissued shares of its preferred stock as Series D Convertible Preferred Stock, par value \$0.00001 per share.

On December 21, 2016, the Company filed a Certificate of Designation with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, designating 5,000 shares out of the Company's authorized but unissued shares of its preferred stock as Series E Convertible Preferred Stock, par value \$0.00001 per share.

On November 9, 2022, the Company filed Certificates of Elimination for each of the Series D Preferred Stock and Series E Preferred Stock with the Secretary of State of Delaware, which, effective upon filing, eliminated all matters outlined in the Certificates of Designation of Series D Preferred Stock and Series E Preferred Stock previously filed by the Company. According to the Certificates of Elimination, the shares that were previously designated as Series D Preferred Stock and Series E Preferred Stock resume the status of authorized but unissued shares of preferred stock, par value \$0.00001 per share, of the Company, issuable from time to time, in one or more series, under the Certificate of Incorporation.

On March 22, 2023, the Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board") approved a resolution to eliminate the Company's Certificate of Designation, Preferences, and Rights (the "Certificate of Elimination") of the Series A Preferred Stock, par value \$0.00001 per share (the "Series A Preferred Stock"), that was filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on November 9, 2022. Upon the effective filing of this Certificate of Elimination, the shares previously designated under the certificate of designation as Series A Preferred Stock shall resume the status of authorized but unissued shares of the Company's preferred stock.

On March 24, 2023, the Company filed a certificate of elimination (the "Certificate of Elimination") with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware for the Series A Preferred Stock. The Certificate of Elimination (i) eliminated the previous designation of 47,500 shares of Series A Preferred Stock from the Company's Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, none of which were outstanding at the time of the filing of such Certificate of Elimination, and (ii) caused such shares of Series A Preferred Stock to resume their status as authorized but unissued and non-designated shares of preferred stock of the Company.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, no Preferred Stock shares were authorized, issued, or outstanding. The Company previously had five series of Preferred Stock designated: Series A, Series B, Series C, Series D, and Series E. Each series has been fully redeemed, terminated, or otherwise eliminated. The Company filed Certificates of Elimination with the Secretary of State of Delaware for each series.

No new series of Preferred Stock has been authorized or designated by the Board of Directors between January 1, 2025, and the date of the audit report.

## NOTE 18 — STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

## Common Stock

The Company is authorized to issue up to 100,000,000 shares of Common Stock, \$0.0001 par value per share. As of December 31, 2024, and 2023, the Company had 2,467,618 and 2,439,923 shares of common stock issued and 2,467,485 and 2,439,790 shares of common stock outstanding, respectively.

#### NOTE 18 — STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (continued)

#### Common Stock Activity

For the year ending December 31, 2024

- Issued 8,000 shares of common stock to specific board members as part of a commitment agreement valued at \$160,000 (the common stock's value was determined on the agreement's original date);
- Issued 19.695 shares of common stock in satisfaction of the conversion of restricted stock unit awards and
- Recognized approximately \$996,000 of stock-based compensation costs associated with outstanding stock options in general and administrative expenses offsetting additional capital investments.

#### For the year ending December 31, 2023

- Issued 10,000 shares of common stock to specific board members as part of a commitment agreement valued at \$200,000. The common stock's value was determined on the agreement's original date.
- Issued 14,193 shares of common stock as payment of the minimum withholding tax obligation due upon the vesting of shares restricted stock units.
- Issued 48,368 shares of common stock, net of 14,193 shares attributable to withholding tax, upon the exercise of restricted stock units under the Company's various stock compensation plans.
- Recognized approximately \$1,942,000 of stock-based compensation costs associated with outstanding stock options in general and administrative expenses offsetting additional capital investments.

#### Common Stock Warrants

During the year ended December 31, 2024, 1,534 warrants expired and 75,757 warrants forfeited. As of December 31, 2024, these outstanding warrants contained no intrinsic value. The weighted average exercise price of warrants outstanding on December 31, 2024, is \$65.00, with a weighted average remaining contractual life of 1.1 years.

The following tables set forth common stock purchase warrants outstanding as of December 31, 2024, and 2023:

	Number of Warrants (in shares)	 Weighted Average Exercise Price
Outstanding and exercisable, December 31, 2022	458,746	\$ 71.60
Warrants expired and forfeited	(2,666)	(1,200.30)
Outstanding and exercisable, December 31, 2023	456,080	65.10
Warrants expired forfeited	(77,291)	(65.30)
Outstanding and exercisable, December 31, 2024	378,789	\$ 65.00

			Common stock	issuable u	on exercise of w	arrants outstanding and ex	ercisable							
			For the year-ending	For the year-ending										
December 31, 2024						December 31, 2023								
							Weighted Average							
		Warrants	Weighted Average			Warrants	Remaining							
		Outstanding and	Remaining		ted Average	Outstanding and	Exercisable		hted Average					
_	Range of	Exercisable (in	Contractual Life	E	xercise	Exercisable	Contractual Life		Exercise					
Ŀ	Exercise Prices	shares)	(years)		Price	(in shares)	(years)		Price					
\$	Exercise Prices 65.00	shares) 378,789	(years) 1.11 yrs	\$	Price 65.00	(in shares) 454,546	(years) 3.11 yrs	\$	Price 65.00					
\$ \$				\$ \$				\$ \$						
\$ \$ \$	65.00			\$ \$ \$		454,546	3.11 yrs	\$ \$ \$	65.00					
\$ \$ \$	65.00 68.20	378,789	1.11 yrs	\$ \$ \$	65.00	454,546 1,500	3.11 yrs 1.18 yrs	\$ \$ \$	65.00 68.20					
\$ \$ \$	65.00 68.20	378,789	1.11 yrs	\$ \$ \$ \$	65.00	454,546 1,500 34	3.11 yrs 1.18 yrs 1.54 yrs	\$ \$ \$	65.00 68.20 600.00					

#### NOTE 19 — STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

#### Overview

Vislink Technologies, Inc. and its subsidiaries ("the Company") leverage stock-based compensation as a strategic tool to attract, motivate, and retain key personnel. This aligns their interests with those of our shareholders by offering them a stake in the Company's success. We administer various plans that grant stock options and Restricted Stock Units (RSUs) to our officers, directors, key employees, and consultants.

#### Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan Awards

The Company operates multiple equity incentive plans, including the 2013 Stock Option Plan, 2015 Incentive Compensation Plan, 2016 Incentive Compensation Plan, and 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan. These plans facilitate the granting of stock options, which may be settled in shares or net-settled, emphasizing our flexible approach to compensation. The options vest over three years and are exercisable up to ten years from the grant date.

Significant modifications and enhancements have been made to our plans over time to ensure they continue to serve the intended purpose effectively. This includes the immediate vesting provisions for terminated employees and removing a cap on the annual share awards per participant, reflecting our adaptability to changing business and operational needs.

#### Inducement Awards

The Company grants time-vested and performance-based stock options under inducement awards, consistent with NASDAQ Listing Rule 5653(c)(4). These inducement awards, granted outside of our existing equity compensation plans, are designed to reward employees for their commitment and performance toward achieving our strategic goals.

#### Time-Based and Performance-Based Stock Option Awards

The Company's stock option awards are granted under terms that ensure they vest based on time or performance-based criteria. Performance-based awards are tied to achieving specific financial metrics, aligning employee rewards with the Company's success. The Company granted time-vested stock options and performance-based stock options to various employees in connection with their employment agreements. The ten-year, non-statutory time-vested, and performance-based option inducement awards were granted under the NASDAQ Listing Rule 5653(c)(4) outside of the Company's existing equity compensation plans (all subject to continued employment).

#### Time-based and Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Awards ("RSUs")

The Company's RSUs are granted under terms that ensure they vest based on time or performance-based criteria. Performance-based awards are tied to achieving specific financial metrics, aligning employee rewards with the Company's success.

The Company granted awards under the amended plan for time-based restricted stock units ("RSUs") to various employees subject to continued employment. The RSUs initially vest between 25% and 33% on their one-year anniversary dates and will vest between 24 and 36 equal monthly periods thereafter. Additionally, the Company granted awards under the amended plan for performance-based restricted stock units subject to performance vesting conditions and continued employment. The RSUs will vest in three equal tranches upon reaching performance conditions for each tranche.

#### NOTE 19 — STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (continued)

2023 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan

The Company received stockholder approval on August 23, 2023, to adopt the 2023 Omnibus Equity Incentive Plan (the "2023 Plan"), which will enable it to continue to grant equity-based compensation awards to employees (including officers), non-employee consultants, non-employee directors, and affiliates. The 2023 Plan replaces the 2015 Incentive Compensation Plan, 2016 Incentive Compensation Plan, and 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan. The Company has ceased granting awards under the 2015 Incentive Compensation Plan, 2016 Incentive Compensation Plan, and 2017 Incentive Compensation Plan. The Company has been authorized to reserve 166,415 shares of its common stock for delivery under the 2023 Plan. The 2023 Plan rewards eligible participants for contributing to the Company's success and encourages retaining and recruiting qualified personnel. The Company's Board of Directors and Compensation Committee will administer the 2023 Plan.

The 2023 Plan generally grants awards without consideration other than prior and future service. The Company's compensation committee may grant awards under the 2023 Plan either alone or in addition to, in tandem with, or as a substitute for any other award granted under the 2023 Plan or other company plans. It is important to note, however, that if a SAR is granted in conjunction with an ISO, the grant date and term of the SAR and ISO must be the same, and the exercise price of the SAR cannot be lower than the exercise price of the ISO. A written award agreement between us and the grantee will outline the material terms of the award.

The table below shows stock-based compensation expenses, included in general and administrative expenses, under the following plans.

			For the ye Decem	ears ended iber 31,	ĺ
			2024		2023
Equity-based plans:					
Time-vested option inducement awards		\$	113,000	\$	181,000
Time-based restricted stock awards			883,000		1,761,000
		\$	996,000	\$	1,942,000
		-			
	F-31				

#### NOTE 19 — STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (continued)

The following tables provide supplementary data under various equity compensation plans. The first summarizes activity during the year, including Quantity ('Qty') and Weighted Average ('Wtd Avg'). The second presents key year-end metrics.

#### For the year ending December 31, 2024

Stock-Based Compensation Activity

Beginning Balance Outstanding				Activit Gra		Activit Canceled Fort		pired,	Activity Exerc	ise	<u>d</u>	Ending Outsta			Ending Exer		
	Qty	Wt	d Avg	Qty	Wtd Avg	Qty	W	td Avg	Qty		Wtd Avg	Qty	W	td Avg	Qty	W	td Avg
Long-term stock incentive plan awa 2,	162,162	\$ 1,	768.46	_	_	(391)	\$ (1	,783.80)	_		_	1,771	\$ 1	,765,08	1,771	\$ 1	,765.08
<u>Time-vested option inducement awa</u> 17		\$	6.27	_	_	_		_	_		_	17,966	\$	_	17,966	\$	32.90
Performance-based stock option inducement awards:	2.500	Ф	22.12									12.500	ф	22.12			
<u>Time-based restricted stock awards:</u>	<u>:</u>	\$	33.12	_	_	_		_	_		_	12,500	\$	33.12	_		
12 Performance-based restricted stock	26,703	\$	11.92	78,241	\$ 3.90	(56,260)	\$	(5.40)	(19,695)	\$	(9.50)	128,989	\$	10.30	56,563	\$	29.00
<u>awards:</u> 64	4,154	\$	18.02	88,485	\$ 3.85	(42,832)	\$	(4.30)	_		_	109,807	\$	11.96	_		_

#### **Stock-Based Compensation Metrics**

				Weighted Avera Contract					
	Range of Exercise Prices	Exercise		Intrinsic Value Per Share		Options Outstanding	Options Exercisable	Remaining Amortization Period	Remaining ompensation Expense
Long-term stock incentive plan awards:	\$139.20 to \$1,944.00	\$	_	2.5 years	2.5 years	0.0 years	\$ _		
Time-vested option inducement awards:	\$34.20	\$	_	5.1 years	5.1 years	0.0 years	\$ -0-		
Performance-based stock option inducement awards:	\$34.20	\$	_	5.1 years	0.0 years	0.1 years	\$ 414,000		
Time-based restricted stock awards:	\$3.36 to \$72.00	\$	_	1.2 years	1.4 years	0.9 years	\$ 1,326,391		
Performance-based restricted stock awards:	\$3.36 to \$21.00	\$	_	1.6 years	0.0 years	1.6 years	\$ 1,313,000		
		F-32	2						

#### NOTE 19 — STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION (continued)

The following tables provide supplementary data under various equity compensation plans. The first summarizes activity during the year, including Quantity ('Qty') and Weighted Average ('Wtd Avg'). The second presents key year-end metrics.

#### For the year ending December 31, 2023

#### **Stock-Based Compensation Activity**

Beginning Balance Outstanding		Ur	Activity Units Granted		Canceled	Activity Units Canceled, Expired, Forfeited		Activity Units Exercised		Ending Balance Outstanding			Ending Balance Exercisable		ė	
Qty		Wtd Avg	Qty		Wtd Avg	Qty	V	Vtd Avg	Qty	Wtd Avg	Qty	W	td Avg	Qty	W	td Avg
Long-term stock incentive plan awards:																
2,250	\$	1,756.01	_		_	(88)	\$ (	(1,431.14)	_	_	2,162	\$ 1	,768.46	2,162	\$ 1	,768.46
Time-vested option inducement awards:																
24,72	5 \$	12.90	_		_	(6,759)	\$	(8.63)	_	_	17,966	\$	6.27	17,592	\$	27.23
Performance-based stock option inducement awards:																
12,500	) \$	33.12	_		_	_		_	_	_	12,500	\$	33.12	_		_
Time-based restricted stock awards:																
140,77	36 \$	23.09	53,750	\$	8.17	(19,415)	\$	(21.48)	(48,368)	\$ (41.58)	126,703	\$	11.92	30,692	\$	36.98
Performance-based restricted stock awards:																
71,30	3 \$	21.01	12,500	\$	5.68	(19,649)	\$	(21.02)	_	_	64,154	\$	18.02	_		_

#### **Stock-Based Compensation Metrics**

				Weighted Average Remaining Contractual Life				
	Range of Exercise Prices	Exercise V		Options Outstanding	Options Exercisable	Remaining Amortization Period		Remaining ompensation Expense
	\$139.20 to	_	_				_	
Long-term stock incentive plan awards:	\$1,944.00	\$	_	3.5 years	3.5 years	0.0 years	\$	_
Time-vested option inducement awards:	\$34.20	\$	_	6.1 years	6.1 years	0.1 years	\$	113,000
Performance-based stock option inducement awards:	\$34.20	\$	_	6.1 years	0.0 years	1.1 years	\$	414,000
	\$5.71 to			•	•	•		
Time-based restricted stock awards:	\$72.00	\$	_	1.9 years	1.7 years	1.6 years	\$	1,511,000
	\$5.80 to			·	·	•		
Performance-based restricted stock awards:	\$21.00	\$	_	2.1 years	0.0 years	2.1 years	\$	1,156,000
		F_33	3					

#### NOTE 20 — COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

#### Pension:

The Company may make a matching contribution to its employees' 401(k) plan. Furthermore, Vislink operates a Group Personal Plan through its UK subsidiary, investing funds with Royal London. Employees of the Company in the United Kingdom are entitled to participate in the Company's employee benefit plan, to which varying amounts are contributed according to their status. Additionally, the Company operates a stakeholder pension plan in the United Kingdom.

The table below represents the Company's matching contributions as follows:

		For the ye	ars endec	d		
	<u></u>	Decemb	oer 31,			
		2024 202				
Company matching contributions - Group Personal Pension Plan	\$	\$ 142,000 \$ 14				

#### NOTE 21 — CONCENTRATIONS

#### Customer Concentration Risk

During the year ending December 31, 2024, no customer sales represented more than 10% of the Company's consolidated sales. During the year ending December 31, 2023, the Company did not report any sales to an individual customer that constituted more than 10% of its total sales.

As of December 31, 2024, one customer owed the Company approximately \$1,180,000, representing more than 10% of its consolidated net receivables. As of December 31, 2023, one customer owed the Company approximately \$1,111,000, representing 13% of its consolidated net receivables.

#### Vendor concentration risk

During the year ending December 31, 2024, two vendors exceeded 10% of the Company's consolidated inventory purchases, with approximately \$2,974,000 (23%) and \$1,504,000 (12%), respectively. During the year ending December 31, 2023, the Company recorded \$2,132,000 to a single vendor, exceeding 10% of the Company's total consolidated vendor purchases.

As of December 31, 2024, three vendors accounted for over 10% of the Company's consolidated accounts payable, with balances of approximately \$366,000 (15%), \$285,000 (12%), and \$249,000 (10%), respectively. As of December 31, 2023, one vendor exceeded 10% of the Company's consolidated accounts payable of approximately \$652,000 (20%).

#### NOTE 22 – SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

The Company has one operating segment. The chief executive officer and chief financial officer act as the chief operating decision makers ("CODM"). The CODM reviews the financial statements on a consolidated basis and other financial analysis, with respect to the statement of operations, focuses primarily on the following expense categories in evaluating performance and allocating resources: cost of components and personnel (\$14.0 million and \$13.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively), general and administrative expenses (\$21.6 million and \$19.4 million), research and development (\$4.6 million and \$3.5 million), and inventory impairments and valuation write-downs (\$6.8 million in 2024; no comparable amount in 2023). These expense categories represent the key cost drivers of Vislink's operations and reflect how management monitors performance.

In the following table, the Company has disaggregated revenue by the Company's primary geographical markets and revenue sources:

		For the ye Decem	l 
	2	2024	2023
Primary geographical markets:			 
North America	\$	11,783,000	\$ 13,501,000
South America		21,000	528,000
Europe		7,835,000	6,420,000
Asia		3,513,000	3,354,000
Rest of World		4,577,000	3,679,000
	\$	27,729,000	\$ 27,482,000
Primary revenue source:			
Equipment sales	\$	23,471,000	\$ 24,054,000
Installation, integration, and repairs		2,634,000	1,687,000
Warranties		310,000	217,000
Service level agreements	\$	1,314,000	\$ 1,524,000
	\$	27,729,000	\$ 27,482,000
Long-Lived Assets:			
United States	\$	2,420,000	\$ 2,767,000
Netherlands		2,000	20,000
United Kingdom		2,437,000	3,723,000
	\$	4,859,000	\$ 6,510,000

#### NOTE 23 — REBATES

The following table represents tax rebates related to the research costs incurred by our U.K. subsidiary, which are included in other income.

	For the ye	ars ended		
	 Decem	ber 31,		
	2024		2023	
tes	\$ 378,000	\$		331,000

While the Company plans to continue filing rebate forms for the 2024 fiscal year, it cannot guarantee that rebates will be available at a similar level or at all in future years.

#### NOTE 24 — RESTRUCTURING COSTS

On November 12, 2024, the Company initiated restructuring actions to streamline operations, reduce costs, and consolidate global functions. These actions primarily involved the closure of the Poway, California facility, transfer of certain U.K. operations to the U.S., and reductions in workforce.

As a result, the Company incurred the following restructuring-related charges during the year ended December 31, 2024:

- Employee severance and related costs.
- Lease termination and contract exit costs.
- Non-cash impairments to right-of-use assets, inventory, and intangible assets

The reconciliation of accrued restructuring liabilities is as follows (does not include non-cash charges):

Balance, January 1, 2024	\$ -0-
Restructuring costs incurred	489,000
Cash payments	(68,000)
Balance, December 31, 2024	\$ 421,000

#### NOTE 25 — INCOME TAXES

The provision (benefit) for income taxes consists of the following:

	1	For the Years Ended December 31,						
	2024			2023				
Current tax provision								
Federal	\$	_	\$	_				
State		_		_				
Deferred tax provision (benefit)								
Federal	(1,4	180,500)		(982,000)				
State		2,700		(2,457,000)				
Foreign	(3,0	066,000)		(1,516,000)				
Change in the valuation allowance	4,3	398,800		4,737,000				
Total deferred tax provision (benefit)	(1	145,000)		(218,000)				
				,				
Income tax benefit	\$ (1	145,000)	\$	(218,000)				

A reconciliation of the statutory tax rate to the effective tax rate is as follows:

	For the Years Ended December 31,	
	2024	2023
Statutory federal income tax rate	21.00%	21.00%
State and local taxes, net of federal benefit	(0.03)	1.15
Permanent differences	0.34	0.49
Equity compensation	(0.90)	(3.63)
Provision to return	0.10	7.49
Foreign Rate Differential	1.67	1.44
Change rate	(1.95)	27.13
Valuation allowance	(19.55)	(52.73)
Effective tax rate	0.68%	2.34%

Under the provisions of ASC 740, the Company may recognize the benefits of uncertain tax positions when it is more likely than not that the merits of the position(s) will be sustained upon audit by the relevant tax authorities. No uncertain tax positions were taken or expected on a tax return that would be determined to be an unrecognized tax benefit recorded on the Company's financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2024, or 2023. The Company does not expect its unrecognized tax benefit position to change during the next twelve months.

#### NOTE 25 — INCOME TAXES (continued)

Deferred income taxes reflect the tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial accounting purposes and the amounts used for income tax reporting. Significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets are as follows:

		For the Years Ended December 31,		
		2024		2023
Deferred Tax Assets				
Federal R&D credit	\$	3,007,000	\$	3,007,000
Inventory		617,000		422,000
Allowance for bad debt		26,000		73,000
Compensation related		30,000		12,000
Pension		76,000		55,000
Other accruals		48,000		34,000
State net operating losses		7,233,000		7,235,000
Federal net operating losses		51,640,000		47,296,000
Interest disallowance		1,093,000		1,150,000
Stock options		6,677,000		6,995,000
Other		558,000		465,000
Valuation Allowance		(70,851,000)		(66,468,000)
Total Deferred Tax Assets		154,000		276,000
Deferred Tax Liabilities				
Property and Equipment		(186,000)		(178,000)
Intangibles		(344,000)		(616,000)
Prepaid Expenses		(25,000)		(29,000)
Total Deferred Tax Liabilities		(555,000)		(822,000)
Net Deferred Tax Liability	\$	(401,000)	\$	(546,000)

As of December 31, 2024, the Company has federal net operating losses ("NOL") of approximately \$194.2 million that will expire beginning in 2027. The Company has federal NOLs of approximately \$37.5 million that may be carried forward indefinitely. The Company also has state NOL carryforwards of \$161.3 million, which will expire beginning in 2027. Besides, the Company has foreign NOL carryforwards of approximately \$35.5 million that generally do not expire except under certain circumstances. The Company also has research and development credits of approximately \$3.0 million, which will begin to expire in 2027. The years that remain open for review by taxing authorities are 2021 to 2024 for Federal, Foreign, and State Income Tax returns. Finally, the federal and state NOLs and various income tax credits are subject to annual limitations under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code, in addition to state provisions, and may not be able to be fully realized.

Realizing the NOL carryforwards and other temporary deferred tax differences is contingent on future taxable earnings. The Company's deferred tax assets were reviewed for expected utilization using a "more likely than not" approach by assessing the available positive and negative evidence surrounding its recoverability. Accordingly, a valuation allowance has been recorded against the Company's deferred tax assets, as it was determined, based on past and present losses, that it was "more likely than not" that the Company's deferred tax assets would not be realized. The valuation allowance was increased to the full carrying amount of the Company's deferred tax assets. In future years, if management determines that the deferred tax assets are "more likely than not" to be realized, the recognized tax benefits relating to reversing the valuation allowance will be recorded. The Company will continue to assess and evaluate strategies that enable the deferred tax asset, or portion thereof, to be utilized. It will reduce the valuation allowance appropriately when it is determined that the "more likely than not" criteria are satisfied.

The net operating loss carryovers may be subject to annual limitations under Internal Revenue Code Section 382 and similar state provisions should there be a greater than 50% ownership change as determined under the applicable income tax regulations. The limitation amount would be determined based on the company's value immediately before the ownership change, and subsequent ownership changes could further impact the annual limitation amount. An ownership change under Section 382 may have occurred in the past or could happen in the future, such that the NOLs available for utilization could be significantly limited. The Company plans to perform a Section 382 analysis in the future.

#### NOTE 25 — INCOME TAXES (continued)

Effective for tax years beginning after December 31, 2017, the Tax Act includes a participation exemption system of taxation, which generally provides for 100% dividends received deduction on certain qualifying dividend distributions received by U.S. C-corporation shareholders from their 10% or more owned foreign subsidiaries. As a result of this new participation exemption system, it is generally anticipated that the Company should not be subject to additional U.S. federal income taxation on its future receipt of actual dividend income (instead of deemed inclusion amounts under specific anti-deferral rules) from its foreign subsidiary.

For tax years beginning after December 31, 2017, the Tax Act introduced a new limitation on deducting interest expense. Current-year interest deductions are limited (among other restrictions) to 30% of adjusted taxable income, with various modifications and exceptions. The Company does incur interest expenses and evaluates each year the impact, if any, of the new limitation.

The Company has not provided for deferred taxes and foreign withholding taxes on the excess of the financial reporting basis over the tax basis in our investments in foreign subsidiaries that are nearly permanent in duration. In general, it is the Company's practice and intention to reinvest our foreign subsidiary's earnings in those operations. Generally, our foreign subsidiary's earnings have become subject to U.S. taxation based on specific U.S. tax law provisions, such as the recently enacted territorial transition tax under section 965 and under certain other circumstances. Due to the complexities of the provisions introduced with the Tax Act, and the underlying assumptions that would have to be made, it is not practicable to estimate the amount of tax provision required to account for these foreign undistributed earnings. The Company will account for any additional expense or deduction in the year it is claimed. The Company will continue to review each year whether this treatment is appropriate.

The Company did not identify any material uncertain tax positions and is not under any income tax examinations.

#### NOTE 26 — RECLASSIFICATION OF PRIOR PERIOD AMOUNTS

Specific amounts in the prior period's presentation within the Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss have been reclassified to conform to the current period presentation. Specifically, inventory valuation adjustments, which were previously presented as a separate line item within operating expenses, are now included within the subtotal "Cost of Revenue." These reclassifications did not impact previously reported total operating expenses, loss from operations, net loss, or loss per share.

#### NOTE 27 — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Nasdaq Delisting

On February 10, 2025, the Company filed a Form 25 with the SEC to voluntarily delist our common stock from The Nasdaq Capital Market. Our common stock became quoted for trading with the OTCQB of OTC Markets on February 12, 2025. The decision to move common stock trading from Nasdaq to OTC Markets was made to reduce costs and improve operational efficiencies.

Significant Shareholder Update

On February 12, 2025, Hale Capital Partners, LP filed a Schedule 13D with the SEC, reporting its acquisition of approximately 12% of the Company's outstanding common stock. Between that date, and the date of this filing, Hale Capital filed amendments to the Schedule 13D and various reports on Form 4 under Section 16 of the Exchange Act, disclosing increases in Hale Capital's holdings of our stock. As of the date of this filing, Hale Capital has publicly disclosed beneficial ownership of 376,594 shares, representing approximately 15.26% of our outstanding common stock. As of the date of this filing, the Company has not received any communication from Hale Capital regarding potential changes to its governance, management, or strategic direction.

## DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

As of December 31, 2024, Vislink Technologies, Inc. (the "Corporation", "we," "us," or "our") has one class of securities registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"): our common stock, par value \$0.00001 per share (the "Common Stock).

#### General

The following description of our capital stock and specific provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws are summaries and are qualified by reference to our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws. Copies of these documents can be accessed through hyperlinks to those documents in the list of exhibits in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2024.

Our authorized capital stock comprises 100,000,000 shares of Common Stock, a par value of \$0.00001 per share, and 10,000,000 shares of "blank check" preferred stock. As of April 30, 2025, we had 2,467,618 shares of Common Stock issued and outstanding, and no shares of preferred stock were outstanding.

#### Common Stock

#### Voting Rights

Each stockholder has one vote for each share of Common Stock held on all matters submitted to a vote of stockholders. A stockholder may vote in person or by proxy. A plurality of the votes cast determines the elections of directors. Because our stockholders do not have cumulative voting rights, stockholders holding a majority of the voting power of our shares of Common Stock will be able to elect all of our directors. Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws provide that stockholder actions may be affected at a duly called meeting of stockholders or pursuant to the written consent of the majority of stockholders. A special meeting of stockholders may be called by the majority of our Board of Directors or by a committee determined by the Board of Directors with the power to call such meetings.

#### Dividend Rights

The holders of outstanding shares of Common Stock are entitled to receive dividends out of funds legally available at times and in the amounts that our Board of Directors may determine, provided that required dividends, if any, on the preferred stock have been paid or provided. However, to date, we have not paid or declared cash distributions or dividends on our common stock and do not currently intend to pay cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. The Board of Directors will determine the declaration of cash dividends in the future based on our earnings, financial condition, capital requirements, and other relevant factors. To finance our operations, we intend to retain all earnings if and when generated.

#### No Preemptive or Similar Rights

Holders of our Common Stock do not have preemptive rights, and our Common Stock is not convertible or redeemable.

#### Right to Receive Liquidation Distributions

Upon our dissolution, liquidation, or winding-up, the assets legally available for distribution to our stockholders and remaining after payment to holders of preferred stock of the amounts, if any, to which they are entitled are distributable ratably among the holders of our Common Stock subject to any senior class of securities.

#### Anti-Takeover Provisions

The authorization of undesignated preferred stock makes it possible for our Board of Directors to issue preferred stock with voting or other rights or preferences that could impede the success of any attempt to change our control. Provisions such as these, which are intended to acquire control by a third party more difficult, are designed to enhance the likelihood of continued stability in the composition of our Board of Directors and its policies and to discourage certain types of transactions that may involve an actual or threatened acquisition of us. These provisions are also designed to reduce our vulnerability to an unsolicited acquisition proposal and discourage specific tactics used in proxy fights. However, such provisions could have the effect of discouraging others from making tender offers for our shares and may have the effect of deterring hostile takeovers or delaying changes in our control or management. Consequently, these provisions also may inhibit fluctuations in the market price of our stock that may result from actual or rumored takeover attempts.

#### Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws includes several provisions that could deter hostile takeovers or delays or prevent changes in control of our company, including the following:

- No Cumulative Voting. The Delaware General Corporation Law ("DGCL") provides that stockholders are denied the right to cumulate votes in the election of directors unless the company's certificate of incorporation provides otherwise. Our amended and restated certificate of incorporation does not provide for cumulative voting.
- Special Meetings of Stockholders and Stockholder Action by Written Consent. Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws provides that all stockholder actions must be affected at a duly called meeting of stockholders and eliminate the right of stockholders to act by written consent without a meeting. Our bylaws also provide that only our chairman of the board, Chief Executive Officer (or if there is no Chief Executive Officer, the President) or the board of directors, pursuant to a resolution adopted by a majority of the total number of authorized directors may call a special meeting of stockholders.
- Advance Notice Requirements for Stockholder Proposals. Our bylaws provide that stockholders seeking to present proposals before a meeting of stockholders, including the nomination of director candidates, must provide timely advance notice in writing and specify requirements as to the form and content of a stockholder's notice.
- Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws. Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws provides that the stockholders cannot amend the provisions described above except by a vote of 66 2/3% or more of our outstanding Common Stock.

These provisions are intended to enhance the likelihood of continued stability in the composition of our Board and its policies and to discourage coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids. These provisions are also designed to reduce our vulnerability to hostile takeovers and discourage tactics used in proxy fights. However, such provisions could have the effect of discouraging others from making tender offers for our shares and may have the effect of delaying changes in our control or management. Consequently, these provisions may also inhibit fluctuations in the market price of our stock that could result from actual or rumored takeover attempts. We believe that the benefits of these provisions, including increased protection of our potential ability to negotiate with the proponent of an unfriendly or unsolicited proposal to acquire or restructure our company, outweigh the disadvantages of discouraging takeover proposals because negotiation of takeover proposals could improve their terms.

#### **Choice of Forum**

Our certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the state of Delaware (the "Chancery Court") is the exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Corporation, (ii) any action asserting a claim for breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation or the Corporation stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL, the Corporation's certificate of incorporation or by-laws or (iv) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine, in each case subject to said Court of Chancery having personal jurisdiction over the indispensable parties named as defendants therein.

This exclusive forum provision does not apply to suits brought to enforce any liability or duty created by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act") or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. To the extent that any such claims may be based upon federal law claims, Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive federal jurisdiction over all suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. Our bylaws further provide that the federal district courts of the United States will be the exclusive forum for resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act. However, stockholders cannot waive compliance with the federal securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder. The enforceability of similar choice of forum provisions in some other companies' bylaws has been challenged in legal proceedings, and it is possible that, in connection with any action, a court could find the choice of forum provisions contained in our bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable.

#### Section 203 of the DGCL

We are subject to Section 203 of the DGCL, which prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any "business combination" with any interested stockholder for a period of three years after the date that such stockholder became an interested stockholder. In general, Section 203 defines an "interested stockholder" as an entity or person who, together with the person's affiliates and associates, beneficially owns, or within three years prior to the time of determination of interested stockholder status did own, 15% or more of the outstanding voting stock of the corporation.

We are subject to Section 203 with the following exceptions:

- before the date that such a stockholder became an interested stockholder, the Board of Directors of the corporation approved either the business combination or the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder;
- upon closing of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction began, excluding for purposes of determining the voting stock outstanding (but not the outstanding voting stock owned by the interested stockholder) those shares owned (i) by persons who are directors and also officers and (ii) employee stock plans in which employee participants do not have the right to determine confidentially whether shares held subject to the plan will be tendered in a tender or exchange offer; or
- on or after such date that such stockholder became an interested stockholder, the business combination is approved by the Board of Directors and authorized at an annual or special meeting of the stockholders, and not by written consent, by the affirmative vote of at least 66 2/3% of the outstanding voting stock that the interested stockholder does not own.

In general, Section 203 defines business combination to include the following:

- any merger or consolidation involving the corporation and the interested stockholder;
- any sale, transfer, pledge, or other disposition of 10% or more of the assets of the corporation involving the interested stockholder;
- subject to certain exceptions, any transaction that results in the issuance or transfer by the corporation of any stock of the corporation to the interested stockholder;
- any transaction involving the corporation that has the effect of increasing the proportionate share of the stock of any class or series of the corporation beneficially owned by the interested stockholder; or
- guarantees, pledges or other financial benefits provided by or through the corporation.

#### Transfer Agent, Warrant Agent, and Registrars

Our transfer agent and registrar for our Common Stock in the United States is Continental Stock Transfer & Trust Company. Our Common Stock is quoted for trading on the OTCQB® Venture Market of OTC Markets Group Inc.

#### VISLINK TECHNOLOGIES, INC. INSIDER TRADING POLICY

and Guidelines with Respect to Certain Company Information and Certain Transactions in Company Securities

#### Purpose

This Insider Trading Policy (the "Policy") provides guidelines with respect to transactions in the securities of Vislink Technologies, Inc. (the "Company") and the handling of confidential information about the Company and the companies with which the Company engages in transactions or does business. The Company's Board of Directors has adopted this Policy to promote compliance with U.S. federal, state and foreign securities laws that prohibit certain persons who are aware of material nonpublic information about a company from: (i) trading in securities of that company; or (ii) providing material nonpublic information to other persons who may trade on the basis of that information.

#### Persons Subject to the Policy

This Policy applies to all officers of the Company and its subsidiaries, all members of the Company's Board of Directors, all employees and consultants of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Company may also determine that other persons should be subject to this Policy, such as contractors who have access to material nonpublic information. This Policy also applies to family members, other members of a person's household and entities controlled by a person covered by this Policy, as described below.

#### **Transactions Subject to the Policy**

This Policy applies to transactions in the Company's securities (collectively referred to in this Policy as "Company Securities"), including the Company's common stock, options to purchase common stock, or any other type of securities that the Company may issue, including (but not limited to) preferred stock, convertible debentures and warrants, as well as derivative securities that are not issued by the Company, such as exchange-traded put or call options or swaps relating to the Company's Securities. Transactions subject to this Policy include purchases, sales and bona fide gifts of Company Securities.

#### **Individual Responsibility**

Persons subject to this Policy have ethical and legal obligations to maintain the confidentiality of information about the Company and to not engage in transactions in Company Securities while in possession of material nonpublic information. Persons subject to this policy must not engage in illegal trading and must avoid the appearance of improper trading. Each individual is responsible for making sure that he, she or they complies with this Policy, and that any family member, household member or entity whose transactions are subject to this Policy, as discussed below, also comply with this Policy. In all cases, the responsibility for determining whether an individual is in possession of material nonpublic information rests with that individual, and any action on the part of the Company, the Compliance Officer or any other employee or director pursuant to this Policy (or otherwise) does not in any way constitute legal advice or insulate an individual from liability under applicable securities laws. You could be subject to severe legal penalties and disciplinary action by the Company for any conduct prohibited by this Policy or applicable securities laws, as described below in more detail under the heading "Consequences of Violations."

#### Administration of the Policy

For the purposes of this Policy, the Chief Financial Officer of the Company shall serve as the "Compliance Officer." The Compliance Officer shall be responsible for administration of this Policy. In the absence of the Chief Financial Officer of the Company, the Chief Compliance Officer of the Company (or such other officer of the Company that has been designated by the Chief Financial Officer of the Company in advance of such absence) shall serve as the "Compliance Officer" for purposes of this Policy during such absence. All determinations and interpretations by the Compliance Officer shall be final and not subject to further review.

#### Statement of Policy

It is the policy of the Company that no director, officer, employee or consultant of the Company (or any other person designated by this Policy or by the Compliance Officer as subject to this Policy) who is aware of material nonpublic information relating to the Company may, directly, or indirectly through family members or other persons or entities:

- 1. Engage in transactions in Company Securities, except as otherwise specified in this Policy under the headings "Transactions Under Company Plans" and "Rule 10b5-1 Plans"
- 2. Recommend that others engage in transactions in any Company Securities;
- 3. Disclose material nonpublic information to persons within the Company whose jobs do not require them to have that information, or outside of the Company to other persons, including, but not limited to, family, friends, business associates, investors and expert consulting firms, unless any such disclosure is made in accordance with the Company's policies regarding the protection or authorized external disclosure of information regarding the Company; or
- 4. Assist anyone engaged in the above activities.

In addition, it is the policy of the Company that no director, officer, employee or consultant of the Company (or any other person designated as subject to this Policy) who, in the course of working for the Company, learns of material nonpublic information about a company (1) with which the Company does business, such as the Company's distributors, vendors, customers and suppliers, or (2) that is involved in a potential transaction or business relationship with Company, may engage in transactions in that company's securities until the information becomes public or is no longer material.

There are no exceptions to this Policy, except as specifically noted herein. Transactions that may be necessary or justifiable for independent reasons (such as the need to raise money for an emergency expenditure), or small transactions, are not excepted from this Policy. The securities laws do not recognize any mitigating circumstances, and, in any event, even the appearance of an improper transaction must be avoided to preserve the Company's reputation for adhering to the highest standards of conduct.

#### **Definition of Material Nonpublic Information**

Material Information. Information is considered "material" if a reasonable investor would consider that information important in making a decision to buy, hold or sell securities. Any information that could be expected to affect a company's stock price, whether it is positive or negative, should be considered material. There is no bright-line standard for assessing materiality; rather, materiality is based on an assessment of all of the facts and circumstances, and is often evaluated by enforcement authorities with the benefit of hindsight. While it is not possible to define all categories of material information, some examples of information that ordinarily would be regarded as material are:

- Projections of future earnings or losses, or other earnings guidance;
- Changes to previously announced earnings guidance, or the decision to suspend earnings guidance;
- A pending or proposed merger, acquisition or tender offer;
- A pending or proposed acquisition or disposition of a significant asset;
- A pending or proposed joint venture;
- A Company restructuring;
- Significant related party transactions;
- A change in dividend policy, the declaration of a stock split, or an offering of additional securities;

- Bank borrowings or other financing transactions out of the ordinary course;
- The establishment of a repurchase program for Company Securities;
- A change in the Company's pricing or cost structure;
- · Major marketing changes;
- A change in management;
- A change in auditors or notification that the auditor's reports may no longer be relied upon;
- Development of a significant new product, process, or service;
- Pending or threatened significant litigation, or the resolution of such litigation;
- Impending bankruptcy or the existence of severe liquidity problems;
- The gain or loss of a significant customer or supplier;
- A significant cybersecurity incident, such as a data breach, or any other significant disruption in the company's operations or loss, potential loss, breach or unauthorized access of its property or assets, whether at its facilities or through its information technology infrastructure; or
- The imposition of an event-specific restriction on trading in Company Securities or the securities of another company or the extension or termination of such restriction.

The foregoing list is illustrative only and is not intended to provide a comprehensive list of all circumstances that could give rise to material information.

When Information is Considered Public. Information that has not been disclosed to the public is generally considered to be nonpublic information. In order to establish that the information has been disclosed to the public, it may be necessary to demonstrate that the information has been widely disseminated. Information generally would be considered widely disseminated if it has been disclosed through the newswire services, a broadcast on widely-available radio or television programs, publication in a widely-available newspaper, magazine or news website, or public disclosure documents filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") that are available on the SEC's website. By contrast, information would likely not be considered widely disseminated if it is available only to the Company's employees, or if it is only available to a select group of analysts, brokers and institutional investors.

Once information is widely disseminated, it is still necessary to provide the investing public with sufficient time to absorb the information. As a general rule, information should not be considered fully absorbed by the market until after the third Trading Day after the day on which the information is publicly released. As used herein, the term "Trading Day" shall mean any day on which the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC ( the "Nasdaq") or, if the Company's common stock is not then traded on the Nasdaq, the principal national securities exchange, automated quotation system or other trading market where the Company's common stock is then listed, quoted or traded, is open for trading. If, for example, the Company were to make a public announcement of previously material nonpublic information on a Monday that is a Trading Day (at any time after market open), the information would not be considered to be fully absorbed by the market until Friday (assuming Tuesday, Wednesday, and Thursday are Trading Days). However, if, for example, the Company were to make an announcement pre-market on a Monday that is a Trading Day, the information would not be considered to be fully absorbed by the market until Thursday (assuming Tuesday and Wednesday are both Trading Days). Although such circumstances are likely to be rare, depending on the particular circumstances, the Compliance Officer may determine that a longer or shorter absorption period should apply following public release of specific material nonpublic information. For the avoidance of doubt, all persons subject to this Policy, as well as the Family Members and Controlled Entities of such persons, may not engage in any transaction in Company Securities without first obtaining pre-clearance of the transaction from the Compliance Officer in accordance with the terms of this Policy, even after information is considered to be fully absorbed by the market, as set forth above.

#### Transactions by Family Members and Others

In addition to all directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Company (or any other person designated as subject to this Policy) ("you"), this Policy applies to all family members who reside with you (including a spouse, a child, a child away at college, stepchildren, grandchildren, parents, stepparents, grandparents, siblings and in-laws), anyone else who lives in your household, and any family members who do not live in your household but whose transactions in Company Securities are directed by you or are subject to your influence or control, such as parents or children who consult with you before they trade in Company Securities (collectively referred to as "Family Members"). You are responsible for the transactions of these other persons and therefore should make them aware of the need to confer with you before they trade in Company Securities, and you should treat all such transactions for the purposes of this Policy and applicable securities laws as if the transactions were for your own account. This Policy does not, however, apply to personal securities transactions of Family Members where the purchase or sale decision is made by a third party not controlled by, influenced by or related to you or your Family Members.

#### Transactions by Entities that You Influence or Control

This Policy applies to any entities that you influence or control, including any corporations, companies, partnerships or trusts (collectively referred to as "Controlled Entities"), and transactions by these Controlled Entities should be treated for the purposes of this Policy and applicable securities laws as if they were for your own account. However, nothing in this Policy is intended to limit the ability of a venture capital partnership or other similar entity with which a director is affiliated to distribute Company securities to its partners, members or other similar persons. It is the responsibility of each affected director and the affiliated entity, in consultation with their own counsel (as appropriate), to determine the timing of any distributions, based on all relevant facts and circumstances and applicable securities laws.

#### **Transactions Under Company Plans**

This Policy does not apply in the case of the following transactions, except as specifically noted:

Stock Option Exercises. This Policy does not apply to the exercise of an employee stock option acquired pursuant to the Company's plans, or to the exercise of a tax withholding right pursuant to which a person has elected to have the Company withhold shares subject to an option to satisfy tax withholding requirements. This Policy does apply, however, to any sale of stock as part of a broker-assisted cashless exercise of an option, or any other market sale for the purpose of generating the cash needed to pay the exercise price of an option.

Restricted Stock Awards. This Policy does not apply to the vesting of restricted stock, or the exercise of a tax withholding right pursuant to which you elect to have the Company withhold shares of stock to satisfy tax withholding requirements upon the vesting of any restricted stock. The Policy does apply, however, to any market sale of restricted stock.

401(k) Plan. This Policy does not apply to purchases of Company Securities in the Company's 401(k) plan, if any, resulting from your periodic contribution of money to the plan pursuant to your payroll deduction election. This Policy does apply, however, to certain elections you may make under the 401(k) plan, if any, including: (a) an election to increase or decrease the percentage of your periodic contributions that will be allocated to the Company Securities fund; (b) an election to make an intra-plan transfer of an existing account balance into or out of the Company Securities fund; (c) an election to borrow money against your 401(k) plan account if the loan will result in a liquidation of some or all of your Company Securities fund balance; and (d) an election to pre-pay a plan loan if the pre-payment will result in allocation of loan proceeds to the Company stock fund. It should be noted that sales of Company Securities from a 401(k) account are also subject to Rule 144, and therefore affiliates should ensure that a Form 144 is filed when required.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan. This Policy does not apply to purchases of Company Securities in the Company's employee stock purchase plan, if any, resulting from your periodic contribution of money to the plan, if any, pursuant to the election you made at the time of your enrollment in the plan, if any. This Policy also does not apply to purchases of Company Securities resulting from lump sum contributions to the plan, if any, provided that you elected to participate by lump sum payment at the beginning of the applicable enrollment period. This Policy does apply, however, to your election to participate in the plan, if any, for any enrollment period, and to your sales of Company Securities purchased pursuant to the plan, if any.

<u>Dividend Reinvestment Plan</u>. This Policy does not apply to purchases of Company Securities under the Company's dividend reinvestment plan, if any, resulting from your reinvestment of dividends paid on Company Securities. This Policy does apply, however, to voluntary purchases of Company Securities resulting from additional contributions you choose to make to the dividend reinvestment plan, if any, and to your election to participate in the plan, if any, or increase your level of participation in the plan, if any. This Policy also applies to your sale of any Company Securities purchased pursuant to the plan, if any.

Other Similar Transactions. Any other purchase of Company Securities from the Company or sales of Company Securities to the Company are not subject to this Policy.

#### **Special and Prohibited Transactions**

The Company has determined that there is a heightened legal risk and/or the appearance of improper or inappropriate conduct if the persons subject to this Policy engage in certain types of transactions. It therefore is the Company's policy that any persons covered by this Policy may not engage in any of the following transactions, or should otherwise consider the Company's preferences as described below:

Short-Term Trading. Short-term trading of Company Securities may be distracting to the person and may unduly focus the person on the Company's short-term stock market performance instead of the Company's long-term business objectives. For these reasons, any director, officer, employee or consultant of the Company who purchases Company Securities in the open market may not sell any Company Securities of the same class during the six months following the purchase (or vice versa).

Short Sales. Short sales of Company Securities (*i.e.*, the sale of a security that the seller does not own) may evidence an expectation on the part of the seller that the securities will decline in value, and therefore have the potential to signal to the market that the seller lacks confidence in the Company's prospects. In addition, short sales may reduce a seller's incentive to seek to improve the Company's performance. For these reasons, short sales of Company Securities are prohibited. In addition, Section 16(c) of the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), prohibits officers and directors from engaging in short sales. (Short sales arising from certain types of hedging transactions are governed by the paragraph below captioned "Hedging Transactions.")

<u>Publicly-Traded Options</u>. Given the relatively short term of publicly-traded options, transactions in options may create the appearance that a director, officer, employee or consultant is trading based on material nonpublic information and focus a director's, officer's, employee's or consultant's attention on short-term performance at the expense of the Company's long-term objectives. Accordingly, transactions in put options, call options or other derivative securities, on an exchange or in any other organized market, are prohibited by this Policy. (Option positions arising from certain types of hedging transactions are governed by the next paragraph below.)

Hedging Transactions. Hedging or monetization transactions can be accomplished through a number of possible mechanisms, including through the use of financial instruments such as prepaid variable forwards, equity swaps, collars and exchange funds. Such transactions may permit a director, officer, employee or consultant to continue to own Company Securities obtained through employee benefit plans or otherwise, but without the full risks and rewards of ownership. When that occurs, the director, officer, employee or consultant may no longer have the same objectives as the Company's other shareholders. Therefore, all persons subject to this Policy are prohibited from engaging in any such transactions.

Margin Accounts and Pledged Securities. Securities held in a margin account as collateral for a margin loan may be sold by the broker without the customer's consent if the customer fails to meet a margin call. Similarly, securities pledged (or hypothecated) as collateral for a loan may be sold in foreclosure if the borrower defaults on the loan. Because a margin sale or foreclosure sale may occur at a time when the pledgor is aware of material nonpublic information or otherwise is not permitted to trade in Company Securities, directors, officers, employees and consultants are prohibited from holding Company Securities in a margin account or otherwise pledging Company Securities as collateral for a loan. (Pledges of Company Securities arising from certain types of hedging transactions are governed by the paragraph above captioned "Hedging Transactions.").

Standing and Limit Orders. Standing and limit orders (except standing and limit orders under approved Rule 10b5-1 Plans, as described below) create heightened risks for insider trading violations similar to the use of margin accounts. There is no control over the timing of purchases or sales that result from standing instructions to a broker, and as a result the broker could execute a transaction when a director, officer, employee or consultant is in possession of material nonpublic information. The Company therefore prohibits/ discourages director, officer, employee or consultant placing standing or limit orders on Company Securities. If a person subject to this Policy determines that they must use a standing order or limit order, the order should be limited to short duration and should otherwise comply with the restrictions and procedures outlined below under the heading "Additional Procedures."

#### **Additional Procedures**

The Company has established additional procedures in order to assist the Company in the administration of this Policy, to facilitate compliance with laws prohibiting insider trading while in possession of material nonpublic information, and to avoid the appearance of any impropriety. These additional procedures are applicable only to those individuals described below.

<u>Pre-Clearance Procedures.</u> All persons subject to this Policy, as well as the Family Members and Controlled Entities of such persons, may not engage in any transaction in Company Securities without first obtaining pre-clearance of the transaction from the Compliance Officer. Any person seeking to request pre-clearance can obtain the Company's pre-clearance form upon request from the Compliance Officer. A request for pre-clearance should be submitted to the Compliance Officer at least two Trading Days in advance of the proposed transaction. The Compliance Officer is under no obligation to approve a transaction submitted for pre-clearance, and may determine not to permit the transaction. If a person seeks pre-clearance and permission to engage in the transaction and such pre-clearance is not received, then he or she should refrain from initiating any transaction in Company Securities, and should not inform any other person of the restriction.

When a request for pre-clearance is made, the requestor should carefully consider whether he or she may be aware of any material nonpublic information about the Company, and should describe fully those circumstances to the Compliance Officer. The requestor should also indicate whether he or she has effected any non-exempt "opposite-way" transactions within the past six months, and should be prepared to report the proposed transaction on an appropriate Form 4 or Form 5. The requestor should also be prepared to comply with SEC Rule 144 and file a Form 144, if necessary, at the time of any sale.

Any pre-cleared transaction must be effected within the period of time indicated on the pre-clearance form as approved by the Compliance Officer (typically not to exceed 10 Trading Days), unless a different period of time is specified by the Compliance Officer. Transactions not effected within such specified period shall be subject to pre-clearance again before a trade can be effected.

Quarterly Trading Restrictions. No person that is subject to this Policy may conduct any transactions involving the Company's Securities (other than as specified by this Policy), during a "Quarterly Restricted Period" beginning seven (7) calendar days prior to the end of each fiscal quarter and ending on the third Trading Day following the date of the public release of the Company's earnings results for that quarter. In other words, these persons may only conduct transactions in Company Securities during the "Window Period" beginning on the third Trading Day following the date of the public release of the Company's earnings results for that quarter and ending seven (7) calendar days prior to the close of the next fiscal quarter. It should be noted that preliminary guidance with respect to the quarterly results generally will not suffice to end the Quarterly Restricted Period.

To illustrate the commencement of a Quarterly Restricted Period, if the Company's fourth fiscal quarter ends immediately following 11:59 p.m., Eastern time, on December 31st, the corresponding Quarterly Restricted Period would begin immediately following 11:59 p.m., Eastern time, on December 24<sup>th</sup>.

To illustrate the commencement of the Window Period, if the Company publicly announces its earnings results intra-day or post-market, for example, on Monday, March 8<sup>th</sup>, then the Window Period shall begin on Friday, March 12<sup>th</sup>. However, if the Company publicly announces its earnings results pre-market, for example, on Monday, March 8<sup>th</sup>, then the Window Period shall begin on Thursday, March 11<sup>th</sup>.

The foregoing calculation of the three-Trading Day period required prior to commencement of a Window Period assumes all relevant days are Trading Days and is made using the same method of calculating the three-Trading Day period as set forth under the heading "When Information is Considered Public".

For the avoidance of doubt, all persons subject to this Policy, as well as the Family Members and Controlled Entities of such persons, may not engage in any transaction in Company Securities without first obtaining pre-clearance of the transaction from the Compliance Officer in accordance with the terms of this Policy, even during a Window Period.

Under certain very limited circumstances, a person subject to a Quarterly Restricted Period may be permitted to trade during such Quarterly Restricted Period, but only if the Compliance Officer concludes that the person is not aware of material nonpublic information. Persons wishing to trade during a Quarterly Restricted Period must contact the Compliance Officer for approval at least *two* Trading Days in advance of any proposed transaction involving Company Securities.

Event-Specific Restricted Periods. From time to time, an event may occur that is material to the Company and is known by only a few directors, officers, employees and consultants. So long as the event remains material and nonpublic (the "Event-Specific Restricted Period"), the persons designated by the Compliance Officer may not engage in transactions in Company Securities. In addition, the Company's financial results may be sufficiently material in a particular fiscal quarter that, in the judgment of the Compliance Officer, designated persons should refrain from engaging in transactions in Company Securities even sooner than the Quarterly Restricted Period described above. In that situation, the Compliance Officer may notify these persons that they should not trade in the Company's Securities, without disclosing the reason for the restriction. The existence of an Event-Specific Restricted Period or the extension of a Quarterly Restricted Period will not be announced to the Company as a whole, and should not be communicated to any other person. Even if the Compliance Officer has not designated you as a person who should not engage in transactions in Company Securities due to an Event-Specific Restricted Period, you should not trade while aware of material nonpublic information. Exceptions will not be granted during an Event-Specific Restricted Period.

Exceptions. The quarterly trading restrictions and event-specific trading restrictions do not apply to those transactions to which this Policy does not apply, as described above under the heading "Transactions Under Company Plans." Further, the requirement for pre-clearance, the quarterly trading restrictions and event-specific trading restrictions do not apply to transactions conducted pursuant to approved Rule 10b5-1 plans, described under the heading "Rule 10b5-1 Plans."

#### Rule 10b5-1 Plans

Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act provides a defense from insider trading liability under Rule 10b-5. In order to be eligible to rely on this defense, a person subject to this Policy must enter into a Rule 10b5-1 plan for transactions in Company Securities that meets certain conditions specified in the Rule (a "Rule 10b5-1 Plan") and must be in accordance with the Company's "Guidelines for Rule 10b5-1 Plans." If the plan meets the requirements of Rule 10b5-1, transactions in Company Securities may occur even when the person who has entered into the plan is aware of material nonpublic information.

To comply with the Policy, a Rule 10b5-1 Plan must be approved by the Compliance Officer and meet the requirements of Rule 10b5-1 and the Company's "Guidelines for Rule 10b5-1 Plans," which may be obtained from the Compliance Officer. In general, a Rule 10b5-1 Plan must be entered into at a time when the person entering into the plan is not aware of material nonpublic information. Once the plan is adopted, the person must not exercise any influence over the amount of securities to be traded, the price at which they are to be traded or the date of the trade. The plan must either specify the amount, pricing and timing of transactions in advance or delegate discretion on these matters to an independent third party. The plan must include a cooling-off period before trading can commence that, for directors or officers, ends on the later of 90 days after the adoption of the Rule 10b5-1 plan or two Trading Days following the disclosure of the Company's financial results in an SEC periodic report for the fiscal quarter in which the plan was adopted (but in any event, the required cooling-off period is subject to a maximum of 120 days after adoption of the plan), and for persons other than directors or officers, 30 days following the adoption or modification of a Rule 10b5-1 plan. A person may not enter into overlapping Rule 10b5-1 plans (subject to certain exceptions) and may only enter into one single-trade Rule 10b5-1 plans during any 12-month period. Directors and officers must include a representation in their Rule 10b5-1 plan certifying that: (i) they are not aware of any material nonpublic information; and (ii) they are adopting the plan in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions in Rule 10b5-5. All persons entering into a Rule 10b5-1 plan must act in good faith with respect to that plan.

Any Rule 10b5-1 Plan must be submitted for approval at least five days prior to the entry into the Rule 10b5¬1 Plan. No further pre-approval of transactions conducted pursuant to the Rule 10b5-1 Plan will be required.

#### **Post-Termination Transactions**

This Policy continues to apply to transactions in Company Securities even after termination of service to the Company. If an individual is in possession of material nonpublic information when his or her service terminates, that individual may not engage in transactions in Company Securities until that information has been publicly announced or is no longer material. The pre-clearance procedures specified under the heading "Additional Procedures" above, however, will cease to apply to transactions in Company Securities upon the expiration of any Quarterly Restricted Period, Event-Specific Restricted Period, or other Company-imposed trading restrictions applicable at the time of the termination of service.

#### **Consequences of Violations**

The purchase or sale of securities while aware of material nonpublic information, or the disclosure of material nonpublic information to others who then engage in transactions in the Company's Securities, is prohibited by the federal and state laws. Insider trading violations are pursued vigorously by the SEC, U.S. Attorneys and state enforcement authorities, as well as enforcement authorities in foreign jurisdictions. Punishment for insider trading violations is severe, and could include significant fines and imprisonment. While the regulatory authorities concentrate their efforts on the individuals who trade, or who tip inside information to others who trade, the federal securities laws also impose potential liability on companies and other "controlling persons" if they fail to take reasonable steps to prevent insider trading by company personnel.

In addition, an individual's failure to comply with this Policy may subject the individual to Company-imposed sanctions, including dismissal for cause, whether or not the employee's failure to comply results in a violation of law. Needless to say, a violation of law, or even an SEC investigation that does not result in prosecution, can tarnish a person's reputation and irreparably damage a career.

#### **Company Assistance**

Any person who has a question about this Policy or its application to any proposed transaction may obtain additional guidance from the Compliance Officer.

#### Certification

All persons subject to this Policy must certify their understanding of, and intent to comply with, this Policy.

#### CERTIFICATION

I certify that:			
1.	I have read and understand the Policy. I understand that the Compliance Officer is available to answer any questions I have regarding the Policy.		
2.	Since the date that the Policy became effective, or such shorter period of time that I have been an employee of the Company, I have complied with the Policy.		
3.	I will continue to comply with the Policy for as long as I am subject to the Policy.		
Signature:			
Print name:			
Date:			

#### Guidelines for Rule 10b5-1 Plans

Rule 10b5-1 under the Exchange Act provides a defense from insider trading liability under Rule 10b-5. In order to be eligible to rely on this defense, a person subject to this Policy must enter into a Rule 10b5-1 plan for transactions in Company Securities (as defined in the Insider Trading Policy) that meets certain conditions specified in the Rule (a "Rule 10b5-1 Plan"). If the plan meets the requirements of Rule 10b5-1, transactions in Company Securities may occur without regard to certain insider trading restrictions. In general, a Rule 10b5-1 Plan must be entered into at a time when the person entering into the plan is not aware of material nonpublic information. Once the plan is adopted, the person must not exercise any influence over the amount of securities to be traded, the price at which they are to be traded or the date of the trade. The plan must either specify the amount, pricing and timing of transactions in advance or delegate discretion on these matters to an independent third party.

A Rule 10b5-1 plan must include a cooling-off period before trading can commence that, for directors or officers, ends on the later of 90 days after the adoption of the Rule 10b5-1 plan or two Trading Days following the disclosure of the Company's financial results in an SEC periodic report for the fiscal quarter in which the plan was adopted (but in any event, the required cooling-off period is subject to a maximum of 120 days after adoption of the plan), and for persons other than directors or officers, 30 days following the adoption or modification of a Rule 10b5-1 plan. A person may not enter into overlapping Rule 10b5-1 plans (subject to certain exceptions) and may only enter into one single-trade Rule 10b5-1 plans during any 12-month period (subject to certain exceptions). Directors and officers must include a representation in their Rule 10b5-1 plan certifying that: (i) they are not aware of any material nonpublic information; and (ii) they are adopting the plan in good faith and not as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions in Rule 10b-5. All persons entering into a Rule 10b5-1 plan must act in good faith with respect to that plan.

As specified in the Company's Insider Trading Policy, a Rule 10b5-1 Plan must be approved by the Compliance Officer and meet the requirements of Rule 10b5-1 and these guidelines. Any Rule 10b5-1 Plan must be submitted for approval five days prior to the entry into the Rule 10b5-1 Plan. No further pre-approval of transactions conducted pursuant to the Rule 10b5-1 Plan will be required.

The following guidelines apply to all Rule 10b5-1 Plans:

- You may not enter into, modify or terminate a trading program during a Restricted Period, and Event-Specific Restricted Period or otherwise while you are aware of material nonpublic information.
- All Rule 10b5-1 Plans must have a duration of at least six (6) months and no more than two (2) years.
- For officers and directors, no transaction may take place under a Rule 10b5-1 Plan until the later of (a) 90 days after adoption or modification of the Rule 10b5-1 Plan or (b) two Trading Days following the disclosure of the Company's financial results in a Form 10-Q or Form 10-K for the fiscal quarter (the Company's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of a Form 10-K) in which the Rule 10b5-1 Plan was adopted or modified (but in any event, the cooling-off period is subject to a maximum of 120 days after adoption of the plan).
- For persons other than officers and directors, no transaction may take place under a Rule 10b5-1 Plan until 30 days following the adoption or modification of a Rule 10b5-1 plan.
- Subject to certain limited exceptions specified in Rule 10b5-1, you may not enter into more than one Rule 10b5-1 Plan at the same time;
- Subject to certain limited exceptions specified in Rule 10b5-1, you are limited to only one Rule 10b5-1 designed to effect an open market purchase or sale of the total amount of securities subject to the Rule 10b-1 Plan as a single transaction in any 12-month period;
- You must act in good faith with respect to a Rule 10b5-1 Plan. A Rule 10b5-1 Plan cannot be entered into as part of a plan or scheme to evade the prohibition of Rule 10b-5. Therefore, although modifications to an existing Rule 10b5-1 Plan are not prohibited, a Rule 10b5-1 Plan should be adopted with the intention that it will not be amended or terminated prior to its expiration.

- Officer and directors must include a representation to the Company at the time of adoption or modification of a Rule 10b5-1 Plan that (i) the person is not aware of material nonpublic information about the Company or Company Securities and (ii) the person is adopting the plan in good faith and not as part of plan or scheme to evade the prohibitions of Rule 10b-5.
- You may not enter into any transaction in Company Securities while the Rule 10b5-1 Plan is in effect, without the prior approval of the Compliance Officer.

The Company and the Company's officers and directors must make certain disclosures in SEC filings concerning Rule 10b5-1 Plans. Officers and directors of the Company must undertake to provide any information requested by the Company regarding Rule 10b5-1 Plans for the purpose of providing the required disclosures or any other disclosures that the Company deems to be appropriate under the circumstances.

Each director, officer and other Section 16 insider understands that the approval or adoption of a pre-planned selling program in no way reduces or eliminates such person's obligations under Section 16 of the Exchange Act, including such person's disclosure and short-swing trading liabilities thereunder. If any questions arise, such person should consult with their own counsel in implementing a Rule 10b5-1 Plan.

#### List of Subsidiaries of Vislink Technologies, Inc.

Subsidiary	Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization
Vislink, LLC	State of Delaware
Vislink, Ltd.	United Kingdom
Vislink Poway, LLC	State of Delaware
Mobile Viewpoint, B.V.	Netherlands

# CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

- I, Carleton M. Miller, certify that:
- 1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Vislink Technologies, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15(d)-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
  - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared.
  - (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
  - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial information; and
  - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 2, 2025

/s/ Carleton M. Miller
Carleton M. Miller

Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

# CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

- I, Michael C. Bond, certify that:
- 1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Vislink Technologies, Inc.;
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
- 4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15(d)-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
  - (a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared.
  - (b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
  - (c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
  - (d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and
- 5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
  - (a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 2, 2025

/s/ Michael C. Bond
Michael C. Bond
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

# CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Vislink Technologies, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2024, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Carleton M. Miller, Chief Executive Officer of Vislink Technologies, Inc., certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: May 2, 2025

/s/ Carleton M. Miller

Carleton M. Miller Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

# CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Vislink Technologies, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2024, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Michael C. Bond, Chief Financial Officer of Vislink Technologies, Inc., certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the best of my knowledge:

- (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
- (2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: May 2, 2025

/s/ Michael C. Bond

Michael C. Bond Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)